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ABOUT US 

 

Established in 1997, the Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI) is Singapore’s national research institute for ophthalmic 

and vision research. It is the research arm of the Singapore National Eye Centre, and affiliated to the National University 

of Singapore and the Duke-NUS Medical School. In two decades, SERI has grown from a team of 5 to over 235 staff, 

encompassing clinician scientists, scientists, fellows, students, support staff, as well as more than 229 distinguished 

adjunct faculty members to become the largest eye research institute in the Asia-Pacific region.  As of Mar 2020, SERI has 

published 4,003 peer-reviewed papers supported by S$328 million in competitive research grants.  SERI has trained more 

than 204 current and past graduate students; and has been conferred over 619 national & international awards and 135 

patents. SERI further undertakes eye research in collaboration with local & international ophthalmic medical centres and 

research institutions, which has ensured a high level of research competency & skills transfer. Notably, SERI’s research has 

translated to actual patient success stories & significant improvements in eye care delivery. Today, SERI is recognized as a 

pioneering center for high quality eye research in Asia, with breakthrough discoveries that has translated to significant 

paradigm shift in eye care delivery. 
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE   
 

The financial year 2019-2020 has been a landmark year in all our lives. Let me begin, by congratulating 

the SERI team on securing competitive grant funding worth S$20 million and publishing 367 scientific 

papers this year.   

 

It’s a very proud moment for all of us that Singapore’s highest technical honour, The President’s Science 

& Technology Awards (PSTA) 2019 was awarded to our faculty members Prof Saw Seang Mei, Prof Roger 

Beuerman, Adjunct Prof Donald Tan and Associate Prof Audrey Chia, for their exceptional translational research and 

strategies that have contributed to decreasing the severity of myopia in children. Our SERI researchers were recognized 

for their pioneering work in the field of myopia research that has contributed to a decrease in the prevalence and severity 

of myopia in children over the last three decades. The team established the role of low-dose atropine in controlling myopia 

in young children, as well as conducted epidemiological studies that have led to practical recommendation for better eye 

health.  

 

As a part of the SERI-SNEC Ophthalmic technologies incubator’s Incubator Advisory Board (IAB) meeting, the incubator’s 

first VC advisory panel meeting was held in October 2019 where they assessed the promising startup-oriented R&D 

projects within the SERI pipeline, with broad agreement on the high potential these have. EyRIS, one of SERI’s previously 

spun off start-ups and a joint venture between SERI, NUS and the local digital health company NovaHealth has obtained 

Singapore HSA regulatory approval along with approval for CE mark and Malaysia Medical Device Authority. It is 

commendable that the EyRIS team has expanded its business in the region and beyond, despite the COVID situation.  

In recognition of SERI’s deep expertise and reputation in the eye health space, Johnson and Johnson (Vision Care) 

committed to a $36.4M research collaboration with SERI to tackle the global Myopia epidemic. Launched in April 2019, 

this first-of-its-kind partnership in Asia is employing a multidisciplinary approach to understand underlying mechanisms 

of Myopia, develop prediction tools as well as identify potential preventive interventions. Of note, this collaboration 

represents JJVC’s single largest commitment to an external R&D programme and serves to anchor JJVC’s focus for Myopia 

research, product testing, and pipeline development as well as downstream investments in Singapore.  

 

SNEC and SERI hosted a panel of eminent global experts in myopia for a WHO-supported roundtable discussion on 

“Controversies in Myopia” in August 2019. The aim of the workgroup was to collate evidence, identify unmet needs and 

provide consensus on future directions for clinical research in myopia.  

 

As I sit to write this message, we are in the midst of an ongoing global pandemic, one that will define us for the generations 

to come. I would like to extend my thoughts and prayers to my colleagues, employees and the affected families. I would 

like to sincerely thank all of you for quickly adapting to the new norm of working from home with umpteen virtual 

meetings, constant review of operating procedures and decreased face-to-face communication, all while striving to 

maintain work productivity. 

 

I want to take this opportunity to request your whole-hearted support as we re-examine, redefine and rebuild our existing 

models with respect to work, patients and healthcare delivery models while working towards the realization of our goal 

of being a global centre of excellence in eye and vision research in Asia. 

 
Professor Wong Tien Yin 

Chairman 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE  

 
At the outset, I would like to congratulate my colleagues Prof Saw Seang Mei, Prof Roger Beuerman, 

Adjunct Prof Donald Tan and Associate Prof Audrey Chia on receiving the prestigious President's Science 

and Technology Award 2019. With their collective expertise on Myopia, they’ve carried out translational 

and clinical research that has established the role of low-dose atropine in controlling myopia in young 

children, which has led to better strategies in decreasing the severity of myopia in children.  Their work 

truly exemplifies the vision with which SERI was established - to be at the forefront of clinical and 

translational eye and vision research. 

 

The theme of international and local collaborations continues this year with the signing of MoU between SNEC/SERI with 

the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology and its strategic partner, Moorfields Eye Hospital, London. The joint collaboration will 

utilize some of the biggest advances in Science & Technology, including artificial intelligence (AI) and big data analysis to 

meet the growing demand for ophthalmic services across the world. They will jointly focus on health-services related 

research aimed at addressing clinical questions on the diagnoses, detection of progression of eye diseases and the impact 

of new models of care. A joint PhD programme with UCL is also on the anvil.  

 

On the homefront, the joint lab established by SERI and NTU, the SERI-NTU ADVANCED OCULAR ENGINEERING (STANCE), 

was formally launched on 7th January 2020 by Prof Ivy Ng, Group CEO of Singapore Health Services Pte Ltd.  The new 

STANCE lab will focus on innovative healthcare solutions that leverage advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence, 

machine learning, robotics, and new optical imaging techniques.  

 

SERI’s partnership with Santen, our long standing partner and a global ophthalmic leader has been further augmented by 

Santen’s Series B investment in the SERI spin-off startup, PLANO. PLANO, which focuses on raising awareness and 

educating the public on the prevention, detection and risk factors of myopia, will use this funding to grow its user 

engagement, strengthen its big data analytics and AI capabilities, while helping drive its international expansion plan. I 

hope and wish that this strategic alliance will take PLANO to even greater heights.  

 

As the world is emerging from the overwhelming influence of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19), our systems, 

priorities and needs in the world have changed dramatically. Amidst turbulent times and discontinuous changes, it is 

important that we stop and reflect, use this crisis as an opportunity to substantially change the way we think and act for 

ourselves, our workplace and for the whole society. These changes have indeed begun, including the increased use of 

telemedicine for online medical consultations, technological innovations, virtual meetings and conferences, using AI to 

detect medical conditions and perform medical procedures, to name a few changes happening right now. We will focus 

on being resilient as a team and work together to overcome this difficult situation by innovating and staying ahead of the 

curve.  

 

My heartfelt thanks to all the clinical and research staff, healthcare and front-line workers who have been working hard 

to protect the lives and livelihoods of our people. 

 

 

 

Prof Aung Tin 

Executive Director 
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INSTITUTIONAL REPORT  
 

BACKGROUND 

 
The Singapore Eye Research Institute (SERI), affiliated to the Singapore National Eye Centre, the National University of 
Singapore, and the Duke-NUS Medical School is a non-profit charitable organization tasked to lead and conduct research 
into vision and eye diseases based in Singapore and focused on Asia. It further works in collaboration with Ophthalmology 
departments of the various public healthcare entities and biomedical research institutions, as well as major eye centers 
and research institutes throughout the world. SERI has developed a world-leading reputation in broad-based clinical 
translational research and epidemiological programs for many eye diseases, specifically eye diseases endemic to Asia, such 
as myopia, angle closure glaucoma, and corneal diseases. 
 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
 

 SERI is one of the largest research institutes in Singapore and the largest eye research institute in the Asia-Pacific, 
with a faculty of 235, encompassing clinician scientists, scientists, fellows, students, and support staff.  
 

 SERI has successfully secured external peer-reviewed competitive grant funding worth approximately S$ 19.38 
million this year, and a cumulative quantum of approximately S$328 million. 
 

 SERI continues its leading performance in publication, with 367 scientific papers this year, and with a cumulative 
publication quantum of 4,003 scientific papers. 
 

 As of March 2020, the SERI faculty has received 619 national and international awards with 135 patent applications 
being filed during the same period.   
 

 Since 1997, SERI has conducted 1954 studies, encompassing the entire spectrum of eye research, from basic 
laboratory research, pre-clinical animal research, translational clinical research, and population health research. 
There are currently 411 ongoing research projects at SERI, of which approximately 70% cover clinical/translational 
research, 12 % basic research and 18% epidemiology, imaging and health service research. 
 

 SERI has further contributed to the training of research manpower, including over 204 Masters, PhD and post-
doctoral students, many of whom are now working in hospitals, biomedical sciences industry, academic institutions 
and research institutes locally and overseas. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS & INNOVATIONS  

 SNEC/SERI – Moorfields Eye Hospital Partnership 

SNEC and SERI have signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with the UCL Institute of Ophthalmology and its 
strategic partner, Moorfields Eye Hospital, London.  

Joint work will utilize some of the biggest advances in science and technology including artificial intelligence (AI) 
and big data analysis to meet the growing demand for ophthalmic services across the world. 

 
In addition, the MoU will target health-services related research aimed at addressing clinical questions on the 
diagnoses, detection of progression of eye diseases and the impact of new models of care. In addition, the 
partnership includes a joint PhD programme with UCL, focused on fostering collaborative work between staff in both 
institutes with a particular emphasis on Ophthalmology. 
 

 SNEC Myopia Centre 

SNEC Myopia Centre at Bedok was officially opened on 16 August 2019. Dr Lam Pin Min, Senior Minister of State for 
Health and Transport was the Guest-of-Honour. 

Strategically located in the heartlands of Bedok, the Myopia Centre addresses the growing need to provide an 
easily accessible and comprehensive clinical service for children and adults with myopia in the heartlands. It will 
also act as a base to develop better, evidence based options in the management of myopia.  
  
Operated by a team of trained eye care professionals, the Myopia Centre leverages on the eye-health expertise 
from SNEC in providing well-rounded measures at the Centre.  

 
The Centre will also embark on research on myopia prevention and treatment in collaboration with Johnson & 
Johnson Vision (JJV), the first-of-its-kind public-private partnership in Asia focused on myopia. 
 

 International Myopia Summit 2019 – Controversies in Myopia 

SNEC and SERI hosted a panel of eminent global experts in myopia for a round table discussion on “Controversies in 
Myopia”. This meeting was held on 19-20 August 2019 in Singapore, and was supported by the World Health 
Organization.  

The roundtable covered a myriad of clinical topics in myopia, with the aim of:  
 Developing consensus in areas where evidence is lacking;  

 Discussing avenues for further research and collaboration where consensus cannot be reached, and 

 Increasing global awareness in myopia prevention and treatment. 

 

 SERI-SNEC Incubator Advisory Board Meeting & VC Advisory Panel Meeting 

The SERI-SNEC ophthalmic technologies incubator had been set up since 2014 to nurture promising research projects 
and to accelerate their momentum towards commercialization and medical deployment via spinning off start-up 
companies. 
 
The 3rd Advisory board meeting and 1st VC advisory panel meeting was held on 23 – 24 October 2019 to review all 
incubator projects as well as assess overall incubator progress, future development plan and potential 
collaborations. 
 
The overall comments from all board members had been very positive and they had given high comments to the 
team in terms of (1) advancing translational research and establishing the process of technology transfer; (2) 
fostering an environment of innovation with the goal of transferring clinical expertise and solutions to marketable 
products and spinning of companies; (3) attracting entrepreneurs, institutional investors and strategic partners.  
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Two of the companies who’ve been supported by the SNEC incubator showed good progress on their investment 
and development paths: 
 

 PLANO, SERI’s third spin off focusing on raising awareness and educating the public on the prevention, detection 
and risk factors of myopia has recently made a major announcement on forming a strategic alliance with Santen, 
SERI’s long standing partner and a global ophthalmic leader. This comes with Santen’s series B round investment 
into plano, to grow its user engagement, strengthen its big data analytics and AI capabilities, and drive its 
international expansion plans. Further details: https://www.plano.co/santen-and-singapores-health-tech-start-
up-plano-form-a-strategic-alliance-to-tackle-the-global-burden-of-myopia/ 

 

 EyRIS: SERI’s fourth spin off company, a joint venture between SERI, NUS and local veteran healthcare IT 
company NovaHealth, to commercialize the world’s first fundus imaging analysis AI system that can detect 3 
major eye conditions, DR, GS and AMD. This will lead the way for global commercial expansion. In addition to 
Singapore HSA regulatory approval obtained in Oct 2019, EyRIS has now also obtained approval for CE mark 
(March) and Malaysia Medical Device Authority (MDA; April). Despite the COVID situation, the team has made 
substantial progress in business expansion and SELENA+ deployment in Singapore and additional markets, such 
as countries in south-east Asia, China, Europe, etc. 

 

 President’s Science and Technology Award 2019 

The team from SERI, Assoc Prof Audrey Chia, Prof Saw Seang Mei, Adjunct Prof Donald Tan and Prof Roger 
Beuerman received the prestigious President's Science Award 2019. 
 
The President's Science and Technology Awards (PSTA) is the highest honour bestowed on exceptional research 
scientists and engineers in Singapore whose work have resulted in significant scientific, technological or economic 
benefits for the country. The winners were picked by a distinguished panel of representatives from industry, 
academia and research. 
 
The team from SERI was recognized for their pioneering work in the field of myopia research that has contributed 
to a decrease in the prevalence and severity of myopia in children over the last three decades. 
 
The team carried out translational research and clinical trials that established the role of low-dose atropine in 
controlling myopia in young children, as well as epidemiological studies that have led to practical recommendations 
for better eye health. Both strategies have contributed to decreasing the severity of myopia in children. 
 

 Official Opening of SERI-NTU Advanced Ocular Engineering (STANCE) Laboratory 

SERI and NTU launched a joint laboratory that will develop advanced eye imaging technologies on 7 January 2020. 
 
The new STANCE Laboratory would focus on development of innovative healthcare solutions that leverage 
advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence, machine learning, robotics, and new optical imaging 
techniques. 
 
The joint Lab was launched by Prof Ivy Ng, Group CEO of Singapore Health Services Pte Ltd, and it would be located 
on the NTU Smart Campus where other advanced technologies are being developed in partnership with industry. 
 
The STANCE Lab is led by Prof Leopold Schmetterer, who is also a Professor at NTU and the Scientific Director and 
Head of Ocular Imaging Research Group at SERI. 
 

  

https://www.plano.co/santen-and-singapores-health-tech-start-up-plano-form-a-strategic-alliance-to-tackle-the-global-burden-of-myopia/
https://www.plano.co/santen-and-singapores-health-tech-start-up-plano-form-a-strategic-alliance-to-tackle-the-global-burden-of-myopia/
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PERFORMANCE OVER THE PAST TWENTY-THREE YEARS  (as of March 2020) 
 

 SERI has amassed an impressive array of publications over the years. 
 

 
               Figure 1: Number of yearly publications published at SERI 
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 SERI stands out as one of the most productive institutions and well holds up against global heavyweights in the 
field.  

 

 
                Figure 2: Number of publications by SERI and other institutions around the world, during the period of 2012 – 2019 
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 SERI’s staff strength over the years. 
 

 
Figure 3: Number of staff members at SERI 

 

 SERI boost of a diverse and global faculty that serves as melting pot of ideas that propels innovation. 
 

 
Figure 4: Nationalities of staff members at SERI 
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 The stellar achievements of SERI have been well endorsed with numerous international and local awards. 

 

 
 Figure 5: Number of awards received by SERI and its staff (Data from 1997-1999 are not available) 
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OUR PEOPLE 

SERI’s BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

SERI’s Memorandum and Articles of Association stipulates that the SERI Board of Directors shall have at least one 
representative each from the Ministry of Health, the National University of Singapore and the Singapore National Eye 
Centre. Today, besides representation from the above three organizations, SERI’s Board additionally has Directors from 
the Duke-NUS Medical School, Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, SingHealth, National Healthcare Group as well as M C 
Tong Cardiothoracic Surgery Pte Ltd.  
 

 
 

 

Prof Wong Tien Yin 

Medical Director, 

Singapore National Eye Centre 
 
Chairman, 
Singapore Eye Research Institute 
 

 

 

Prof Ang Chong Lye 

Senior Advisor, 

SingHealth 
 
Senior Consultant, 

Singapore National Eye Centre 

 

 

Prof Tan Sze Wee 

Executive Director, 

Agency For Science, Technology and Research 

 

 

 

Prof Lim Tock Han 

Deputy Group CEO (Education & Research), 

National Healthcare Group 
 
Senior Consultant, 
NHG Institute, Tan Tock Seng Hospital 

 

Prof Chong Yap Seng 

Dean, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine  

National University of Singapore 
 

 

 

 

Prof James Best 

Dean, 

Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine 
 

 

Prof Thomas Coffman 

Dean, 

Duke-NUS Medical School  
 

 

 

Prof Wang Linfa 

Program Director, 

Emerging Infectious Diseases 

Duke-NUS Medical School 

 

 

Assoc Prof Vernon Lee  

Director (Communicable Diseases), 

Ministry of Health 

 

 

 

Dr Geh Min 
Consultant Eye Surgeon, 
M C Tong Cardiothoracic Surgery Pte Ltd 

 

Ms Ooi Chee Kar 

Chartered Accountant (Singapore) 
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SERI’s DIRECTORS / STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

The SERI Directors/ Strategic Planning Committee serves as the highest governing body at SERI, working closely with the 

Executive Director, SERI to ensure the overall stewardship of the Institute; leading and promoting research within the 

Institute; ensuring sufficient funding to ensure its future viability; safeguarding overall governance and integrity of the 

Institute; and proactively increasing the visibility and broadening of research collaborations with national and 

international agencies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prof Aung Tin 

Executive Director 

 

 

 

Prof Jodhbir Mehta 

Deputy Executive Director 

 

 

Prof Leopold Schmetterer 

Scientific Director 
 

 

Prof Ecosse Lamoureux 

Director, Population Health and Epidemiology 

 

 

Assoc Prof Eranga Vithana  

Director, Laboratory Translational Research  
 

 

Prof Tina Wong 

Director, Clinical Translational Research 

 

Dr Vandana Ramachandran  

Director, Research & Academic Affairs 

 

 

 

 

Dr Danny Belkin 

Director, Technology Development 

& Commercialisation 
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SERI’s RESEARCH HEADS 

The SERI Research Heads serves as a principle body actively engaged in the review and implementation of SERI’s research 

policies and strategies. It further plays an integral role in conceptualizing SERI’s research framework, in consultation with 

the SERI Senior Leadership, as the Institute moves onwards to face new challenges in its strive for continued research 

excellence. 

 

Prof Aung Tin 
Executive Director 
Head, Glaucoma Research Group 
 

 

 

Prof Wong Tien Yin 
Chairman 

 
 

Prof Jodhbir Mehta  
Deputy Executive Director 
Head, Tissue Engineering & Cell Therapy 
Research Group 
Head, Cornea & Refractive Reseach Group 

 

 
 

Prof Leopold Schmetterer 
Scientific Director 
Head, Ocular Imaging Research Group 

 
 

Prof Eccosse Lamoureux  
Director, Population Health and Epidemiology 
Head, Population Research Group & Co-head, 
Data Management Research Platform 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Adj Prof Donald Tan 
Senior Scientific Advisor 
 

 
 

Prof Tina Wong 
Director, Clinical Translational Research 
Head, Ocular Therapeutics & Drug Delivery 
Research Group 
 
  

 

 

Assoc Prof Eranga Vithana 
Director, Laboratory Translational Research 
Head, Ocular Genetics Research Group & 
Experimental & Basic Sciences & 
Genomics Research Platforms 

 
 

Dr Danny Belkin 
Director, Technology Development & 
Commercialisation  

 

 

Dr Vandana Ramachandran 
Director, Research & Academic  Affairs 

 
 

Dr Seet Li Fong 
Assistant Director, Laboratory Translational 
Research 
Head, Experimental Microscopy, Molecular & 
Cell Biology Research Platform 

 

 

Dr Kelvin Teo 
Director, Research Clinic 
Head, Clinical  Research / Trials Research 
Platform 
 
 
 

 

Prof Dan Milea 
Head, Visual Neuroscience Research Group  
 

 

 
 

Prof Cheng Ching-Yu  
Head, Ocular Epidemiology Research Group & 
Data Science ResearchPlatform 
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SERI’s RESEARCH HEADS (continued) 

 

 

 
 

Assoc Prof Audrey Chia 
Co-Head, Myopia Research Group  
 

 

 
 

Prof Saw Seang Mei 
Co-Head, Myopia Reearch Group  

 
 

Prof Louis Tong 
Head, Ocular Surface Research Group  
 

 

 
 

Prof Gemmy Cheung 
Head, Retina Research Group 

 
 

Prof Chee Soon Phaik  
Head, Cataract & Uveitis Research Group 

 

 
 

Assoc Prof Lakshminarayanan Rajamani 
Head, Anti-Infectives Research Group 

 
 

Dr Michael Girard 
Co-Head, Bioengineering & Devices Research 
Group  
 
 

 

 

Assoc Prof Shamira Perera 
Co-Head, Bioengineering & Devices Research 
Group 

 
 

Dr Anita Chan 
Head, Translational Ophthalmic Pathology 
Research Platform 
 

 

 

Dr Amutha Barathi 
Head, Translational Pre-Clinical Model Research 
Platform 
 

 
 

Dr Daniel Ting 
Head, AI & Digital Innovatinos Research 
Group 
 

 

 
 

Dr Zhou Lei 
Head, Proteomics Research Platform 
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SNEC’s RESEARCH & INNOVATIVE COMMITTEE 

Terms of reference: 

 Plays a pivotal role in the review of research budgets, as well as the evaluation and endorsement of the 

appropriateness of research projects, including the scientific merit of such projects. 

 Oversight over the review/ approval of the SNEC HREF grants for research projects. 

 Provides directions for the development of SERI’s translational and clinical research capabilities. 

 

 

  

 
 

Prof Tina Wong 
Head & Senior Consultant, Glaucoma Dept, 
SNEC 
 
Director, Clinical Translational Research, SERI 
 

 

 
 

Prof Jodhbir Mehta 
Head & Senior Consultant, 

Corneal & External Eye Disease Dept, SNEC 
 

Deputy Executive Director, SERI 

 
 

Prof Louis Tong 
Senior Consultant, Corneal & External Eye 
Disease Dept, SNEC 
 
Head, Ocular Surface Research Group, SERI 

Co-Head, Ocular Inflammation & Immunology 
Research Group, SERI 
 

 

 
 

Prof Dan Milea 
Senior Clinician, Neuro-Ophthalmology Dept, 
SNEC 
 
Head, Visual Neuroscience Research Group, SERI 
 

 

 
 

Prof Gemmy Cheung 
Head & Senior Consultant, Medical Retina 
Dept, SNEC 
 
Head, Retina Research Group, SERI 

 

 
 

Prof Jonathan Crowston  
Senior Consultant, Glaucoma Dept, SNEC 

Clinician Scientist, SERI 

 

 

Assoc Prof Shamira Perera 
Senior Consultant, Glaucoma Dept, SNEC 
 

Co-Head, Bioengineering & Devices Research 

Group, SERI 

 

 

 

Adj Assoc Prof Lee Shu Yen 
Deputy Head & Senior Consultant, 
Surgical Retina Dept, SNEC 

 
 

Adj Assoc Prof Sharon Tow 
Senior Consultant, 
Neuro-Ophthalmology Dept,  SNEC 
 

 

 
 

Dr Gavin Tan 
Senior Consultant, Surgical Retina Dept, SNEC 

Co-Head, Ocular Imaging Dept, SNEC 

Clinician Scientist, SERI 
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TEACHING & TRAINING  

SERI has been actively hosting research seminars, courses and talks which serve as a platform for information transfer and 

idea sharing, as well as networking conduit between the internal and external research communities. Besides serving as a 

fertile platform for the incubation of research ideas and generation of collaborative initiatives between the SERI faculty 

and external academics/ researchers, these activities further promote research-related talent development within SERI 

that is high value-added and knowledge-based. 

The talks presented via these channels at SERI offer discourse on scientific ideas and discoveries in ophthalmology and 

vision research, as well as in other biomedical disciplines, including bioengineering, genomics, tissue engineering, stem 

cell therapy and therapeutics, etc.; blending clinical, epidemiological, translational and basic approaches within specific 

disciplines. These seminars have certainly led to the launch of many new projects and successful collaborative partnership 

between SERI and local as well as international academic/ research entities. 

This initiative serves as an ideal teaching platform for our junior faculty, paving the way for immense synergies as they 

work together to tackle emerging challenges in the field of ophthalmology. 

DATE TOPIC SPEAKER 

31 May 2019 Life, Death… and Life? Of The 
Optic Nerve 

Prof Guy Lenaer 
 
Director of the Mitochondrial Medicine Research Centre in Angers  
 

25 Jul 2019  Protecting and Regenerating 
the Optic Nerve 

Prof Keith Martin 
 
Managing Director of the Centre for Eye Research Australia and 
Ringland Anderson Professor and Head of Ophthalmology at the 
University of Melbourne 
 

21 Aug 2019 Stemming and Navigating The 
Rising Tide of AK 
(Acanthamoeba Keratitis) 

Dr Nicole Carnt   
 
Scientia Research Fellow and Senior Lecturer at The School of 
Optometry and Vision Science, UNSW, Sydney 
 

22 Aug 2019 Retinal Microvasculature 
Manifestations of Central Nerve 
System Neurodegenerative 
Disorders 

Dr Hong Jiang 
 
Associate Professor of Neurology and Ophthalmology at the 
University of Miami, Miller School of Medicine 
 

22 Aug 2019 Topographical Thickness 

Mapping of Intraretinal Layers 

in Aging and Neurologic 

Disorders  

 

Dr Jay Wang 
 
Associate Professor of Ophthalmology and Electric and Computer 
Engineering, Scientific Co-Director of Experimental Imaging 
Laboratory for the Bascom Palmer Eye Institute, University of 
Miami 
 

18 Sep 2019 A Story of Gene Expression and 
Its Regulation in Rod 
Development, Maintenance, 
and Regeneration 

Dr Sun Chi 
 
Postdoc research associate Washington University in St. Loui 
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23 Sep 2019 Regenerative Medicine - Novel 
Therapeutic Pathways to 
Overcome the Challenges of 
Ocular Surface Reconstruction 

Prof Tsutomu Inatomi 
 
Director of the Center for Sensory Organs at the National Center 
for Geriatrics and Gerontology (NCGG), Obu City, Japan 
 

30 Oct 2019 Stem Cells and Retinal 
Regeneration 

Dr. Timothy A Blenkinsop 
 
Assistant Professor at the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai 
in New York City, in the department of Cell, Development and 
Regenerative Biology  
 



19 
 

OUR COLLABORATIONS 

Local Institutions  Overseas Institutions (Academic) 

 Bioinformatics Institute (BII) 

 Bioprocessing Technology Institute (BTI) 

 Changi General Hospital Pte Ltd 

 Duke-NUS Medical School 

 Genome Institute of Singapore (GIS) 

 Health Science Authority (HSA) 

 Institute for Infocomm Research (I2R) 

 Institute of High Performance Computing (IHPC) 

 Khoo Teck Huat Hospital 

 KK Women’s and Children’s Hospital  

 Nanyang Polytechnic 

 Nanyang Technological University (NTU) 

 National Cancer Centre (NCC) Singapore 

 National Dental Centre of Singapore Pte Ltd 

 National Heart Centre of Singapore Pte Ltd 

 National Healthcare Group Pte Ltd 

 National Neuroscience Institute of Singapore 

(NNI) 

 National University Hospital (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

 National University of Singapore (NUS) 

 Sengkang General Hospital (SKH) 

 Singapore Clinical Research Institute 

 Singapore General Hospital Pte Ltd 

 Singapore Health Services Pte Ltd 

 Singapore Management University 

 Singapore-MIT Alliciance for Research and 

Technology 

 Singapore National Eye Centre 

 Singapore Translational Immunology and 

Inflammation Centre (STIIC) 

 Tan Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH) 

 Asian Eye Institute, Inc 

 Asahikawa Medical University 

 Cardiff University 

 Duke University 

 Hyderabad Eye Research Foundation 

 Imperial College London Diabetes Centre 

 Johns Hopkins University 

 King Khaled Eye Specialist Hospital (KKESH)  

 LV Prasad Eye Institute 

 Maastricht University 

 Monash University 

 Moorfields Eye Hospital  

 Ningbo Institute of Materials Technology and 

Engineering 

 Shinchon Severance Hospital 

 The Chinese University of Hong Kong 

 The First Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical 

University 

 The Queen's University of Belfast 

 The University Court of the University of 

Edinburgh 

 The University of Newcastle 

 The University of Tokyo 

 Tianjin Medical University Eye Hospital 

 University of Sheffield 

 University of Southern Denmark 

 Vietnam National Institute of Ophthalmology 

(VNIO) 

 Wenzhou Medical University 

 Yonsei Medical Centre 
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Industry Collaborations  

 Advanced Eye Centre 

 Aier Eye Hospital Group Cop. Ltd 

 Alcon Pte Ltd 

 Allergan Singapore Pte Ltd 

 ASAN Medical Center 

 Astatine Ventures Pty Ltd 

 Bayer (South East Asia) Pte Ltd 

 Belle Healthcare Medical Technology Co. Ltd 

 Biolight Life Sciences Ltd 

 Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH (BI) 

 Boehringer Ingelheim Singapore Pte Ltd 

 BSI Group Singapore 

 CapaBio Pte Ltd 

 Carl Zeiss Pte Ltd 

 Chiltern International Pte. Ltd 

 CLINREG Consulting Services 

 Cylite Pte Ltd 

 D.O.R.C. Dutch Ophthalmic Research Center 

(International) B.V. 

 Experimental Biotherapeutics Centre 

 Exonate Limited 

 Financiere De L'ombree (EOLANE) 

 Gemini Therapeutics, Inc 

 Geuder AG 

 Gilead Sciences, Inc 

 Gobiquity Inc 

 Graybug Vision Inc 

 Grey Innovation Pty Ltd 

 Heidelberg Engineering GmbH 

 HistoIndex Pte Ltd 

 Hogan Lovells US LLP 

 HOYA Medical Singapore Pte Ltd 

 INC Research LLC 

 InnoVealth Pte Ltd 

 Integrated Decision Systems Consultancy Pte Ltd 

 Inteq Communications Pte Ltd 

 Interactive Micro-organisms Laboratories Pte Ltd 

 Johnson and Johnson Vision Care, Inc. 

 International Agency for the Prevention of 

Blindness (IAPB) 

 Kowa Company Ltd 

 Lars Nelleman Consulting 

 L'occitane Singapore Pte Ltd 

 Leave a Nest Singapore Private Ltd 

 Life Bridge Partners Pte Ltd 

 Matrix Medical Consulting, Inc 

 Medi Whale Inc. 

 Menarini Biomarkers Singapore Pte Ltd 

 MuPharma Pty Ltd 

 Nidek Co., Ltd 

 Novartis (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

 NOXXON Pharma AG 

 O.D. Ocular Discovery Ltd 

 OliX Pharmaceuticals, Inc 

 ONL Therapeutics, Inc. 

 Optomed Oy 

 Parexel International (Singapore) Pte Ltd 

 Pharmaceutical Research Associates Singapore 

Pte Ltd 

 Physio-Logic Ltd 

 Pixium Vision 

 Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

 Roche Singapore Pte Ltd 

 Samie Intellab Pte Ltd 

 Sanofi- Aventis Singapore Pte Ltd 

 Santen Pharmaceutical Asia Pte Ltd 

 Santen Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd 

 Seoul Semiconductor Co. Ltd 

 SinSA Labs Inc 

 Thesis Pte Ltd 

 Topcon Corporation 

 Ushio Asia Pacific Pte Ltd 

 Verily Life Sciences LLC 

 Yukti Bioscience Pte Ltd 

 Zicom Medtacc Pte Ltd 

 Zig Ventures Limited 
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EVENTS 

INTERNATIONAL & LOCAL ACTIVITIES 

SERI staff and associates participated actively in both overseas and local conferences during the year to establish links 

with overseas institutes, meet up with overseas collaborators and to promote and enhance SERI’s presence in the 

international scene.  

Conferences / meetings participated includes: 

INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES 

TOPIC DATE VENUE 

Jakarta eye Centre Seminar: GLAUCOMA & DRY EYE: 
DOUBLE TROUBLE 

13 Apr 2019 Jakarta, Indonesia 

BEYOND EU 10 – 15 Apr 2019 Lisbon, Portugal 

Bayer Symposium at Japan Ophthalmology Society 2019 18 – 21 Apr 2019 Tokyo, Japan 

The 123rd Annual Meeting of the Japanese 
Ophthalmological Society 

18 – 21 Apr 2019 Tokyo, Japan 

Allergan See Beyond Vision Forum 22 Apr 2019 Johor Bahru, Malaysia 

International Ocular Surface Society 2019 27 Apr 2019 Richmond, Canada 

Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology 
(ARVO) 2019 

28 Apr - 2 May 2019 Vancouver, Canada 

ASCRS 2019 Annual Meeting 3 – 7 May 2019 San Diego, USA 

Basel Seminar Series on Vision Research 8 – 9 May 2019 Basel, Switzerland 

66th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Association for 
Laboratory Animal Science (JALAS) 

15 – 17 May 2019 Fukuoka, Japan 

European Vision Institute (EVI) Special Interest Focus Group 
Meeting 

16 – 17 May 2019 Cologne, Germany 

2nd Annual Academic Conference of Blindness Prevention 
Committee of Shaanxi Province and the 6th International 
Glaucoma Forum 

18 May 2019 Xi’an, China 

2019 Taiwan Santen Ophthalmology Forum 19 May 2019 Taipei, Taiwan 

International Glaucoma Course at Medical University of 
Lublin 

31 May – 1 Jun 2019 Poland 

Santen Dry Eye and Ocular Surface Inflammation Task Force 
Meeting 

8 Jun 2019 Manila, Philippines 

International Association for Computerized Adaptive 
Testing (IACAT) Conference 2019 

10 – 13 Jun 2019 Minneapolis, USA 

2019 Advances in Pediatric Retina Course 13 – 15 Jun 2019 Utah, USA 

European Society of Ophthalmology (SOE) 2019 13 – 16 Jun 2019 Nice, France 

14th Meeting of European Neuro-Ophthalmology Society 16 – 19 Jun 2019 Porto, Portugal 

Congresso Sul-brasileiro de Oftalmologia 20 – 22 Jun 2019 Porto Allegre, Brazil 

Inaugural Mark W. Lunde MD Memorial Lecture, 2019 
Illinois Eye and Ear Infirmary Ophthalmology Alumni Day 

21 Jun 2019 Chicago, USA 

Alcon Taiwan Standalone Scientific Symposium 22 – 23 Jun 2019 Taipei, Taiwan 

Optimizing Artificial Tears and Managing Dry Eye - Alcon 
Advisory Board Meeting 

23 Jun 2019 Taipei, Taiwan 

International MaculArt Meeting 23 – 25 Jun 2019 Paris, France 

2019 European Vitreo Retinal Society (EVRS) Meeting 27 - 30 Jun 2019 Portugal, Lisbon 

Fifth International Conference of Ophthalmic Endoscopic 
Surgery (5 th ICOES) 

27 – 30 Jun 2019 Changchun, China 
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INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES 

TOPIC DATE VENUE 

Global Ocular Inflammation Workshops (GOWI) 2019 28 – 30 Jun 2019 Sapporo, Japan 

2nd International Scientific Meeting of The Eye and Vision 
Institute of The Medical City 

29 – 30 Jun 2019 Manila, Philippines 

EMBO Symposium - New Approaches and Concepts in 
Microbiology 

10 – 13 Jul 2019 Heidelberg, Germany 

2019 American Society of Retina Specialists Annual 
meeting 

26 – 30 Jul 2019 Chicago, USA 

Sun Pharma Glaucoma Summit 27 Jul 2019 India 

Queensland Branch RANZCO Meeting 2 Aug 2019 Australia 

Annual Conference of the Indian Society of Cornea & 
Keratorefractive Surgeons (ISCKRS) 

3 – 4 Aug 2019 New Delhi, India  

Refractive Surgery 360° - 2019 9 – 11 Aug 2019 Hyderabad, India 

1st International Conference in Clinical Research in 
Ophthalmology (ICCRO) 

9 – 11 Aug 2019 Guangzhou, China 

CERA Scientific Seminar 12 Aug 2019 Melbourne, Australia 

21st International Society for Genetic Eye Diseases + 
Retinoblastoma 

29 – 31 Aug 2019 Giessen, Germany 

EURETINA 2019 5 – 8 Sep 2019 Paris, France 

Annual Conference of the Intraocular Implant & Refractive 
Society 

8 – 9 Sep 2019 Delhi, India 

17th International Myopia Conference 12 – 15 Sep 2019 Tokyo, Japan 

38th Annual ESOPRS Meeting 12 – 14 Sep 2019 Hamburg, Germany 

37th Congress of the ESCRS 2019 14 – 18 Sep 2019 Paris, France 

4th Asia Pacific Tele-Ophthalmology Society (APTOS) 
Symposium 

21 – 22 Sep 2019 Chennai, India 

14th International Congress of Physiological Anthropology 24 – 27 Sep 2019 Singapore 

28th Annual Congress of the College of Ophthalmologists 
of Sri Lanka 

26 – 29 Sep 2019 Colombo, Sri Lanka 

Asia Pacific Glaucoma Society Symposium 27 Sep 2019 Sri Lanka 

11th International Meeting of Tianjin Medical University 
Eye Hospital 

27 – 29 Sep 2019 Tianjin, China  

1st Asia Glaucoma Academy (AGA) Conference 28 Sep 2019 Tokyo, Japan 

32nd APACRS Annual Meeting 3 – 5 Oct 2019 Kyoto, Tokyo 

IEEE International Ultrasonics Symposium 6 – 9 Oct 2019 Glasgow, United Kingdom 

Cornea and Eye Banking Forum 2019 11 Oct 2019 San Francisco, USA 

American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO) 2019 12 – 15 Oct 2019 San Francisco, USA 

2nd International Conference on Wound Care, Tissue 
Repair and Regenerative Medicine 

16 – 17 Oct 2019 London, United Kingdom 

XXII Ever Congress 2019 17 – 19 Oct 2019 Nice, France 

15th Asian Angle Closure Glaucoma Club Seoul Meeting 1 – 2 Nov 2019 Seoul, South Korea 

American Society of Nephrology (ASN) Kidney Week 2019 5 – 10 Nov 2019 Washington, USA 

AAPOS/RANZCO/APSPOS joint meeting 7 – 8 Nov 2019 Sydney, Australia 

ASEAN Ophthalmology Society Congress 7 – 8 Nov 2019 Siem Reap, Cambodia 

15th The International Symposium on Ocular 
Pharmacology and Therapeutics (ISOPT) Clinical Meeting 

7 – 9 Nov 2019 Valencia, Spain 

Turkish Ophtalmology Association 53th National Congress 8 Nov 2019 Antalya, Turkey 

Asian Dry Eye Summit 2019 8 – 9 Nov 2019 Kamakura, Japan 

4th Annual Doheny-UCLA International Glaucoma 
Symposium 

8 – 10 Nov 2019 Los Angeles, USA 
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INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES 

TOPIC DATE  VENUE 

Course on Functional and Structural Investigations in Gla 12 – 15 Nov 2019 Bucharest, Romania 

15th International Ocular Inflammation Society Congress 13 – 16 Nov 2019 Kaohsiung, Taiwan 

13th Asia Pacific Vitreo-retina Society (APVRS) 2019 22 – 24 Nov 2019 Shanghai, China 

The Shanghai Singapore Summit of Myopia-Epidemiology 27 – 29 Nov 2019 Shanghai, China 

Glaucoma Society of Nepal 5 – 6 Dec 2019 Kathmandu, India 

Philippine Academy of Ophthalmology Annual Convention 5 – 8 Dec 2019 Manila, Philippines 

12th International Conference on Cachexia, Sarcopenia and 
Muscle Wasting 

6 – 8 Dec 2019 Berlin, Germany 

The 60th Annual Meeting of the Taiwan Ophthalmological 
Society (TOS) 

13 – 15 Dec 2019 Taipei, Taiwan 

Chang Gung Memorial Hospital Symposium Taiwan 16 Dec 2019 Taipei, Taiwan 

7th International OCT Angiography and Advances in OCT 
Congress 

13 – 14 Dec 2019 Rome, Italy 

World Congress on Ocular Trauma New Delhi 14 – 15 Dec 2019 New Delhi, India 

Glaucoma Imaging in Praxis Workshop 16 – 19 Dec 2019 Vienna, Austria 

44th Annual Atlantic Coast Retina Club Meeting 9 – 11 Jan 2020 New York, USA 

Fuchs VII Symposium 2020 11 Jan 2020 Miami, USA 

8th Zermatt Glaucoma Winter Meeting 23 – 26 Jan 2020 Zermatt, Switzerland 

SPIE Photonics West, BiOS 1 – 6 Feb 2020 San Francisco, California, USA 

Angiogenesis, Exudation and Degeneration 2020 8 Feb 2020 Miami, USA 

5th International Stevens-Johnson Syndrome Symposium 8 – 9 Feb 2020 Kyoto, Japan 

Annual Conference of all India Ophthalmological Society 13 – 16 Feb 2020 Gurugram, India 

43rd Annual Macula Society Meeting 19 – 22 Feb 2020 San Diego, California, USA 

International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia 
Research (ICFSR) 

9 – 15 Mar 2020 Toulouse, France 

Romanian Society of Glaucoma National Congress 11 – 14 Mar 2020 Poiana Brasov, Romania 

International Retinal Imaging Symposium (IntRIS 2020) 13 – 14 Mar 2020 Los Angeles, USA 

Ocular Drug Discovery Convention 18 – 20 Mar 2020 Vienna, Austria 

Council of the British Society of Refractive Surgery (BSRS) 
annual meeting 

28 – 29 Mar 2020 Birmingham, United Kingdom 

LOCAL ACTIVITIES 

TOPIC DATE  VENUE 

Singapore Society of Rheumatology-Malaysian society of 
rheumatology 2019 conference 

15 – 18 Aug 2019 Singapore 

Bayer/Novartis Preceptorship: Singapore 1 – 2 Nov 2019 Singapore 

5th Peptides and Proteins Symposium Singapore 12 – 13 Dec 2019 Singapore 

35th Singapore - Malaysia Joint Meeting in Ophthalmology 
& 1st Asia-Pacific Ocular Imaging Society Meeting 

17 – 19 Jan 2020 Singapore 
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Gala Fund-Raising Dinner, The EYE Ball 2019 

 

The SNEC/SERI’s Gala Fund-Raising dinner i.e. “The EYE Ball” intends to spread awareness of eye diseases and the 

fragility of vision, while concurrently raising funds for the VisionSave campaign, so that SNEC/ SERI can continue in our 

strive to initiate positive life-changing outcomes for our patients. 

The annual Eye Ball event – The Golden EYE Ball 2019 was held on Friday, 27 September 2019, at The Ritz-Carlton, Millenia 

Singapore.  

As in the previous year, SNEC/ SERI presented The Visionary Award at the EYE Ball. The intent of this award is to raise the 
profile and add prestige to the VisionSave campaign, the EYE Ball, and indirectly, SNEC/SERI; and to hopefully expand 
our network of guests, supporters and donors. This year’s awardee was Dr Chua Thian Poh, who was conferred The 
Visionary Award. The Chairman and CEO of property investment and development company Ho Bee Land is known for 
his generous contributions towards the area of business, education, public service, culture and community.  
 
This year, SNEC/SERI managed to raise approximately $1.46 million, a record amount for this annual fund raising event 
with silent auction, live auction and power pledge as part of the programme for the evening. 
 

The event ended with guests dancing the night away! 
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ACHIEVEMENTS 

OUR AWARDS 

Local Awards 

 National Medical Research Council: Transition Award 
[Feb 2020] 
Dr Ryan Man 

 

 2019 President's Science & Technology Awards 
(PSTA): President's Science Award [Oct 2019] 
A/Prof Audrey Chia 

 

 2019 President's Science & Technology Awards 
(PSTA): President's Science Award [Oct 2019] 
Prof Roger Beuerman 

 

 SingHealth Duke-NUS AMC Research Forum 2019: 
SingHealth Publish! Award [Oct 2019] 
Dr Anna Tan 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 

Ms Aw Ai Tee 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 

Dr Wong Chee Wai 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 

Dr Thiyagarajan Jayabaskar 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 

Ms Belinda Toh 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 

Ms Heidi Tai 

 

 National Medical Excellence Award: National Clinical 
Excellence Team Award [Sep 2019] 

 14th Singapore Public Health & Occupational 
Medicine (PHOM) Conference: Certificate of 
Recognition for 3rd Place in Best Poster (Open) 
Presentation [Oct 2019] 
“Myopia and Outdoor Light Patterns in 7-year-old 
Singaporean Children in GUSTO” 
Dr Carla Lanca 

 

 2019 President's Science & Technology Awards 
(PSTA): President's Science Award [Oct 2019] 
Prof Saw Seang Mei 

 

 2019 President's Science & Technology Awards 
(PSTA): President's Science Award [Oct 2019] 
Adj Prof Donald Tan 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 
A/Prof Vicky Drury 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 
A/Prof Ian Yeo 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 
Dr Andrew Tsai 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 
Ms Chitra Vallei 

 

 AM•EI Golden Apple Awards 2019: Programme 
Excellence Award [Sep 2019] 
“Nurse Led Intraveal Injection Clinic” 
Ms Claire Ong 

 

 National Medical Excellence Award: National 
Clinical Excellence Team Award [Sep 2019] 
Dr Gavin Tan 
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Ms Haslina Hamzah 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Clinician Scientist 
Award - Investigator [Sep 2019] 
“Investigating the Genetic and Phenotypic Architecture 

of Advanced Primary Angle Closure Glaucoma for 

Stratified Disease management” 

Dr Monisha Nongpiur 

 

 National Day Awards 2019: Efficiency Medal [Aug 
2019] 
Ms Chua Li Hong 

 

 National Day Awards 2019: Long Service Medal [Aug 
2019] 
Ms Fang Lai Mei 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Transition Award 
[Aug 2019] 
“Improved Detection of Glaucomatous Structural 

Damage Using Wide-Field Optical Coherence 

Tomography” 

Dr Jacqueline Chua 

 

 Nurses' Merit Award 2019 [Jul 2019] 
Ms Yeo Liew Soo 

 

 GCEO Excellence Award 2019: Outstanding Admin 
Staff Award [May 2019] 
Dr Danny Belkin 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
Young Researcher Award [May 2019] 
Dr Liu Yu-Chi 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
Team Award [May 2019] 
Dr Ranjana Mathur 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
Team Award [May 2019] 
Ms Carin Tan 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Transition Award 
[May 2019] 
“A study to identify markers of early retinal cell fate 

commitment in pluripotent stem cells in vitro” 

Dr Shweta Singhal 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Transition 
Award [Sep 2019] 
“Community-based Screening for Pathological Visual 
Impairment among Elderly Residents using Artificial-
Intelligence Integrated Retinal Imaging” 
Dr Tham Yih Chung 

 

 National Day Awards 2019: Public Administration 
Medal (Silver) [Aug 2019] 
Prof Wong Tien Yin 

 

 National Day Awards 2019: Long Service Medal [Aug 
2019] 
Prof Aung Tin 

 

 National Day Awards 2019: Long Service Medal [Aug 
2019] 
Prof Wong Tien Yin 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Clinician 
Scientist Award - Investigator [Aug 2019] 
“Investigating the role of the primary angle closure 
glaucoma (PACG) susceptibility gene, PLEKHA7 in 
Plekha7-/- mutant rats” 
Dr Anita Chan 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Clinician 
Scientist Award - Senior Investigator [Jul 2019] 
“Targeted Cell-Based Therapeutic Program for 
Corneal Blindness” 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta 

 

 GCEO Excellence Award 2019: Outstanding Ancillary 
Staff Award [May 2019] 
Ms Haslina Hamzah 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
People Leader Award [May 2019] 
Adj A/Prof Doric Wong 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
Team Award [May 2019] 
Ms Amanda Ng 

 

 SingHealth Excellence Awards 2019: Distinguished 
Team Award [May 2019] 
Dr Yang Xu 
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 SGH 23rd Annual Scientific Meeting 2019: Young 
Investigator Award (Health Services Research) [Apr 
2019] 
“Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Of An Artificial 

Intelligence-Assisted Deep Learning System 

Implemented In The National Tele-Medicine Diabetic 

Retinopathy Screening” 

Ms Xie Yuchen 

 

 SGH 23rd Annual Scientific Meeting 2019: Outstanding 
Researcher Award (Allied Health) [Apr 2019] 
“Six-Year Incidence And Progression Of Visual 

Impairment In A Multi-Ethnic Asian Population: The 

Singapore Epidemiology Of Eye Diseases (SEED) Study” 

Dr Tham Yih Chung 

 

 National Medical Research Council: Clinician Scientist 
Award - Investigator [Apr 2019] 
“Scleral Biomechanical Properties in Pathologic Myopia 

and Myopic Glaucoma” 

Dr Donny Hoang  

 

 National Medical Research Council: National 
Outstanding Clinician Scientist Resident Award 2018 
[Apr 2019] 
Dr Soh Yu Qiang 

 

 SGH 23rd Annual Scientific Meeting 2019: Young 
Investigator Award (Clinical Research) [Apr 2019] 
“Visual Impairment And Risk Of Cognitive 
Impairment: The Singapore Epidemiology Of Eye 
Diseases (Seed) Study” 
Dr Tham Yih Chung 

 

 National Medical Research Council: NMRC Research 
Training Fellowship [Apr 2019] 
Dr Liu Yu-Chi 
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International Awards 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Fuschs VII Symposium: Tillett Lecturer [Jan 2020] 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta 

 

 American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO) 2019: 
2019 Artemis Award [Oct 2019] 
A/Prof Marcus Ang 

 

 American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO) 2019: 
Best Poster Award [Oct 2019] 
“25-Year Surgical Trends and Risk Factors Related to 

the Functional and Structural Outcomes for Giant 

Retinal Tear–Rhegmatogenous RDs” 

Dr Valencia Foo 

 

 28th Annual Scientific Congress of The College of 
Ophthalmologists of Sri Lanka 2019: College Lecture 
[Sep 2019] 
Prof Aung Tin 

 

 Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Optometry [Jul 
2019] 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta 

 

 ASCRS Annual Meeting 2019: Best Paper of Session 
[May 2019] 
“Refractive Target for a Diffractive Extended Depth of 

Field Intraocular Lens in Order to Achieve Good 

Unaided Distant, Intermediate, and Near-Vision” 

Prof Chee Soon Phaik 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 College of Optometrists’ Research Excellence 
Awards: Bernard Gilmartin OPO Award [Nov 2019] 
“Current and predicted demographics of high 

myopia and an update of its associated pathological 

changes” 

Prof Saw Seang Mei 

 

 American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO) 2019: 
AAO Achievement Award [Oct 2019] 
A/Prof Marcus Ang 

 

 American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO) 2019: 
AAO Achievement Award [Oct 2019] 
Prof Ecosse Lamoureux 

 

 XOVA (eXcellence in Ophthalmology Vision Award): 
XOVA 2019 Award [Sep 2019] 
“The Vision Mission projects - Project Netra” 

Dr Jayant V Iyer 

 

 University of Illnois at Chicago/ Illnois Eye and Ear 
Infirmary Ophthalmology Alumni Day 2019: 
Inaugural Mark W. Lunde M.D. Memorial 
Lectureship [Jun 2019] 
Dr Donny Hoang 

 

 The Ophthalmologist's Power List 2019: Emerging 
Leader [Apr 2019] 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta 
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OUR GRANTS  

NMRC 

 

 

 

 

  

 “Scleral Biomechanical Properties in Pathologic 
Myopia and Myopic Glaucoma”. 
Dr Donny Hoang; S$675,000.00 

 

 “A study to identify markers of early retinal cell fate 
commitment in pluripotent stem cells in vitro”. 
Dr Donny Hoang; S$675,000.00 

 

 “Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT) Technologies 
to Improve Patient-Provider Experience and 
Healthcare Outcomes for Patients”. 
Prof Ecosse Lamoureux; S$208,333.00 

 

 “Targeted Cell-Based Therapeutic Program for Corneal 
Blindness”. 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta; S$1,749,347.00 

 

 “Singapore lYMPHoma translatiONal studY 
(SYMPHONY) - Theme 4: Harnessing computational 
genomics and integrative machine learning algorithms 
to advance diagnosis, prognostication and patient 
stratification for therapy”. 
Dr Anita Chan; S$250,000.00 

 

 “Bayesian Machine Learning Approach to Identify 
Markers of Progression in Primary Angle Closure 
Glaucoma”. 
Dr Monisha Nongpiur; S$770,257.00 

 

 “Evaluation of safety and efficacy of subconjunctival 
injection of liposomal tacrolimus for allergic 
conjunctivitis”. 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta; S$208,333.33 

 

 “Improved Detection of Glaucomatous Structural 
Damage Using Wide-Field Optical Coherence 
Tomography”. 
Dr Jacqueline Chua; S$374,992.37 

 

 “Investigating the role of the primary angle closure 
glaucoma (PACG) susceptibility gene, PLEKHA7 in 
Plekha7-/- mutant rats”. 
Dr Anita Chan; S$674,999.70 

 

 “Community-based Screening for Pathological 
Visual Impairment among Elderly Residents using 
Artificial-Intelligence Integrated Retinal Imaging”. 
Dr Tham Yih Chung; S$375,000.00 

 

 “Investigating the Genetic and Phenotypic 
Architecture of Advanced Primary Angle Closure 
Glaucoma for Stratified Disease management”. 
Dr Monisha Nongpiur; $675,000.00 

 

 “NCID SHORT TERM FELLOWSHIP FY2019 – 
INCOMING VISIT for A/Prof Ishwar Singh from the 
School of Pharmacy at University of Lincoln, UK”. 
A/Prof Rajamani Lakshminarayanan; S$7,697.15 

 

 “Development and Validation of a Myopia-Specific 
Item Bank Administered using Computerized 
Adaptive Testing: The MyoCAT Study”. 
Dr Ryan Man; S$374,904.00 

 

 “Wireless Miniaturised GonioPEN for irido-corneal 
imaging”. 
A/Prof Shamira Perera; S$208,333.33 
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A*Star/ Duke-NUS/ MOH/ Others 

 

  

 “Promoting Neurorecovery in Mouse Retail Ganglion 
Cells”. 
Prof Jonathan Crowston; S$750,000.00 

 

 “Whole exome sequencing of Indian subjects with 
primary angle closure glaucoma”. 
Prof Aung Tin; S$165,000.00 

 

 “New Drug Susceptibility Testing and Treatment 
Strategies for Non-Tuberculosis Mycobacterial 
Infections”. 
Prof Roger Beuerman; S$50,000.00 

 

 “Innovations in Ocular Imaging”. 
Dr Anthony Kuo; S$75,000.00 

 

 “Automatic Evaluation and Prediction of Polyp Closure 
and Visual Outcome in Polypoidal Choroidal 
Vasculopathy using Artificial Intelligence”. 
Prof Gemmy Cheung; S$100,000.00 

 

 “Translating MSC exosomes into pharmaceuticals 
(TEx2Pharm)”. 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta & Dr Ong Hon Shing; 

S$1,032,585.00 

 

 “Implementation of Community-based Elderly Health 
Care for Eye and Systemic Diseases Using Automated 
screening”. 
Dr Tyler Rim Hyungtaek; S$375,000.00 

 

 “Transforming vision evaluation and dilation in the 
care of ophthalmic patients”. 
Dr Gavin Tan; S$49,999.20 

 

 

 “Using Epdr1tm1b Knockout (KO) mice to determine 
the ocular phenotype of primary angle closure 
glaucoma (PACG) susceptibility gene, EPDR1 and its 
effects on cellular adhesion related pathways”. 
Dr Anita Chan; S$200,000.00 

 

 “SERI - Johnson & Johnson Vision Care Joint 
Research Programme for Myopia”. 
A/Prof Audrey Chia; S$9,385,200.00 

 

 “Functional Features of Outer Retinal Dysfunction 
Detected using Handheld Chromatic Pupillometry”. 
Dr Raymond Najjar; S$149,206.00 

 

 “Functional Role of human embryonic stem cell 
derived photoreceptor progenitors in non-human 
primates”. 
Dr Gavin Tan; S$30,000.00 

 

 “Randomised placebo controlled study of herbal 
medication to treat dry eye in peri/ post-
menopausal women”. 
A/Prof Louis Tong; S$415,224.75 

 

 “The role of Caveolin-1 in Ocular Neurovascular 
Coupling”. 
Dr Rachel Chong; S$20,000.00 

 

 



32 
 

SingHealth 

 “Artificial Intelligence for Functional VIsion Screening 
Using Retinal Imaging (AVIRI)”. 
Dr Tham Yih Chung; S$100,000.00 

 

 “From Machine to Machine - Developing a Deep 
Learning Algorithm for Quantification of Ocular Traits 
based on Retinal Photographs”. 
Dr Tyler Rim Hyungtaek; S$100,000.00 

 

 “COVID-19 Pandemic: Triaging of ‘Only Urgent Eye 
Referrals’ from Polyclinics (TOP) using Retinal 
Photograph-based Deep Learning”. 
Dr Tham Yih Chung; S$28,500.00 

 “The Role of the Aging Visual Function System on 
Functional Health in Elderly  Singaporeans”. 
Dr Preeti Gupta; S$149,889.00 

 

 “Task Shifting intravitreal Injection from 
Ophthalmologists to Nurses: A Prospective 
Randomized Non-Inferiority Trial”. 
A/Prof Ian Yeo; S$65,000.00 

 

 “Choroidal All-trans Retinoic Acid Involvement in the 
Local Control of Eye Growth in Myopia  
Development”. 
Dr Jiang Liqin; S$49,500.00 

 

Commercial 

 “Correlating pathological optical coherence 
tomography changes in age related macular 
degeneration with functional visual losses measured 
on microperimetry.”. 
Dr Anna Tan; S$95,136.66 

 

 “SinSa Labs Combination Antibiotic Study”. 
A/Prof Rajamani Lakshminarayanan; S$103,530.74 

 

 “A Randomized, Double-masked, Sham-controlled 
Phase 4 Study of the Efficacy, Safety and Tolerability 
of Intravitreal Aflibercept Monotherapy Compared to 
Aflibercept with Adjunctive Photodynamic Therapy in 
patients with Polypoidal Choroidal Vasculopathy 
(ATLANTIC)”. 
A/Prof Cheng Ching Yu; S$21,000.00 

 

 “Efficacy of Retrobulbar Latanoprost on Orbital Fat in 
Rat Model”. 
Dr Amutha Barathi; S$61,765.96 

 

 “A Multicenter, Double-Masked, Randomized, Dose-
Ranging Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of 
Conbercept Intravitreal Injection in Subjects with 
Neovascular Age-related Macular Degeneration”. 
Dr Kelvin Teo; S$205,871.75 

 

 “Assessment of Various Dyes on Cultured Primary 
Human Corneal Endothelial Cells (2020)”. 
Prof Jodhbir Mehta; S$24,551.15 

 “A Phase III, Multicenter, Randomized, Double-
masked, Active Comparator-Controlled Study to 
Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Faricimab in 
Patients with Neovascular Age-Related Macular 
Degeneration (Lucerne)”. 
Prof Gemmy Cheung; S$281,164.60 

 

 “Testing efficacy and toxicity of DcB in spontaneous 
ocular hypertensive monkeys”. 
Dr Amutha Barathi; S$139,010.28 

 

 “A Comparative Clinical Evaluation of a New Tecnis® 
Presbyopia-Correcting Intraocular Lens Against a 
Trifocal Intraocular Lens”. 
A/Prof Chee Soon Phaik; S$129,391.43 

 

 “Testing small molecule compound in Mice CNV 
model”. 
Dr Amutha Barathi; S$71,362.47 

 

 “Determination of the Ocular Tissue Distribution of 
EXN407 After a Repeated Topical Ocular Dose 
Regimen in Cynomolgus Monkeys”. 
Dr Amutha Barathi; S$666,083.13 

 

 “Ophthalmology-Related Biomarkers Validation 
Using Persistent Retinal Neovascularization Rabbit 
Models Induced by Intravitreal Injection of DL-α-
aminoadipic acid (AAA)”. 
Dr Amutha Barathi; S$10,289.00 



33 
 

OUR PUBLICATIONS 

 Bandeira F, Yusoff NZ, Yam GH, Mehta JS. Corneal re-innervation following refractive surgery treatments. Neural 

Regen Res. 2019 Apr;14(4):557-565. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.247421. 

 

 Tan TE, Tan DTH. Cytomegalovirus Corneal Endotheliitis After Descemet Membrane Endothelial Keratoplasty. 

Cornea.  2019 Apr;38(4):413-418. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000001847. 

 

 Chee SP, Chan NS, Yang Y, Ti SE. Femtosecond laser-assisted cataract surgery for the white cataract. Br J Ophthalmol. 

2019 Apr;103(4):544-550. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312289. 

 

 Tan RKY, Wang X, Chan ASY, Nongpiur ME, Boote C, Perera SA, Girard MJA. Permeability of the porcine iris stroma. 

Exp Eye Res. 2019 Apr;181:190-196. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2019.02.005. 

 

 Jung JJ, Cheng J, Pan JY, Brinton DA, Hoang QV. Anatomic, Visual and Financial Outcomes for Traditional and 

Nontraditional Primary Pneumatic Retinopexy for Retinal Detachment. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Apr;200:187-200. 

doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2019.01.008. 

 

 Chan VTT, Sun Z, Tang S, Chen LJ, Wong A, Tham CC, Wong TY, Chen C, Ikram MK, Whitson HE, Lad EM, Mok VCT, 

Cheung CY. Spectral-Domain OCT Measurements in Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. 

Ophthalmology. 2019 Apr;126(4):497-510. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.08.009. 

 

 Wong CW, Ng SR, Cheung CM, Wong TY, Mathur R. ZIKA-Related Maculopathy. Retin Cases Brief Rep. 2019 

Apr;13(2):171-173. doi: 10.1097/ICB.0000000000000552. 

 

 Hernstadt DJ, Cheng J, Htoon HM, Sangtam T, Thomas A, Sng CCA. Case Series of Combined iStent Implantation and 

Phacoemulsification in Eyes with Primary Angle Closure Disease: One-Year Outcomes. Adv Ther. 2019 Apr;36(4):976-

986. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-00899-5. 

 

 Bentley AR, Sung YJ, Brown MR, Winkler TW, Kraja AT, Ntalla I, Schwander K, Chasman DI, Lim E, Deng X, Guo X, Liu J, 

Lu Y, Cheng CY, Sim X, Vojinovic D, Huffman JE, Musani SK, Li C, Feitosa MF, Richard MA, Noordam R, Baker J, Chen G, 

Aschard H, Bartz TM, Ding J, Dorajoo R, Manning AK, Rankinen T, Smith AV, Tajuddin SM, Zhao W, Graff M, Alver M, 

Boissel M, Chai JF, Chen X, Divers J, Evangelou E, Gao C, Goel A, Hagemeijer Y, Harris SE, Hartwig FP, He M, Horimoto 

ARVR, Hsu FC, Hung YJ, Jackson AU, Kasturiratne A, Komulainen P, Kuhnel B, Leander K, Lin KH, Luan J, Lyytikainen LP, 

Matoba N, Nolte IM, Pietzner M, Prins B, Riaz M, Robino A, Said MA, Schupf N, Scott RA, Sofer T, Stancakova A, 

Takeuchi F, Tayo BO, van der Most PJ, Varga TV, Wang TD, Wang Y, Ware EB, Wen W, Xiang YB, Yanek LR, Zhang W, 

Zhao JH, Adeyemo A, Afaq S, Amin N, Amini M, Arking DE, Arzumanyan Z, Aung T, Ballantyne C, Barr RG, Bielak LF, 

Boerwinkle E, Bottinger EP, Broeckel U, Brown M, Cade BE, Campbell A, Canouil M, Charumathi S, Chen YI, Christensen 

K; COGENT-Kidney Consortium, Concas MP, Connell JM, de Las Fuentes L, de Silva HJ, de Vries PS, Doumatey A, Duan 

Q, Eaton CB, Eppinga RN, Faul JD, Floyd JS, Forouhi NG, Forrester T, Friedlander Y, Gandin I, Gao H, Ghanbari M, Gharib 

SA, Gigante B, Giulianini F, Grabe HJ, Gu CC, Harris TB, Heikkinen S, Heng CK, Hirata M, Hixson JE, Ikram MA; EPIC-

InterAct Consortium, Jia Y, Joehanes R, Johnson C, Jonas JB, Justice AE, Katsuya T, Khor CC, Kilpelainen TO, Koh WP, 

Kolcic I, Kooperberg C, Krieger JE, Kritchevsky SB, Kubo M, Kuusisto, Lakka TA, Langefeld CD, Langenberg C, Launer LJ, 

Lehne B, Lewis CE, Li Y, Liang J, Lin S, Liu CT, Liu J, Liu K, Loh M, Lohman KK, Louie T, Luzzi A, Magi R, Mahajan A, 

Manichaikul AW, McKenzie CA, Meitinger T, Metspalu A, Milaneschi Y, Milani L, Mohlke KL, Momozawa Y, Morris AP, 

Murray AD, Nalls MA, Nauck M, Nelson CP, North KE, O'Connell JR, Palmer ND, Papanicolau GJ, Pedersen NL, Peters 



34 
 

A, Peyser PA, Polasek O, Poulter N, Raitakari OT, Reiner AP, Renstrom F, Rice TK, Rich SS, Robinson JG, Rose LM, 

Rosendaal FR, Rudan I, Schmidt CO, Schreiner PJ, Scott WR, Sever P, Shi Y, Sidney S, Sims M, Smith JA, Snieder H, Starr 

JM, Strauch K, Stringham HM, Tan NYQ, Tang H, Taylor KD, Teo YY, Tham YC, Tiemeier H, Turner ST, Uitterlinden AG; 

Understanding Society Scientific Group, van Heemst D, Waldenberger M, Wang H, Wang L, Wang L, Wei WB, Williams 

CA, Wilson G Sr, Wojczynski MK, Yao J, Young K, Yu C, Yuan JM, Zhou J, Zonderman AB, Becker DM, Boehnke M, 

Bowden DW, Chambers JC, Cooper RS, de Faire U, Deary IJ, Elliott P, Esko T, Farrall M, Franks PW, Freedman BI, Froguel 

P, Gasparini P, Gieger C, Horta BL, Juang JJ, Kamatani Y, Kammerer CM, Kato N, Kooner JS, Laakso M, Laurie CC, Lee IT, 

Lehtimaki T; Lifelines Cohort, Magnusson PKE, Oldehinkel AJ, Penninx BWJH, Pereira AC, Rauramaa R, Redline S, 

Samani NJ, Scott J, Shu XO, van der Harst P, Wagenknecht LE, Wang JS, Wang YX, Wareham NJ, Watkins H, Weir DR, 

Wickremasinghe AR, Wu T, Zeggini E, Zheng W, Bouchard C, Evans MK, Gudnason V, Kardia SLR, Liu Y, Psaty BM, Ridker 

PM, van Dam RM, Mook-Kanamori DO, Fornage M, Province MA, Kelly TN, Fox ER, Hayward C, van Duijn CM, Tai ES, 

Wong TY, Loos RJF, Franceschini N, Rotter JI, Zhu X, Bierut LJ, Gauderman WJ, Rice K, Munroe PB, Morrison AC, Rao 

DC, Rotimi CN, Cupples LA. Multi-ancestry genome-wide gene-smoking interaction study of 387,272 individuals 

identifies new loci associated with serum lipids. Nat Genet. 2019 Apr;51(4):636-648. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0378-

y. 

 

 Lai YS, Afseth JD. A review of the impact of utilising electronic medical records for clinical research recruitment. Clin 

Trials. 2019 Apr;16(2):194-203. doi: 10.1177/1740774519829709. 

 

 Tan NYQ*, Tham YC*, Thakku SG, Wang X, Baskaran M, Tan MCL, Mari JM, Strouthidis NG, Aung T, Girard MJA, Cheng 

CY. Changes in the Anterior Lamina Cribrosa Morphology with Glaucoma Severity. Sci Rep. 2019 Apr 29;9(1):6612. 

doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42649-1. 

 

 Chougule PS, Najjar RP, Finkelstein MT, Kandiah N, Milea D. Light-Induced Pupillary Responses in Alzheimer's Disease. 

Front Neurol. 2019 Apr 12;10:360. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00360. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Ting DSW, Cheung CY, Nguyen Q, Sabanayagam C, Lim G, Lim ZW, Tan GSW, Soh YQ, Schmetterer L, Wang YX, Jonas 

JB, Varma R, Lee ML, Hsu W, Lamoureux E, Cheng CY, Wong TY. Deep learning in estimating prevalence and systemic 

risk factors for diabetic retinopathy: a multi-ethnic study. NPJ Digit Med. 2019 Apr 10;2:24. doi: 10.1038/s41746-

019-0097-x. eCollection 2019 

 

 Peh GSL*, Ong HS*, Adnan K, Ang HP, Lwin CN, Seah XY, Lin SJ, Mehta JS. Functional Evaluation of Two Corneal 

Endothelial Cell-Based Therapies: Tissue-Engineered Construct and Cell Injection. Sci Rep. 2019 Apr 15;9(1):6087. 

doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42493-3. 

 

 Chua J, Chin CWL, Tan B, Wong SH, Devarajan K, Le TT, Ang M, Wong TY, Schmetterer L. Impact of systemic vascular 

risk factors on the choriocapillaris using optical coherence tomography angiography in patients with systemic 

hypertension. Sci Rep. 2019 Apr 9;9(1):5819. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41917-4. 

 

 He M, Jiang Y, Huang S, Chang DS, Munoz B, Aung T, Foster PJ, Friedman DS. Laser peripheral iridotomy for the 

prevention of angle closure: a single-centre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2019 Apr 20;393(10181):1609-

1618. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32607-2. 

 



35 
 

 Foo VHX, Htoon HM, Welsbie DS, Perera SA. Aqueous shunts with mitomycin C versus aqueous shunts alone for 

glaucoma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019 Apr 19;4:CD011875. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011875.pub2. 

 

 Mehrali M, Thakur A, Kadumudi FB, Pierchala MK, Cordova JAV, Shahbazi MA, Mehrali M, Pennisi CP, Orive G, 

Gaharwar AK, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A. Pectin Methacrylate (PEMA) and Gelatin-Based Hydrogels for Cell Delivery: 

Converting Waste Materials into Biomaterials. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2019 Apr 3;11(13):12283-12297. doi: 

10.1021/acsami.9b00154. 

 

 Liow SS, Chee PL, Owh C, Zhang K, Zhou Y, Gao F, Lakshminarayanan R, Loh XJ. Cationic Poly([R]-3-hydroxybutyrate) 

Copolymers as Antimicrobial Agents. Macromol Biosci. 2019 Apr;19(4):e1800466. doi: 10.1002/mabi.201800466. 

 

 Chan NS, Chee SP. Demystifying viral anterior uveitis: a review. Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2019 Apr;47(3):320-333. doi: 

10.1111/ceo.13417. 

 

 Kim YW, Lee DH, Lim HB, Oh BL, Kim YK, Girard MJA, Mari JM, Park KH, Jeoung JW. Age-Dependent Variation of Lamina 

Cribrosa Displacement During the Standardized Valsalva Maneuver. Sci Rep. 2019 Apr 30;9(1):6645. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-019-43206-6. 

 

 Smith JD, Colville D, Lyttle N, Lamoureux E, Savige J. Increased microvascular disease in X-linked and autosomal 

recessive Alport syndrome: a case control cross sectional observational study. Ophthalmic Genet. 2019 

Apr;40(2):129-134. doi: 10.1080/13816810.2019.1589528. 

 

 Agarwal A, Agrawal R, Gunasekaran DV, Raje D, Gupta B, Aggarwal K, Murthy SL, Westcott M, Chee SP, Mccluskey P, 

Su Ling H, Teoh S, Cimino L, Biswas J, Narain S, Agarwal M, Mahendradas P, Khairallah M, Jones N, Tugal-Tutkun I, 

Babu K, Basu S, Carreno E, Lee R, Al-Dhibi H, Bodaghi B, Invernizzi A, Goldstein DA, Herbort CP, Barisani-Asenbauer T, 

Gonzalez-Lopez JJ, Androudi S, Bansal R, Moharana B, Mahajan S, Esposti S, Tasiopoulou A, Nadarajah S, Agarwal M, 

Abraham S, Vala R, Singh R, Sharma A, Sharma K, Zierhut M, Kon OM, Cunningham E, Nguyen QD, Pavesio C, Gupta V. 

The Collaborative Ocular Tuberculosis Study (COTS)-1 Report 3: Polymerase Chain Reaction in the Diagnosis and 

Management of Tubercular Uveitis: Global Trends. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2019;27(3):465-473. doi: 

10.1080/09273948.2017.1406529. 

 

 Kumaran A, Chan A, Yong K, Shen S. Ethnic variation in deep lateral orbital anatomy and its implications on 

decompression surgery. Orbit. 2019 Apr;38(2):95-102. doi: 10.1080/01676830.2018.1441316. 

 

 Loh HP, De Korne DF, Yin SQ, Ang E, Lau Y. Assessment of Scrub Practitioners' List of Intraoperative Non-Technical 

Skills (SPLINTS) in an Asian Ambulatory Surgical Setting. AORN J. 2019 Apr;109(4):465-476. doi: 10.1002/aorn.12640. 

 

 Damgaard IB, Ang M, Mahmoud AM, Farook M, Roberts CJ, Mehta JS. Functional Optical Zone and Centration 

Following SMILE and LASIK: A Prospective, Randomized, Contralateral Eye Study. J Refract Surg. 2019 Apr 

1;35(4):230-237. doi: 10.3928/1081597X-20190313-01. 

 

 Rong VPJ, Au B, Arundhati A, Long QB. Impact of extracapsular cataract extraction surgical instructional video on 

self-directed learning of surgical skills in a tertiary eye care centre. BMJ STEL. 2019 Apr;5(2):114-115. doi: 

10.1136/bmjstel-2017-000256. 

 



36 
 

 Soh Qin R, Tong Hak Tien L. Healthcare delivery in meibomian gland dysfunction and blepharitis. (Editorial). Ocul 

Surf. 2019 Apr;17(2):176-178. doi: 10.1016/j.jtos.2018.11.007. Epub 2018 Nov 17 

 

 Ramalingam R, Dhand C, Leung CM, Ong ST, Annamalai SK, Kamruddin M, Verma NK, Ramakrishna S, 

Lakshminarayanan R, Arunachalam KD. Antimicrobial properties and biocompatibility of electrospun poly-e-

caprolactone fibrous mats containing Gymnema sylvestre leaf extract. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl. 2019 

May;98:503-514. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2018.12.135. 

 

 Liu YC*, Wittwer VV*, Yusoff NZM, Lwin CN, Seah XY, Mehta JS, Seiler T. Intraoperative Optical Coherence 

Tomography-Guided Femtosecond Laser-Assisted Deep Anterior Lamellar Keratoplasty. Cornea. 2019 

May;38(5):648-653. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000001851. 

 

 Tan JCK, Nguyen V, Fenwick E, Ferdi A, Dinh A, Watson SL. Vision-Related Quality of Life in Keratoconus: A Save Sight 

Keratoconus Registry Study. Cornea. 2019 May;38(5):600-604. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000001899. 

 

 Reitsamer H, Sng C, Vera V, Lenzhofer M, Barton K, Stalmans I; Apex Study Group. Two-year results of a multicenter 

study of the ab interno gelatin implant in medically uncontrolled primary open-angle glaucoma. Graefes Arch Clin 

Exp Ophthalmol. 2019 May;257(5):983-996. doi: 10.1007/s00417-019-04251-z. 

 

 Kim JA, Kim TW, Lee EJ, Girard MJA, Mari JM. Lamina cribrosa morphology in glaucomatous eyes with hemifield 

defect in a Korean population. Ophthalmology. 2019 May;126(5):692-701. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.12.042. 

 

 Ho H, Tham YC, Chee ML, Shi Y, Tan NYQ, Wong KH, Majithia S, Cheung CY, Aung T, Wong TY, Cheng CY. Retinal Nerve 

Fiber Layer Thickness in a Multi-ethnic Normal Asian Population: the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases (SEED) 

Study. Ophthalmology. 2019 May;126(5):702-711. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.11.031. 

 

 Jiang T, Heng S, Huang X, Zheng L, Kai D, Loh XJ, Zhao J. Biomimetic Poly(Poly(ε-caprolactone)-Polytetrahydrofuran 

urethane) Based Nanofibers Enhanced Chondrogenic Differentiation and Cartilage Regeneration. J Biomed 

Nanotechnol. 2019 May 1;15(5):1005-1017. doi: 10.1166/jbn.2019.2748. 

 

 Echave MC, Pimenta-Lopes C, Pedraz JL, Mehrali M, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A, Ventura F, Orive G. Enzymatic crosslinked 

gelatin 3D scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Pharm. 2019 May 1;562:151-161. doi: 

10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.02.043. 

 

 Prayag AS, Najjar RP, Gronfier C. Melatonin suppression is exquisitely sensitive to light and primarily driven by 

melanopsin in humans. J Pineal Res. 2019 May;66(4):e12562. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12562. 

 

 Nataraj P, Sunpreet S, Chander P, Rajkumar V. P, P.T. Perumal, Veluchamy A.B, K K. B, Seeram R, N.U. Maheshwari. 

Bioprinting in ophthalmology: current advances and future pathways.  Rapid Prototyping Journal. 2019 

May;25(3):496-514. doi: 10.1108/RPJ-06-2018-0144 

 

 Chua J, Tan B, Ang M, Nongpiur ME, Tan AC, Najjar RP, Milea D, Schmetterer L. Future clinical applicability of optical 

coherence tomography angiography.  Clin Exp Optom. 2019 May;102(3):260-269. doi: 10.1111/cxo.12854. 

 

 V Bellemo, Zhan WL, G Lim, QD Nguyen, Y Xie, MYT Yip, H Hamzah, J Ho, XQ Lee, W Hsu, ML Lee, L Musonda, M 

Chandran, G Chipalo-Mutati, M Muma, GSW Tan, S Sivaprasad*, G Menon*, TY Wong*, DSW Ting*. Artificial 



37 
 

Intelligence using deep learning to screen for referable and vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy in Africa: a 

clinical validation study.  Lancet Digi Health. 2019 May;1(1):e35-44. doi: 10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30004-4 

 

 Shi Y, Thompson J, Walker AS, Paton NI, Cheung YB; EARNEST Trial Team. Mapping the medical outcomes study HIV 

health survey (MOS-HIV) to the EuroQoL 5 Dimension (EQ-5D-3 L) utility index. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2019 May 

10;17(1):83. doi: 10.1186/s12955-019-1135-8. 

 

 Huang L, Lin JS, Aris IM, Yang G, Chen WQ, Li LJ. Circulating Saturated Fatty Acids and Incident Type 2 Diabetes: A 

Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Nutrients. 2019 May 1;11(5). pii: E998. doi: 10.3390/nu11050998. 

 

 Warrington NM*, Beaumont RN*, Horikoshi M*, Day FR*, Helgeland O*, Laurin C, Bacelis J, Peng S, Hao K, Feenstra B, 

Wood AR, Mahajan A, Tyrrell J, Robertson N, Rayner NW, Qiao Z, Moen GH, Vaudel M, Marsit CJ2, Chen J, Nodzenski 

M, Schnurr TM, Zafarmand MH, Bradfield JP, Grarup N, Kooijman MN, Li-Gao R, Geller F, Ahluwalia TS, Paternoster L, 

Rueedi R, Huikari V, Hottenga JJ, Lyytikainen LP, Cavadino A, Metrustry S, Cousminer DL, Wu Y, Thiering E, Wang CA, 

Have CT, Vilor-Tejedor N, Joshi PK, Painter JN, Ntalla I, Myhre R, Pitkanen N, van Leeuwen EM, Joro R, Lagou V, 

Richmond RC, Espinosa A, Barton SJ, Inskip HM, Holloway JW, Santa-Marina L, Estivill X, Ang W, Marsh JA, Reichetzeder 

C, Marullo L, Hocher B, Lunetta KL, Murabito JM, Relton CL, Kogevinas M, Chatzi L, Allard C, Bouchard L, Hivert MF, 

Zhang G, Muglia LJ, Heikkinen J; EGG Consortium, Morgen CS, van Kampen AHC, van Schaik BDC, Mentch FD, 

Langenberg C, Luan J, Scott RA, Zhao JH, Hemani G, Ring SM, Bennett AJ, Gaulton KJ, Fernandez-Tajes J, van Zuydam 

NR, Medina-Gomez C, de Haan HG, Rosendaal FR, Kutalik Z, Marques-Vidal P, Das S, Willemsen G, Mbarek H, Muller-

Nurasyid M, Standl M, Appel EVR, Fonvig CE, Trier C, van Beijsterveldt CEM, Murcia M, Bustamante M, Bonas-Guarch 

S, Hougaard DM, Mercader JM, Linneberg A, Schraut KE, Lind PA, Medland SE, Shields BM, Knight BA, Chai JF, 

Panoutsopoulou K, Bartels M, Sanchez F, Stokholm J, Torrents D, Vinding RK, Willems SM, Atalay M, Chawes BL, Kovacs 

P11, Prokopenko I, Tuke MA, Yaghootkar H, Ruth KS, Jones SE, Loh PR, Murray A, Weedon MN, Tonjes A, Stumvoll M, 

Michaelsen KF, Eloranta AM, Lakka TA, van Duijn CM, Kiess W, Korner A, Niinikoski H, Pahkala K, Raitakari OT, 

Jacobsson B, Zeggini E, Dedoussis GV, Teo YY, Saw SM, Montgomery GW, Campbell H, Wilson JF, Vrijkotte TGM, 

Vrijheid M, de Geus EJCN, Hayes MG, Kadarmideen HN, Holm JC, Beilin LJ, Pennell CE, Heinrich J, Adair LS, Borja JB, 

Mohlke KL, Eriksson JG, Widen EE, Hattersley AT, Spector TD, Kahonen M, Viikari JS, Lehtimaki T, Boomsma DI, Sebert 

S, Vollenweider P, Sorensen TIA, Bisgaard H, Bonnelykke K, Murray JC, Melbye M, Nohr EA, Mook-Kanamori DO, 

Rivadeneira F, Hofman A, Felix JF, Jaddoe VWV, Hansen T, Pisinger C, Vaag AA, Pedersen O, Uitterlinden AG, Jarvelin 

MR, Power C, Hypponen E, Scholtens DM, Lowe WL Jr, Davey Smith G, Timpson NJ, Morris AP, Wareham NJ, 

Hakonarson H, Grant SFA, Frayling TM, Lawlor DA, Njolstad PR, Johansson S, Ong KK, McCarthy MI, Perry JRB, Evans 

DM, Freathy RM. Maternal and fetal genetic effects on birth weight and their relevance to cardio-metabolic risk 

factors.  Nat Genet. 2019 May;51(5):804-814. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0403-1. 

 

 Lim EWL, Chee ML, Sabanayagam C, Majithia S, Tao Y, Wong TY, Cheng CY, Tong L. Relationship Between Sleep and 

Symptoms of Tear Dysfunction in Singapore Malays and Indians. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 May 1;60(6):1889-

1897. doi: 10.1167/iovs.19-26810. 

 

 Yap TP, Luu CD, Suttle CM, Chia A, Boon MY. Electrophysiological and Psychophysical Studies of Meridional 

Anisotropies in Children With and Without Astigmatism. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 May 1;60(6):1906-1913. 

doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-25924. 

 

 Fang F, Li J, Wang J. Optimal model averaging estimation for correlation structure in generalized estimating 

equations. Commun Stat-Simul C. 2019 May;48(5):1574-1593. doi: 10.1080/03610918.2017.1419260. 



38 
 

 

 Konstantopoulos A, Liu YC, Teo EP, Nyein CL, Yam GH, Mehta JS. Corneal Stability of LASIK and SMILE When Combined 

With Collagen Cross-Linking. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2019 May 20;8(3):21. doi: 10.1167/tvst.8.3.21. eCollection 2019 

May. 

 

 Kim TI, Del Barrio JLA, Wilkins M, Cochener B, Ang M. Refractive surgery. Lancet. 2019 May 18;393(10185):2085-2098. 

doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)33209-4. 

 

 Stefansson E, Olafsdottir OB, Eliasdottir TS, Wehmeijer W, Einarsdottir AB, Bek T, Torp TL, Grauslund J, Eysteinsson T, 

Karlsson RA, Van Keer K, Stalmans I, Vandewalle E, Todorova MG, Hammer M, Garhofer G, Schmetterer L, Sin M, 

Hardarson SH. Retinal oximetry: Metabolic imaging for diseases of the retina and brain. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2019 

May;70:1-22. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2019.04.001. 

 

 Seow WJ*, Ngo CS*, Pan H, Barathi VA, Tompson SW, Whisenhunt KN, Vithana E, Chong YS, Juo SH, Hysi P, Young TL, 

Karnani N, Saw SM. In-utero epigenetic factors are associated with early-onset myopia in young children. PLoS One. 

2019 May 17;14(5):e0214791. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214791. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Stegmann H, Aranha Dos Santos V, Messner A, Unterhuber A, Schmidl D, Garhofer G, Schmetterer L, Werkmeister RM. 

Automatic assessment of tear film and tear meniscus parameters in healthy subjects using ultrahigh-resolution 

optical coherence tomography. Biomed Opt Express. 2019 May 9;10(6):2744-2756. doi: 10.1364/BOE.10.002744. 

 

 Beau JF, Kumar A, Tan NYQ, Ang M. Case of isolated Rhizobium radiobacter contact lens-related infectious keratitis: 

A plant microbe now emerging as a human pathogen. Am J Ophthalmol Case Rep. 2019 May 30;15:100476. doi: 

10.1016/j.ajoc.2019.100476. eCollection 2019 Sep. 

 

 NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Rising rural body-mass index is the main driver of the global obesity 

epidemic in adults. Nature. 2019 May;569(7755):260-264. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1171-x. 

 

 Li J, Gao M, D'Agostino R. Evaluating classification accuracy for modern learning approaches. Stat Med. 2019 Jun 

15;38(13):2477-2503. doi: 10.1002/sim.8103. 

 

 George PP, Yun OCS, Siow K, Saxena N, Heng BH, Car J, Lockwood C. Is there scope for expanding the optometrist's 

scope of practice in Singapore? - A survey of optometrists, opticians in Singapore. Cont Lens Anterior Eye. 2019 

Jun;42(3):258-264. doi: 10.1016/j.clae.2019.02.008. 

 

 Flannick J, Mercader JM, Fuchsberger C, Udler MS, Mahajan A, Wessel J, Teslovich TM, Caulkins L, Koesterer R, Barajas-

Olmos F, Blackwell TW, Boerwinkle E, Brody JA, Centeno-Cruz F, Chen L, Chen S, Contreras-Cubas C, Cordova E, Correa 

A, Cortes M, DeFronzo RA, Dolan L, Drews KL, Elliott A, Floyd JS, Gabriel S, Garay-Sevilla ME, García-Ortiz H, Gross M, 

Han S, Heard-Costa NL, Jackson AU, Jorgensen ME, Kang HM, Kelsey M, Kim BJ, Koistinen HA, Kuusisto J, Leader JB, 

Linneberg A, Liu CT, Liu J, Lyssenko V, Manning AK, Marcketta A, Malacara-Hernandez JM, Martinez-Hernandez A, 

Matsuo K, Mayer-Davis E, Mendoza-Caamal E, Mohlke KL, Morrison AC, Ndungu A, Ng MCY, O'Dushlaine C, Payne AJ, 

Pihoker C; Broad Genomics Platform, Post WS, Preuss M, Psaty BM, Vasan RS, Rayner NW, Reiner AP, Revilla-Monsalve 

C, Robertson NR, Santoro N, Schurmann C, So WY, Soberon X, Stringham HM, Strom TM, Tam CHT, Thameem F, 

Tomlinson B, Torres JM, Tracy RP, van Dam RM, Vujkovic M, Wang S, Welch RP, Witte DR, Wong TY, Atzmon G, Barzilai 

N, Blangero J, Bonnycastle LL, Bowden DW, Chambers JC, Chan E, Cheng CY, Cho YS, Collins FS, de Vries PS, Duggirala 

R, Glaser B, Gonzalez C, Gonzalez ME, Groop L, Kooner JS, Kwak SH, Laakso M, Lehman DM, Nilsson P, Spector TD, Tai 



39 
 

ES, Tuomi T, Tuomilehto J, Wilson JG, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Bottinger E, Burke B, Carey DJ, Chan JCN, Dupuis J, Frossard 

P, Heckbert SR, Hwang MY, Kim YJ, Kirchner HL, Lee JY, Lee J, Loos RJF, Ma RCW, Morris AD, O'Donnell CJ, Palmer CNA, 

Pankow J, Park KS, Rasheed A, Saleheen D, Sim X, Small KS, Teo YY, Haiman C, Hanis CL, Henderson BE, Orozco L, Tusie-

Luna T, Dewey FE, Baras A, Gieger C, Meitinger T, Strauch K, Lange L, Grarup N, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Zeitler P, 

Dabelea D, Abecasis G, Bell GI, Cox NJ, Seielstad M, Sladek R, Meigs JB, Rich SS, Rotter JI; DiscovEHR Collaboration; 

CHARGE; LuCamp; ProDiGY; GoT2D; ESP; SIGMA-T2D; T2D-GENES; AMP-T2D-GENES, Altshuler D, Burtt NP, Scott LJ, 

Morris AP, Florez JC, McCarthy MI, Boehnke M. Exome sequencing of 20,791 cases of type 2 diabetes and 24,440 

controls. Nature. 2019 Jun;570(7759):71-76. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1231-2. Epub 2019 May 22. 

 

 Dorajoo R*, Chang X*, Gurung RL*, Li Z, Wang L, Wang R, Beckman KB, Adams-Haduch J, M Y, Liu S, Meah WY, Sim KS, 

Lim SC, Friedlander Y, Liu J, van Dam RM, Yuan JM, Koh WP, Khor CC, Heng CK. Loci for human leukocyte telomere 

length in the Singaporean Chinese population and trans-ethnic genetic studies. Nat Commun. 2019 Jun 6;10(1):2491. 

doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10443-2. 

 

 Kim JA, Kim TW, Lee EJ, Kim JM, Girard MJA, Mari JM. Intereye Comparison of Lamina Cribrosa Curvature in Normal 

Tension Glaucoma Patients With Unilateral Damage. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jun 3;60(7):2423-2430. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.19-26828. 

 

 Nusinovici S, Sabanayagam C, Teo BW, Tan GSW, Wong TY. Vision Impairment in CKD Patients: Epidemiology, 

Mechanisms, Differential Diagnoses, and Prevention. Am J Kidney Dis. 2019 Jun;73(6):846-857. doi: 

10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.12.047. Epub 2019 Mar 28. 

 

 Keel S, McGuiness MB, Foreman J, Taylor HR, Dirani M. The prevalence of visually significant cataract in the Australian 

National Eye Health Survey. Eye (Lond). 2019 Jun;33(6):957-964. doi: 10.1038/s41433-019-0354-x. Epub 2019 Feb 12. 

 

 Tey CS, Man REK, Fenwick EK, Aw AT, Drury V, Chiang PP, Lamoureux EL. Effectiveness of the "living successfully with 

low vision" self-management program: Results from a randomized controlled trial in Singaporeans with low vision. 

Patient Educ Couns. 2019 Jun;102(6):1150-1156. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2019.01.014. 

 

 de Vries PS, Brown MR, Bentley AR, Sung YJ, Winkler TW, Ntalla I, Schwander K, Kraja AT, Guo X, Franceschini N, Cheng 

CY, Sim X, Vojinovic D, Huffman JE, Musani SK, Li C, Feitosa MF, Richard MA, Noordam R, Aschard H, Bartz TM, Bielak 

LF, Deng X, Dorajoo R, Lohman KK, Manning AK, Rankinen T, Smith AV, Tajuddin SM, Evangelou E, Graff M, Alver M, 

Boissel M, Chai JF, Chen X, Divers J, Gandin I, Gao C, Goel A, Hagemeijer Y, Harris SE, Hartwig FP, He M, Horimoto 

ARVR, Hsu FC, Jackson AU, Kasturiratne A, Komulainen P, Kuhnel B, Laguzzi F, Lee JH, Luan J, Lyytikainen LP, Matoba 

N, Nolte IM, Pietzner M, Riaz M, Said MA, Scott RA, Sofer T, Stancakova A, Takeuchi F, Tayo BO, van der Most PJ, Varga 

TV, Wang Y, Ware EB, Wen W, Yanek LR, Zhang W, Zhao JH, Afaq S, Amin N, Amini M, Arking DE, Aung T, Ballantyne 

C, Boerwinkle E, Broeckel U, Campbell A, Canouil M, Charumathi S, Chen Y, Connell JM, de Faire U, de Las Fuentes L, 

de Mutsert R, de Silva HJ, Ding J, Dominiczak AF, Duan Q, Eaton CB, Eppinga RN, Faul JD, Fisher V, Forrester T, Franco 

OH, Friedlander Y, Ghanbari M, Giulianini F, Grabe HJ, Grove ML, Gu CC, Harris TB, Heikkinen S, Heng CK, Hirata M, 

Hixson JE, Howard BV, Ikram MA; InterAct Consortium, Jacobs DR Jr, Johnson C, Jonas JB, Kammerer CM, Katsuya T, 

Khor CC, Kilpelainen TO, Koh WP, Koistinen HA, Kolcic I, Kooperberg C, Krieger JE, Kritchevsky SB, Kubo M, Kuusisto J, 

Lakka TA, Langefeld CD, Langenberg C, Launer LJ, Lehne B, Lemaitre RN, Li Y, Liang J, Liu J, Liu K, Loh M, Louie T, Magi 

R, Manichaikul AW, McKenzie CA, Meitinger T, Metspalu A, Milaneschi Y, Milani L, Mohlke KL, Mosley TH Jr, Mukamal 

KJ, Nalls MA, Nauck M, Nelson CP, Sotoodehnia N, O'Connell JR, Palmer ND, Pazoki R, Pedersen NL, Peters A, Peyser 

PA, Polasek O, Poulter N, Raffel LJ, Raitakari OT, Reiner AP, Rice TK, Rich SS, Robino A, Robinson JG, Rose LM1, Rudan 

I, Schmidt CO, Schreiner PJ, Scott WR, Sever P, Shi Y, Sidney S, Sims M, Smith BH, Smith JA, Snieder H, Starr JM, Strauch 



40 
 

K, Tan N, Taylor KD, Teo YY, Tham YC, Uitterlinden AG, van Heemst D, Vuckovic D, Waldenberger M, Wang L, Wang Y, 

Wang Z, Wei WB, Williams C, Wilson G Sr, Wojczynski MK, Yao J, Yu B, Yu C, Yuan JM, Zhao W, Zonderman AB, Becker 

DM, Boehnke M, Bowden DW, Chambers JC, Deary IJ, Esko T, Farrall M, Franks PW, Freedman BI, Froguel P, Gasparini 

P, Gieger C, Horta BL, Kamatani Y, Kato N, Kooner JS, Laakso M, Leander K, Lehtimaki T; Lifelines Cohort, Groningen, 

The Netherlands (Lifelines Cohort Study), Magnusson PKE, Penninx B, Pereira AC, Rauramaa R, Samani NJ, Scott J, Shu 

XO, van der Harst P, Wagenknecht LE, Wang YX, Wareham NJ, Watkins H, Weir DR, Wickremasinghe AR, Zheng W, 

Elliott P, North KE, Bouchard C, Evans MK, Gudnason V, Liu CT, Liu Y, Psaty BM, Ridker PM, van Dam RM, Kardia SLR, 

Zhu X, Rotimi CN, Mook-Kanamori DO, Fornage M, Kelly TN, Fox ER, Hayward C, van Duijn CM, Tai ES, Wong TY, Liu J, 

Rotter JI, Gauderman WJ, Province MA, Munroe PB, Rice K, Chasman DI, Cupples LA, Rao DC, Morrison AC. Multi-

Ancestry Genome-Wide Association Study of Lipid Levels Incorporating Gene-Alcohol Interactions. Am J Epidemiol. 

2019 Jun 1;188(6):1033-1054. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwz005. 

 

 Tan NYQ, Tham YC, Koh V, Cheung CY, Aung T, Wong TY, Cheng CY. The Effect of Gender on Visual Field Sensitivity: 

The Singapore Chinese Eye Study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2019 Jun;26(3):183-188. doi: 

10.1080/09286586.2019.1568505. 

 

 Kan CN, Zhang L, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Venketasubramanian N, Chen CL, Xu X. The Informant AD8 Can Discriminate 

Patients with Dementia From Healthy Control Participants in an Asian Older Cohort. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2019 

Jun;20(6):775-779. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.11.023. 

 

 Ang M, Wong CW, Hoang DV, Cheung GCM, Lee SY, Chia A, Saw SM, Ohno-Matsui K, Schmetterer L. Imaging in myopia: 

potential biomarkers, current challenges and future developments. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Jun;103(6):855-862. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312866. 

 

 Torp TL, Kawasaki R, Wong TY, Peto T, Grauslund J. Peripheral capillary non-perfusion in treatment-naive 

proliferative diabetic retinopathy associateswith postoperative disease activity 6 months after panretinal 

photocoagulation. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Jun;103(6):816-820. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312195. 

 

 Wang J, Li J, Li Y, Wong WK. A model-based multithreshold method for subgroup identification. Stat Med. 2019 Jun 

30;38(14):2605-2631. doi: 10.1002/sim.8136. 

 

 Kouassi Nzoughet J, Chao de la Barca JM, Guehlouz K, Leruez S, Coulbault L, Allouche S, Bocca C, Muller J, Amati-

Bonneau P, Gohier P, Bonneau D, Simard G, Milea D, Lenaers G, Procaccio V, Reynier P. Nicotinamide Deficiency in 

Primary Open-Angle Glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jun 3;60(7):2509-2514. doi: 10.1167/iovs.19-27099. 

 

 Wuttke M, Li Y, Li M, Sieber KB, Feitosa MF, Gorski M, Tin A, Wang L, Chu AY, Hoppmann A, Kirsten H, Giri A, Chai JF, 

Sveinbjornsson G, Tayo BO, Nutile T, Fuchsberger C, Marten J, Cocca M, Ghasemi S, Xu Y, Horn K, Noce D, van der Most 

PJ, Sedaghat S, Yu Z, Akiyama M, Afaq S, Ahluwalia TS, Almgren P, Amin N, Arnlov J, Bakker SJL, Bansal N, Baptista D, 

Bergmann S, Biggs ML, Biino G, Boehnke M, Boerwinkle E, Boissel M, Bottinger EP, Boutin TS, Brenner H, Brumat M, 

Burkhardt R, Butterworth AS, Campana E, Campbell A, Campbell H, Canouil M, Carroll RJ, Catamo E, Chambers JC, 

Chee ML, Chee ML, Chen X, Cheng CY, Cheng Y, Christensen K, Cifkova R, Ciullo M, Concas MP, Cook JP, Coresh J, Corre 

T, Sala CF, Cusi D, Danesh J, Daw EW, de Borst MH, De Grandi A, de Mutsert R, de Vries APJ, Degenhardt F, Delgado G, 

Demirkan A, Di Angelantonio E, Dittrich K, Divers J, Dorajoo R, Eckardt KU, Ehret G, Elliott P, Endlich K, Evans MK, Felix 

JF, Foo VHX, Franco OH, Franke A, Freedman BI, Freitag-Wolf S, Friedlander Y, Froguel P, Gansevoort RT, Gao H, 

Gasparini P, Gaziano JM, Giedraitis V, Gieger C, Girotto G, Giulianini F, Gogele M, Gordon SD, Gudbjartsson DF, 

Gudnason V, Haller T, Hamet P, Harris TB, Hartman CA, Hayward C, Hellwege JN, Heng CK, Hicks AA, Hofer E, Huang 



41 
 

W, Hutri-Kahonen N, Hwang SJ, Ikram MA, Indridason OS, Ingelsson E, Ising M, Jaddoe VWV, Jakobsdottir J, Jonas JB, 

Joshi PK, Josyula NS, Jung B, Kahonen M, Kamatani Y, Kammerer CM, Kanai M, Kastarinen M, Kerr SM, Khor CC, Kiess 

W, Kleber ME, Koenig W, Kooner JS, Korner A, Kovacs P, Kraja AT, Krajcoviechova A, Kramer H, Kramer BK, Kronenberg 

F, Kubo M, Kuhnel B, Kuokkanen M, Kuusisto J, La Bianca M, Laakso M, Lange LA, Langefeld CD, Lee JJ, Lehne B, 

Lehtimaki T, Lieb W; Lifelines Cohort Study, Lim SC, Lind L, Lindgren CM, Liu J, Liu J, Loeffler M, Loos RJF, Lucae S, Lukas 

MA, Lyytikainen LP, Magi R, Magnusson PKE, Mahajan A, Martin NG, Martins J, Marz W, Mascalzoni D, Matsuda K, 

Meisinger C, Meitinger T, Melander O, Metspalu A, Mikaelsdottir EK, Milaneschi Y, Miliku K, Mishra PP; V. A. Million 

Veteran Program, Mohlke KL, Mononen N, Montgomery GW, Mook-Kanamori DO, Mychaleckyj JC, Nadkarni GN, Nalls 

MA, Nauck M, Nikus K, Ning B, Nolte IM, Noordam R, O'Connell J, O'Donoghue ML, Olafsson I, Oldehinkel AJ, Orho-

Melander M, Ouwehand WH, Padmanabhan S, Palmer ND, Palsson R, Penninx BWJH, Perls T, Perola M, Pirastu M, 

Pirastu N, Pistis G, Podgornaia AI, Polasek O, Ponte B, Porteous DJ, Poulain T, Pramstaller PP, Preuss MH, Prins BP, 

Province MA, Rabelink TJ, Raffield LM, Raitakari OT, Reilly DF, Rettig R, Rheinberger M, Rice KM, Ridker PM, 

Rivadeneira F, Rizzi F, Roberts DJ, Robino A, Rossing P, Rudan I, Rueedi R, Ruggiero D, Ryan KA, Saba Y, Sabanayagam 

C, Salomaa V, Salvi E, Saum KU, Schmidt H, Schmidt R, Schottker B, Schulz CA, Schupf N, Shaffer CM, Shi Y, Smith AV, 

Smith BH, Soranzo N, Spracklen CN, Strauch K, Stringham HM45, Stumvoll M, Svensson PO, Szymczak S, Tai ES, 

Tajuddin SM, Tan NYQ, Taylor KD, Teren A, Tham YC, Thiery J, Thio CHL, Thomsen H, Thorleifsson G, Toniolo D, Tonjes 

A, Tremblay J, Tzoulaki I, Uitterlinden AG, Vaccargiu S, van Dam RM, van der Harst P, van Duijn CM, Velez Edward DR, 

Verweij N, Vogelezang S, Volker U, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Waldenberger M, Wallentin L, Wang YX, Wang C, 

Waterworth DM, Bin Wei W, White H, Whitfield JB, Wild SH, Wilson JF, Wojczynski MK, Wong C, Wong TY, Xu L, Yang 

Q, Yasuda M, Yerges-Armstrong LM, Zhang W, Zonderman AB, Rotter JI, Bochud M7, Psaty BM, Vitart V, Wilson JG, 

Dehghan A, Parsa A, Chasman DI, Ho K, Morris AP, Devuyst O, Akilesh S, Pendergrass SA, Sim X, Boger CA, Okada Y, 

Edwards TL, Snieder H, Stefansson K, Hung AM, Heid IM, Scholz M, Teumer A, Kottgen A, Pattaro C. A catalog of 

genetic loci associated with kidney function from analyses of a million individuals. Nat Genet. 2019 Jun;51(6):957-

972. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0407-x. Epub 2019 May 31. 

 

 Narayanaswamy A, Nai MH, Nongpiur ME, Htoon HM, Thomas A, Sangtam T, Lim CT, Wong TT, Aung T. Young's 

Modulus Determination of Normal and Glaucomatous Human Iris. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jun 3;60(7):2690-

2695. doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-26455. 

 

 Riau AK*, Aung TT*, Setiawan M, Yang L, Yam GHF, Beuerman RW, Venkatraman SS, Mehta JS. Surface Immobilization 

of Nano-Silver on Polymeric Medical Devices to Prevent Bacterial Biofilm Formation. Pathogens. 2019 Jun 28;8(3). 

pii: E93. doi: 10.3390/pathogens8030093. 

 

 Mansoor H, Ong HS, Riau AK, Stanzel TP, Mehta JS, Yam GH. Current Trends and Future Perspective of Mesenchymal 

Stem Cells and Exosomes in Corneal Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Jun 12;20(12). pii: E2853. doi: 

10.3390/ijms20122853. 

 

 Khamar P, Nair AP, Shetty R, Vaidya T, Subramani M, Ponnalagu M, Dhamodaran K, D'souza S, Ghosh A, Pahuja N, 

Deshmukh R, Ahuja P, Sainani K, Nuijts RMMA, Das D, Ghosh A, Sethu S.  Dysregulated Tear Fluid Nociception-

Associated Factors, Corneal Dendritic Cell Density, and Vitamin D Levels in Evaporative Dry Eye. Invest Ophthalmol 

Vis Sci. 2019 Jun 3;60(7):2532-2542. doi: 10.1167/iovs.19-26914. 

 

 Yoo TK*, Ryu IH*, Lee G, Kim Y, Kim JK, Lee IS, Kim JS, Rim TH.  Adopting machine learning to automatically identify 

candidate patients for corneal refractive surgery. NPJ Digit Med. 2019 Jun 20;2:59. doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0135-

8. eCollection 2019. 

 



42 
 

 Gyanwali B, Vrooman H, Venketasubramanian N, Wong TY, Cheng CY, Chen C, Hilal S. Cerebral Small Vessel Disease 

and Enlarged Perivascular Spaces-Data From Memory Clinic and Population-Based Settings. Front Neurol. 2019 Jun 

25;10:669. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00669. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Lanca CC, Rowe FJ. Measurement of fusional vergence: a systematic review. Strabismus. 2019 Jun;27(2):88-113. doi: 

10.1080/09273972.2019.1583675. 

 

 Yee KH, Tan KH, Aris IM, Lamoureux EL, Chong YS, Wang JJ, Wong TY, Li LJ. History of gestational diabetes mellitus 

and postpartum maternal retinal microvascular structure and function. Diabet Med. 2019 Jun;36(6):784-786. doi: 

10.1111/dme.13928. Epub 2019 Apr 3. 

 

 Schmidl D, Garhofer G, Schmetterer L. A New Scoring System for Progressive Keratoconus.  JAMA Ophthalmol. 2019 

Jun 1;137(6):617. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.0431. 

 

 Cheung CMG, Kim JE. Diagnosing Polypoidal Choroidal Vasculopathy Without Indocyanine Green Angiography.   

JAMA Ophthalmol. 2019 Jun 1;137(6):667-668. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.0583. 

 

 Yip MYT, Lim ZW, Lim G, Quang ND, Hamzah H, Ho J, Bellemo V, Xie Y, Lee XQ, Lee ML, Hsu W, Wong TY, Ting DSW. 

Enhanced Detection of Referable Diabetic Retinopathy via DCNNs and Transfer Learning. ACCV 2018: Computer 

Vision. 2019 Jun;11367:282-288. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-21074-8_23. 

 

 Xu X, Phua A, Collinson SL, Hilal S, Ikram MK, Wong TY, Cheng CY, Venketasubramanian N, Chen C. Additive effect of 

cerebral atrophy on cognition in dementia-free elderly with cerebrovascular disease. Stroke Vasc Neurol. 2019 Jun 

20;4(3):135-140. doi: 10.1136/svn-2018-000202. eCollection 2019 Sep. 

 

 Mehta JS, Kocaba V, Soh YQ. The future of keratoplasty: cell-based therapy, regenerative medicine, bioengineering 

keratoplasty, gene therapy. Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2019 Jul;30(4):286-291. doi: 10.1097/ICU.0000000000000573. 

 

 Lee MJ*, Bajaj RP*, Mihailovic A, Iyer JV, Jampel HD, Friedman DS. Outcomes of a Modified Trabeculectomy Closure 

Technique. J Glaucoma. 2019 Jul;28(7):584-587. doi: 10.1097/IJG.0000000000001263. 

 

 Dascalu J, Liu M, Lycett K, Grobler AC, He M, Burgner DP, Wong TY, Wake M. Retinal microvasculature: population 

epidemiology and concordance in Australian children aged 11-12 years and their parents. BMJ Open. 2019 Jul 

4;9(Suppl 3):44-52. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022399. 

 

 Li J, Yue M, Zhang W. Subgroup identification via homogeneity pursuit for dense longitudinal/spatial data. Stat Med. 

2019 Jul 30;38(17):3256-3271. doi: 10.1002/sim.8192. Epub 2019 May 7. 

 

 Wong KH, Tham YC, Nguyen DQ, Dai W, Tan NYQ, Mathijia S, Neelam K, Cheung CY, Sabanayagam C, Schmetterer L, 

Wong TY, Cheng CY. Racial differences and determinants of macular thickness profiles in multiethnic Asian 

population: the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Jul;103(7):894-899. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312447. 

 

 Keeffe JE, Casson RJ, Pesudovs K, Taylor HR, Cicinelli MV, Das A, Flaxman SR, Jonas JB, Kempen JH, Leasher J, Limburg 

H, Naidoo K, Silvester AJ, Stevens GA, Tahhan N, Wong TY, Resnikoff S, Bourne RRA. Prevalence and causes of vision 



43 
 

loss in South-east Asia and Oceania in 2015: magnitude, temporal trends and projections.  Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 

Jul;103(7):878-884. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-311946. 

 

 Kahloun R, Khairallah M, Resnikoff S, Cicinelli MV, Flaxman SR, Das A, Jonas JB, Keeffe JE, Kempen JH, Leasher J, 

Limburg H, Naidoo K, Pesudovs K, Silvester AJ, Tahhan N, Taylor HR, Wong TY, Bourne RRA. Prevalence and causes of 

vision loss in North Africa and Middle East in 2015: magnitude, temporal trends and projections. Br J Ophthalmol. 

2019 Jul;103(7):863-870. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312068. 

 

 Nangia V*, Jonas JB*, George R, Lingam V, Ellwein L, Cicinelli MV, Das A, Flaxman SR, Keeffe JE, Kempen JH, Leasher J, 

Limburg H, Naidoo K, Pesudovs K, Resnikoff S, Silvester AJ, Tahhan N, Taylor HR, Wong TY, Bourne RRA; Vision Loss 

Expert Group of the Global Burden of Disease Study. Prevalence and causes of blindness and vision impairment: 

magnitude, temporal trends and projections in South and Central Asia. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Jul;103(7):871-877. 

doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312292. 

 

 Prem Senthil M, Khadka J, Gilhotra JS, Simon S, Fenwick EK, Lamoureux E, Pesudovs K. Understanding quality of life 

impact in people with retinal vein occlusion: a qualitative inquiry. Clin Exp Optom. 2019 Jul;102(4):406-411. doi: 

10.1111/cxo.12875. 

 

 Yong KL, Chng CL, Ming Sie N, Lang S, Yang M, Looi A, Choo CT, Shen S, Seah LL. Methotrexate as an Adjuvant in 

Severe Thyroid Eye Disease: Does It Really Work as a Steroid-Sparing Agent? Ophthalmic Plast Reconstr Surg. 2019 

Jul/Aug;35(4):369-373. doi: 10.1097/IOP.0000000000001279. 

 

 Bandeira F, Yam GH, Fuest M, Ong HS, Liu YC, Seah XY, Shen SY, Mehta JS. Urea-De-Epithelialized Human Amniotic 

Membrane for Ocular Surface Reconstruction. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2019 Jul;8(7):620-626. doi: 10.1002/sctm.18-

0201. Epub 2019 Mar 13. 

 

 Jiang X, Tarczy-Hornoch K, Stram D, Katz J, Friedman DS, Tielsch JM, Matsumura S, Saw SM, Mitchell P, Rose KA, Cotter 

SA, Varma R; POPEYE Consortium members. Prevalence, Characteristics, and Risk Factors of Moderate/High 

Hyperopia among Multiethnic Children 6 to 72 Months Old - A Pooled Analysis of Individual Participant Data. 

Ophthalmology. 2019 Jul;126(7):989-999. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2019.02.021. Epub 2019 Feb 26. 

 

 Mursch-Edlmayr AS, Luft N, Podkowinski D, Ring M, Schmetterer L, Bolz M. Differences in Optic Nerve Head Blood 

Flow Regulation in Normal Tension Glaucoma Patients and Healthy Controls as Assessed with Laser Speckle 

Flowgraphy During the Water Drinking Test. J Glaucoma. 2019 Jul;28(7):649-654. doi: 

10.1097/IJG.0000000000001258. 

 

 Fu H, Baskaran M, Xu Y, Lin S, Kee Wong DW, Liu J, Tun TA, Mahesh M, Perera SA, Aung T. A Deep Learning System 

for Automated Angle-Closure Detection in Anterior Segment Optical Coherence Tomography Images.  Am J 

Ophthalmol. 2019 Jul;203:37-45. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2019.02.028. Epub 2019 Mar 6. 

 

 Tan CJ, Lim SWT, Toh YL, Ng T, Yeo A, Shwe M, Foo KM, Chu P, Jain A, Koo SL, Dent RA, Ng RCH, Yap YS, Lim EH, Loh 

KW, Chay WY, Lee GE, Tan TJY, Beh SY, Wong M, Chan JJ, Khor CC, Ho HK, Chan A. Replication and Meta-analysis of 

the Association between BDNF Val66Met Polymorphism and Cognitive Impairment in Patients Receiving 

Chemotherapy. Mol Neurobiol. 2019 Jul;56(7):4741-4750. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1410-4. 

 



44 
 

 Bellemo V*, Lim G*, Rim TH, Tan GSW, Cheung CY, Sadda S, He MG, Tufail A, Lee ML, Hsu W, Ting DSW. Artificial 

Intelligence Screening for Diabetic Retinopathy: the Real-World Emerging Application. Curr Diab Rep. 2019 Jul 

31;19(9):72. doi: 10.1007/s11892-019-1189-3. 

 

 Qiu B, Tan A, Veluchamy AB, Li Y, Murray H, Cheng W, Liu C, Busoy JM, Chen QY, Sistla S, Hunziker W, Cheung CMG, 

Wong TY, Hong W, Luesch H, Wang X. Apratoxin S4 Inspired by a Marine Natural Product, a New Treatment Option 

for Ocular Angiogenic Diseases. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jul 1;60(8):3254-3263. doi: 10.1167/iovs.19-26936. 

 

 Lanca C, Teo A, Vivagandan A, Htoon HM, Najjar RP, Spiegel DP, Pu SH*, Saw SM*. The Effects of Different Outdoor 

Environments, Sunglasses and Hats on Light Levels: Implications for Myopia Prevention. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2019 

Jul 18;8(4):7. doi: 10.1167/tvst.8.4.7. eCollection 2019 Jul. 

 

 Njah K*, Chakraborty S*, Qiu B, Arumugam S, Raju A, Pobbati AV, Lakshmanan M, Tergaonkar V, Thibault G, Wang X, 

Hong W. A Role of Agrin in Maintaining the Stability of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-2 during Tumor 

Angiogenesis. Cell Rep. 2019 Jul 23;28(4):949-965.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.036. 

 

 Bata AM, Fondi K, Szegedi S, Aschinger GC, Hommer A, Schmidl D, Chua J, Werkmeister RM, Garhofer G, Schmetterer 

L. Age-Related Decline of Retinal Oxygen Extraction in Healthy Subjects. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jul 

1;60(8):3162-3169. doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-26234. 

 

 Sandalova E, Ledford JG, Baskaran M, Dijkstra S. Translational Medicine in the Era of Social Media: A Survey of 

Scientific and Clinical Communities. Front Med (Lausanne). 2019 Jul 3;6:152. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00152. 

eCollection 2019. 

 

 Rozema J, Dankert S, Iribarren R, Lanca C, Saw SM. Axial Growth and Lens Power Loss at Myopia Onset in Singaporean 

Children. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jul 1;60(8):3091-3099. doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-26247. 

 

 Wieduwild R, Xu Y, Ostrovidov S, Khademhosseini A, Zhang Y, Orive G. Engineering Hydrogels beyond a Hydrated 

Network. Adv Healthc Mater. 2019 Jul;8(14):e1900038. doi: 10.1002/adhm.201900038. 

 

 Ji X, Yao X, Klenner A, Gan Y, Gaeta AL, Hendon CP, Lipson M. Chip-based frequency comb sources for optical 

coherence tomography. Optics Exp. 2019 Jul;27(14):19896. doi: 10.1364/OE.27.019896. 

 

 Bellemo V, Burlina P, Yong L, Wong TY, Ting DSW. Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs) for Retinal Fundus Image 

Synthesis. Asian Conference on Computer Vision. 2019 Jul; 11367:289-302. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-21074-8_24. 

 

 Bellemo V, Yip MYT, Xie Y., Lee XQ, Nguyen QD, Hamzah H, Ho J, Lim G, Xu D, Lee ML, Hsu W, Garcia-Franco R, Menon 

G, Lamoureux E, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Ting DSW. Artificial Intelligence Using Deep Learning in Classifying Side of the 

Eyes and Width of Field for Retinal Fundus Photographs. Asian Conference on Computer Vision. 2019 Jul; 11367:309-

315. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-21074-8_26. 

 

 Chew MC, Tan DT, Chee SP, Li L. Optimising graft survival in endothelial keratoplasty for endothelial failure 

secondary to cytomegalovirus endotheliitis. J Ophthalmic Inflamm Infect. 2019 Aug 2;9(1):15. doi: 10.1186/s12348-

019-0180-0. 

 



45 
 

 Lee EJ, Kim TW, Kim JA, Kim GN, Kim JM, Girard MJA, Mari JM, Kim H. Elucidation of the Strongest Factors Influencing 

Rapid Retinal Nerve Fiber Layer Thinning in Glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Aug 1;60(10):3343-3351. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.18-26519. 

 

 Gandhi M, Ang M, Teo K, Wong CW, Wei YC, Tan RL, Janssen MF, Luo N. EQ-5D-5L is More Responsive than EQ-5D-3L 

to Treatment Benefit of Cataract Surgery. Patient. 2019 Aug;12(4):383-392. doi: 10.1007/s40271-018-00354-7. 

 

 Pantalon A, Pfister M, Aranha Dos Santos V, Sapeta S, Unterhuber A, Pircher N, Schmidinger G, Garhofer G, Schmidl 

D, Schmetterer L, Werkmeister RM. Ultrahigh-resolution anterior segment optical coherence tomography for 

analysis of corneal microarchitecture during wound healing. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019 Aug;97(5):e761-e771. doi: 

10.1111/aos.14053. 

 

 Cheung CMG, Ohno-Matsui K, Wong TY, Li T, Asmus F, Leal S; MYRROR Study Investigators. Influence of myopic 

macular degeneration severity on treatment outcomes with intravitreal aflibercept in the MYRROR study. Acta 

Ophthalmol. 2019 Aug;97(5):e729-e735. doi: 10.1111/aos.14035. 

 

 Invernizzi A, Nguyen V, Teo K, Barthelmes D, Fung A, Vincent A, Gillies M. Five-year real-world outcomes of occult 

and classic choroidal neovascularization: data from the Fight Retinal Blindness! Project. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 

Aug;204:105-112. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2019.03.001. 

 

 Wong TY, Ogura Y, Lee WK, Iida T, Chen SJ, Mitchell P, Gemmy Cheung CM, Zhang Z, Leal S, Ishibashi T; Planet 

Investigators. Efficacy and Safety of Intravitreal Aflibercept for Polypoidal Choroidal Vasculopathy: 2-Year Results 

of the PLANET Study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Aug;204:80-89. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2019.02.027. 

 

 Khoo K, Man REK, Rees G, Gupta P, Lamoureux EL, Fenwick EK. The relationship between diabetic retinopathy and 

psychosocial functioning: a systematic review. Qual Life Res. 2019 Aug;28(8):2017-2039. doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-

02165-1. 

 

 Echave MC, Hernaez-Moya R, Iturriaga L, Pedraz JL, Lakshminarayanan R, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A, Taebnia N, Orive G. 

Recent advances in gelatin-based therapeutics. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2019 Aug;19(8):773-779. doi: 

10.1080/14712598.2019.1610383. 

 

 Tun TA*, Wang X*, Baskaran M, Nongpiur ME, Tham YC, Perera SA, Strouthidis NG, Aung T, Cheng CY, Girard MJA. 

Variation of Peripapillary Scleral Shape With Age. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Aug 1;60(10):3275-3282. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.19-26777. 

 

 Li Z*, Goh TW*, Yam GH, Thompson BC, Hu H, Setiawan M, Sun W, Riau AK, Tan DT, Khor KA, Mehta JS. A sintered 

graphene/titania material as a synthetic keratoprosthesis skirt for end-stage corneal disorders. Acta Biomater. 2019 

Aug;94:585-596. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2019.05.053. Epub 2019 May 24. 

 Tong L, Matsuura E, Takahashi M, Nagano T, Kawazu K. Effects of Anti-Glaucoma Prostaglandin Ophthalmic Solutions 

on Cultured Human Corneal Epithelial Cells. Curr Eye Res. 2019 Aug;44(8):856-862. doi: 

10.1080/02713683.2019.1597127. 

 

 Zhou ZD, Xie SP, Saw WT, Ho PGH, Wang H, Lei Z, Yi Z, Tan EK. The Therapeutic Implications of Tea Polyphenols 

Against Dopamine (DA) Neuron Degeneration in Parkinson's Disease (PD). Cells. 2019 Aug 16;8(8). pii: E911. doi: 

10.3390/cells8080911. 



46 
 

 

 Wong YL*, Hysi P*, Cheung G*, Tedja M, Hoang QV, Tompson SWJ, Whisenhunt KN, Verhoeven V, Zhao W, Hess M, 

Wong CW, Kifley A, Hosoda Y, Haarman AEG, Hopf S, Laspas P, Sensaki S, Sim X, Miyake M, Tsujikawa A, Lamoureux E, 

Ohno-Matsui K, Nickels S, Mitchell P, Wong TY, Wang JJ, Hammond CJ, Barathi VA, Cheng CY, Yamashiro K, Young TL#, 

Klaver CCW#, Saw SM#; Consortium of Refractive Error, Myopia (CREAM). Genetic variants linked to myopic macular 

degeneration in persons with high myopia: CREAM Consortium. PLoS One. 2019 Aug 15;14(8):e0220143. doi: 

10.1371/journal.pone.0220143. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Tan TE, Nguyen Q, Chua J, Schmetterer L, Tan GSW, Wong CW, Tsai A, Cheung GCM, Wong TY, Ting DSW. Global 

Assessment of Retinal Arteriolar, Venular and Capillary Microcirculations Using Fundus Photographs and Optical 

Coherence Tomography Angiography in Diabetic Retinopathy. Sci Rep. 2019 Aug 13;9(1):11751. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-019-47770-9. 

 

 Lim LS, Lim XH, Tan L. Retinal Vascular Oxygen Saturation and Its Variation With Refractive Error and Axial Length. 

Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2019 Aug 7;8(4):22. doi: 10.1167/tvst.8.4.22. eCollection 2019 Jul. 

 

 Danielewska ME, Messner A, Werkmeister RM, Placek MM, Aranha Dos Santos V, Rękas M, Schmetterer L. 

Relationship Between the Parameters of Corneal and Fundus Pulse Signals Acquired With a Combined Ultrasound 

and Laser Interferometry Technique. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2019 Aug 1;8(4):15. doi: 10.1167/tvst.8.4.15. eCollection 

2019 Jul. 

 

 van der Lee SJ, Knol MJ, Chauhan G, Satizabal CL, Smith AV, Hofer E, Bis JC, Hibar DP, Hilal S, van den Akker EB, Arfanakis 

K, Bernard M, Yanek LR, Amin N, Crivello F, Cheung JW, Harris TB, Saba Y, Lopez OL, Li S, van der Grond J, Yu L, Paus T, 

Roshchupkin GV, Amouyel P, Jahanshad N, Taylor KD, Yang Q, Mathias RA, Boehringer S, Mazoyer B, Rice K, Cheng CY, 

Maillard P, van Heemst D, Wong TY, Niessen WJ, Beiser AS, Beekman M, Zhao W, Nyquist PA, Chen C, Launer LJ, Psaty 

BM, Ikram MK, Vernooij MW, Schmidt H, Pausova Z, Becker DM, De Jager PL, Thompson PM, van Duijn CM, Bennett 

DA, Slagboom PE, Schmidt R, Longstreth WT, Ikram MA, Seshadri S, Debette S, Gudnason V, Adams HHH, DeCarli C. A 

genome-wide association study identifies genetic loci associated with specific lobar brain volumes. Commun Biol. 

2019 Aug 2;2:285. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0537-9. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Garhofer G, Schmetterer L. Nitric oxide: a drug target for glaucoma revisited. Drug Discov Today. 2019 

Aug;24(8):1614-1620. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2019.05.033. 

 

 Liu Z, Liow SS, Lai SL, Alli-Shaik A, Holder GE, Parikh BH, Krishnakumar S, Li Z, Tan MJ, Gunaratne J, Barathi VA, Hunziker 

W, Lakshminarayanan R, Tan CWT, Chee CK, Zhao P, Lingam G, Loh XJ, Su X. Retinal-detachment repair and vitreous-

like-body reformation via a thermogelling polymer endotamponade. Nat Biomed Eng. 2019 Aug;3(8):598-610. doi: 

10.1038/s41551-019-0382-7. 

 

 Gunasekeran DV, Agrawal R, Agarwal A, Carreno E, Raje D, Aggarwal K, Kon OM, Nguyen QD, Pavesio C, Gupta V; COTS-

1 Study Group. The Collaborative Ocular Tuberculosis Study (COTS)-1: A Multinational Review of 251 Patients With 

Tubercular Retinal Vasculitis. Retina. 2019 Aug;39(8):1623-1630. doi: 10.1097/IAE.0000000000002194. 

 

 Wong CL, Ang M, Tan ACS. Clinical Applications of Optical Coherence Angiography Imaging in Ocular Vascular 

Diseases. Appl Sci. 2019 Aug;9(12):2577. doi: 10.3390/app9122577. 

 



47 
 

 Wang X, Rumpel H, Baskaran M, Tun TA, Strouthidis N, Perera SA, Nongpiur ME, Lim WEH, Aung T, Milea D, Girard 

MJA. Optic Nerve Tortuosity and Globe Proptosis in Normal and Glaucoma Subjects. J Glaucoma. 2019 

Aug;28(8):691-696. doi: 10.1097/IJG.0000000000001270. 

 

 Hendon CP, Lye TH, Yao X, Gan Y, Marboe CC.  Optical coherence tomography imaging of cardiac substrates. Quant 

Imaging Med Surg. 2019 Aug;9(5):882-904. doi: 10.21037/qims.2019.05.09. 

 

 Quek QYD, Cheung N. Diabetic Retinopathy and Heart Disease. Front Diabetes. 2019 Aug;27(1):54-63. doi: 

10.1159/000486264. 

 

 Farooqui S, Chan ASY, Cullen JF, Milea D. Too Young to Undergo Temporal Artery Biopsy? Calciphylaxis-Related 

Anterior Ischemic Optic Neuropathy. Neuro-Ophthalmology. 2019 Aug;43(4):252-255. doi: 

10.1080/01658107.2018.1493739. 

 

 Ting DSW, Peng L, Varadarajan AV, Liu TYA. Novel Retinal Imaging in Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk Factors and 

Systemic Vascular Diseases. Front Diabetes. 2019 Aug;27(1):106-118. doi: 10.1159/000486269. 

 

 Agrawal R, Ang B, Balne PK, Richards C, Smart T, Cardoso J, Shima D, Jones PH, Pavesio C. Non-Occlusive Retinal 

Vascular Inflammation and Role of Red Blood Cell Deformability in Birdshot Chorioretinopathy. Ocul Immunol 

Inflamm. 2019 Aug ;27(6):978-986. doi: 10.1080/09273948.2018.1485959. 

 

 Ting DSW, Tan TE, Lim CCT. Development and Validation of a Deep Learning System for Detection of Active 

Pulmonary Tuberculosis on Chest Radiographs: Clinical and Technical Considerations. Clin Infect Dis. 2019 Aug 

16;69(5):748-750. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy969. 

 

 Mayandi V, Sridhar S, Fazil MHUT, Goh ETL, Htoon HM, Orive G, Choong YK, Saravanan R, Beuerman RW, Barkham 

TMS, Yang L, Baskaran M, Jhanji V, Loh XJ, Verma NK, Lakshminarayanan R. Protective Action of Linear 

Polyethylenimine against Staphylococcus aureus Colonization and Exaggerated Inflammation in Vitro and in Vivo. 

ACS Infect Dis. 2019 Aug 9;5(8):1411-1422. doi: 10.1021/acsinfecdis.9b00102. 

 

 Tan WJ, Wang MM, Riccardi-Castagnoli P, Tang T, Chee SP, Lim TS, Chan ASY. Single-cell-MYD88 sequencing of 

isolated B cells from vitreous biopsies aids vitreoretinal lymphoma diagnosis. Blood. 2019 Aug 22;134(8):709-712. 

doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000022. 

 

 Lim J, Chia A, Saffari SE, Handa S. Factors Affecting Pupil Reactivity After Cycloplegia in Asian Children.  Asia Pac J 

Ophthalmol (Phila). 2019 Jul-Aug;8(4):304-307. doi: 10.1097/APO.0000000000000254. 

 

 Messner A, Fischak C, Pfister M, Schutzenberger K, Garreis F, Paulsen F, Stegmann H, Aranha Dos Santos V, Garhofer 

G, Schmetterer L, Werkmeister RM. Characterization of dry eye disease in a mouse model by optical coherence 

tomography and fluorescein staining. Biomed Opt Express. 2019 Aug 28;10(9):4884-4895. doi: 

10.1364/BOE.10.004884. eCollection 2019 Sep 1. 

 

 Kosior-Jarecka E, Sagan M, Wrobel-Dudzinska D, Lukasik U, Aung T, Khor CC, Kocki J, Zarnowski T. Estrogen receptor 

gene polymorphisms and their influence on clinical status of Caucasian patients with primary open angle glaucoma. 

Ophthalmic Genet. 2019 Aug;40(4):323-328. doi: 10.1080/13816810.2019.1639201. 

 



48 
 

 Hoang QV*, Rohrbach D*, McFadden SA, Mamou J. Regional changes in the elastic properties of myopic Guinea pig 

sclera. Exp Eye Res. 2019 Sep;186:107739. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2019.107739. 

 

 Duarte Campos DF, Rohde M, Ross M, Anvari P, Blaeser A, Vogt M, Panfil C, Yam GH, Mehta JS, Fischer H, Walter P, 

Fuest M. Corneal bioprinting utilizing collagen-based bioinks and primary human keratocytes. J Biomed Mater Res 

A. 2019 Sep;107(9):1945-1953. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.36702. 

 

 Dinoro J, Maher M, Talebian S, Jafarkhani M, Mehrali M, Orive G, Foroughi J, Lord MS, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A. Sulfated 

polysaccharide-based scaffolds for orthopaedic tissue engineering. Biomaterials. 2019 Sep;214:119214. doi: 

10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.05.025. 

 

 Talks J, Daien V, Finger RP, Eldem B, Sakamoto T, Cardillo JA, Mitchell P, Wong TY, Korobelnik JF. The use of real-world 

evidence for evaluating anti-vascular endothelial growth factor treatment of neovascular age-related macular 

degeneration.  Surv Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep - Oct;64(5):707-719. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2019.02.008. 

 

 Gupta P, Lanca C, Gan ATL, Soh P, Thakur S, Tao Y, Kumari N, Man REK, Fenwick EK, Lamoureux EL. The Association 

between Body Composition using Dual energy X-ray Absorptiometry and Type-2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and 

Meta-Analysis of Observational studies.  Sci Rep. 2019 Sep 2;9(1):12634. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49162-5. 

 

 Wong CW, Teo YCK, Tsai STA, Ting SWD, Yeo YSI, Wong WKD, Lee SY, Wong TY, Cheung CMG. Characterization of the 

Choroidal Vasculature in Myopic Maculopathy with Optical Coherence Tomographic Angiography. Retina. 2019 

Sep;39(9):1742-1750. doi: 10.1097/IAE.0000000000002233. 

 

 Fenwick EK, Man REK, Gan ATL, Kumari N, Wong C, Aravindhan A, Gupta P, Wang JJ, Mitchell P, Wong TY, Cheng CY, 

Lamoureux EL. Beyond vision loss: the independent impact of diabetic retinopathy on vision-related quality of life 

in a Chinese Singaporean population. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep;103(9):1314-1319. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-

313082. 

 

 Chua D, Htoon HM, Lim L, Chan CM, Mehta JS, Tan DTH, Rosman M. Eighteen-year prospective audit of LASIK 

outcomes for myopia in 53 731 eyes. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep;103(9):1228-1234. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-

312587. 

 

 Viljanen A, Soinio M, Cheung CY, Hannukainen JC, Karlsson HK, Wong TY, Hughes A, Salminen P, Nuutila P, Vesti E, 

Tapp RJ. Effects of bariatric surgery on retinal microvascular architecture in obese patients. Int J Obes (Lond). 2019 

Sep;43(9):1675-1680. doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0242-7. 

 

 Invernizzi A, Teo K, Nguyen V, Daniell M, Squirrell D, Barthelmes D, Gillies MC.  Type 3 neovascularisation (retinal 

angiomatous proliferation) treated with antivascular endothelial growth factor: real-world outcomes at 24 months. 

Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep;103(9):1337-1341. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312944. 

 

 Mursch-Edlmayr AS, Luft N, Podkowinski D, Ring M, Schmetterer L, Bolz M. Short-term effect on the ocular circulation 

induced by unilateral intravitreal injection of aflibercept in age-related maculopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019 

Sep;97(6):e927-e932. doi: 10.1111/aos.14098. 

 

 Matsumura S, Kuo AN, Saw SM. An Update of Eye Shape and Myopia. Eye Contact Lens. 2019 Sep;45(5):279-285. doi: 

10.1097/ICL.0000000000000571. 



49 
 

 

 Fan KR, Baskaran M, Nongpiur ME, Htoon HM, de Leon JMS, Perera SA, Belkin M, Aung T. Investigating the 

neuroprotective effect of Copolymer-1 in acute primary angle closure - Interim report of a randomized placebo-

controlled double-masked clinical trial. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep;97(6):e827-e832. doi: 10.1111/aos.14099.  

 

 Low JH*, Li P*, Chew EGY*, Zhou B, Suzuki K, Zhang T, Lian MM, Liu M, Aizawa E, Rodriguez Esteban C, Yong KSM, 

Chen Q, Campistol JM, Fang M, Khor CC, Foo JN, Izpisua Belmonte JC, Xia Y. Generation of Human PSC-Derived Kidney 

Organoids with Patterned Nephron Segments and a De Novo Vascular Network. Cell Stem Cell. 2019 Sep 5;25(3):373-

387.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2019.06.009. 

 

 Teumer A, Li Y, Ghasemi S, Prins BP, Wuttke M, Hermle T, Giri A, Sieber KB, Qiu C, Kirsten H, Tin A, Chu AY, Bansal N, 

Feitosa MF, Wang L, Chai JF, Cocca M, Fuchsberger C, Gorski M, Hoppmann A, Horn K, Li M, Marten J, Noce D, Nutile 

T, Sedaghat S, Sveinbjornsson G, Tayo BO, van der Most PJ, Xu Y, Yu Z, Gerstner L, Arnlov J, Bakker SJL, Baptista D, 

Biggs ML, Boerwinkle E, Brenner H, Burkhardt R, Carroll RJ, Chee ML, Chee ML, Chen M, Cheng CY, Cook JP, Coresh J, 

Corre T, Danesh J, de Borst MH, De Grandi A, de Mutsert R, de Vries APJ, Degenhardt F, Dittrich K, Divers J, Eckardt 

KU, Ehret G, Endlich K, Felix JF, Franco OH, Franke A, Freedman B, Freitag-Wolf S, Gansevoort RT, Giedraitis V, Gogele 

M, Grundner-Culemann F, Gudbjartsson DF, Gudnason V, Hamet P, Harris TB, Hicks AA, Holm H, Foo VHX, Hwang SJ, 

Ikram MA, Ingelsson E, Jaddoe VWV, Jakobsdottir J, Josyula NS, Jung B, Kähonen M, Khor CC, Kiess W, Koenig W, 

Korner A, Kovacs P, Kramer H, Kramer BK, Kronenberg F, Lange LA, Langefeld CD, Lee JJ, Lehtimaki T, Lieb W, Lim SC, 

Lind L, Lindgren CM, Liu J, Loeffler M, Lyytikainen LP, Mahajan A, Maranville JC, Mascalzoni D, McMullen B, Meisinger 

C, Meitinger T, Miliku K, Mook-Kanamori DO, Muller-Nurasyid M, Mychaleckyj JC, Nauck M, Nikus K, Ning B, Noordam 

R, Connell JO, Olafsson I, Palmer ND, Peters A, Podgornaia AI, Ponte B, Poulain T, Pramstaller PP, Rabelink TJ, Raffield 

LM, Reilly DF, Rettig R, Rheinberger M, Rice KM, Rivadeneira F, Runz H, Ryan KA, Sabanayagam C, Saum KU, Schottker 

B, Shaffer CM, Shi Y, Smith AV, Strauch K, Stumvoll M, Sun BB, Szymczak S, Tai ES, Tan NYQ, Taylor KD, Teren A, Tham 

YC, Thiery J, Thio CHL, Thomsen H, Thorsteinsdottir U, Tonjes A, Tremblay J, Uitterlinden AG, van der Harst P, Verweij 

N, Vogelezang S, Volker U, Waldenberger M, Wang C, Wilson OD, Wong C, Wong TY, Yang Q, Yasuda M4, Akilesh S, 

Bochud M, Boger CA, Devuyst O, Edwards TL, Ho K, Morris AP, Parsa A, Pendergrass SA, Psaty BM, Rotter JI, Stefansson 

K, Wilson JG, Susztak K, Snieder H, Heid IM, Scholz M, Butterworth AS, Hung AM, Pattaro C, Kottgen A. Genome-wide 

association meta-analyses and fine-mapping elucidate pathways influencing albuminuria. Nat Commun. 2019 Sep 

11;10(1):4130. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11576-0. 

 

 Le Roux B, Lenaers G, Zanlonghi X, Amati-Bonneau P, Chabrun F, Foulonneau T, Caignard A, Leruez S, Gohier P, 

Procaccio V, Milea D, den Dunnen JT, Reynier P, Ferre M. OPA1: 516 unique variants and 831 patients registered in 

an updated centralized Variome database. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2019 Sep 10;14(1):214. doi: 10.1186/s13023-019-

1187-1. 

 

 Suh MH, Park JW, Khandelwal N, Agrawal R. Peripapillary Choroidal Vascularity Index and Microstructure of 

Parapapillary Atrophy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Sep 3;60(12):3768-3775. doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-26286. 

 

 Messner A, Werkmeister RM, Seidel G, Stegmann H, Schmetterer L, Aranha Dos Santos V. Light-induced changes of 

the subretinal space of the temporal retina observed via optical coherence tomography. Sci Rep. 2019 Sep 

20;9(1):13632. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50057-8. 

 

 Schuetzenberger K, Pfister M, Messner A, Froehlich V, Garhoefer G, Hohenadl C, Schmetterer L, Werkmeister RM. 

Comparison of optical coherence tomography and high frequency ultrasound imaging in mice for the assessment of 

skin morphology and intradermal volumes. Sci Rep. 2019 Sep 20;9(1):13643. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50104-4. 



50 
 

 

 BIRTH-GENE (BIG) Study Working Group, Huang T, Wang T, Zheng Y, Ellervik C, Li X, Gao M, Fang Z, Chai JF, Ahluwalia 

TVS, Wang Y, Voortman T, Noordam R, Frazier-Wood A, Scholz M, Sonestedt E, Akiyama M, Dorajoo R, Zhou A, 

Kilpeläinen TO, Kleber ME, Crozier SR, Godfrey KM, Lemaitre R, Felix JF, Shi Y, Gupta P, Khor CC, Lehtimäki T, Wang 

CA, Tiesler CMT, Thiering E, Standl M, Rzehak P, Marouli E, He M, Lecoeur C, Corella D, Lai CQ, Moreno LA, Pitkänen 

N, Boreham CA, Zhang T, Saw SM, Ridker PM, Graff M, van Rooij FJA, Uitterlinden AG, Hofman A, van Heemst D, 

Rosendaal FR, de Mutsert R, Burkhardt R, Schulz CA, Ericson U, Kamatani Y, Yuan JM, Power C, Hansen T, Sørensen 

TIA, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Delgado G, Cooper C, Djousse L, Rivadeneira F, Jameson K, Zhao W, Liu J, Lee NR, 

Raitakari O, Kähönen M, Viikari J, Grote V, Langhendries JP, Koletzko B, Escribano J, Verduci E, Dedoussis G, Yu C, Tham 

YC, Lim B, Lim SH, Froguel P, Balkau B,Fink NR, Vinding RK, Sevelsted A, Bisgaard H, Coltell O, Dallongeville J, Gottrand 

F, Pahkala K, Niinikoski H, Hypponen E, Pedersen O, Marz W, Inskip H, Jaddoe VWV, Dennison E, Wong TY, 

Sabanayagam C, Tai ES, Mohlke KL, Mackey DA, Gruszfeld D, Deloukas P, Tucker KL, Fumeron F, Bønnelykke K, Rossing 

P, Estruch R, Ordovas JM, Arnett DK, Meirhaeghe A, Amouyel P, Cheng CY, Sim X, Teo YY, van Dam RM, Koh WP, Orho-

Melander M, Loeffler M, Kubo M, Thiery J, Mook-Kanamori DO, Mozaffarian D, Psaty BM, Franco OH, Wu T, North KE, 

Davey Smith G, Chavarro JE, Chasman DI, Qi L. Association of Birth Weight With Type 2 Diabetes and Glycemic Traits: 

A Mendelian Randomization Study. JAMA Netw Open. 2019 Sep 4;2(9):e1910915. doi: 

10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.10915. 

 

 Hadoux X, Hui F, Lim JKH, Masters CL, Pebay A, Chevalier S, Ha J, Loi S, Fowler CJ, Rowe C, Villemagne VL, Taylor EN, 

Fluke C, Soucy JP, Lesage F, Sylvestre JP, Rosa-Neto P, Mathotaarachchi S, Gauthier S, Nasreddine ZS, Arbour JD, 

Rheaume MA, Beaulieu S, Dirani M, Nguyen CTO, Bui BV, Williamson R, Crowston JG, van Wijngaarden P. Non-invasive 

in vivo hyperspectral imaging of the retina for potential biomarker use in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Commun. 2019 

Sep 17;10(1):4227. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12242-1. 

 

 Ting DSW, Peng L, Varadarajan AV, Keane PA, Burlina P, Chiang MF, Schmetterer L, Pasquale LR, Bressler NM, Webster 

DR, Abramoff M, Wong TY. Deep learning in ophthalmology: The technical and clinical considerations.  Prog Retin 

Eye Res. 2019 Sep;72:100759. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2019.04.003. 

 

 Wong MYZ, Tan CS, Venketasubramanian N, Chen C, Kamran Ikram M, Cheng CY, Hilal S. Prevalence and Risk Factors 

for Cognitive Impairment and Dementia in Indians: A Multiethnic Perspective from a Singaporean Study. J 

Alzheimers Dis. 2019;71(1):341-351. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190610. 

 

 Ansah JP, Koh V, Korne D, Jayabaskar T, Matchara DB, Quek D. Modeling manpower requirement for a changing 

population health needs: The case of ophthalmic nurses and allied health ophthalmic professionals. Health Policy 

and Technology. 2019 Sep;8:282-295. doi: 10.1016/j.hlpt.2019.08.004. 

 

 Mathur R, de Korne DF, Wong TY, Hwee DTT, Chiang PP, Wong E, Chakraborty B, Lamoureux EL. Shared Care for 

Patients with Diabetes at Risk of Retinopathy: A Feasibility Trial. Int J Integr Care. 2019 Sep 18;19(3):18. doi: 

10.5334/ijic.4208. 

 

 Fong PY, Shih KC, Lam PY, Chan TCY, Jhanji V, Tong L. Role of tear film biomarkers in the diagnosis and management 

of dry eye disease. Taiwan J Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep 12;9(3):150-159. doi: 10.4103/tjo.tjo_56_19. eCollection 2019 Jul-

Sep. 

 

 Thia ZZ, Tong L. Update on the role of impression cytology in ocular surface disease. Taiwan J Ophthalmol. 2019 Sep 

12;9(3):141-149. doi: 10.4103/tjo.tjo_57_19. eCollection 2019 Jul-Sep. 



51 
 

 

 Liu E, Kaidonis G, McComish BJ, Gillies MC, Abhary S, Essex RW, Chang JH, Pal B, Daniell M, Lake S, Petrovsky N, Hewitt 

AW, Jenkins A, Lamoureux EL, Gleadle JM, Craig JE, Burdon KP. MicroRNA-Related Genetic Variants Are Associated 

With Diabetic Retinopathy in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Sep 3;60(12):3937-3942. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.18-25570. 

 

 Chiam NPY, Mehta JS. Comparing Patient-Reported Outcomes of Laser In Situ Keratomileusis and Small-Incision 

Lenticule Extraction. A Review. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2019 Sep-Oct;8(5):377-384. doi: 

10.1097/APO.0000000000000258. 

 

 Wang Q, Lim L, Lim SWY, Htoon HM. Comparison of Corneal Epithelial and Stromal Thickness between Keratoconic 

and Normal Eyes in an Asian Population. Ophthalmic Res. 2019 Sep;62(3):134-140. doi: 10.1159/000500313. 

 

 Lio DCS*, Liu C*, Oo MMS, Wiraja C, Teo MHY, Zheng M, Chew SWT, Wang X, Xu C. Transdermal delivery of small 

interfering RNAs with topically applied mesoporous silica nanoparticles for facile skin cancer treatment. Nanoscale. 

2019 Sep 19;11(36):17041-17051. doi: 10.1039/c9nr06303j. 

 

 Ramalingam R, Fazil MHUT, Verma NK, Arunachalam KD. Green synthesis, characterization and antibacterial 

evaluation of electrospun nickel oxide nanofibers. Mater Lett. 2019 Dec;256:126616. doi: 

10.1016/j.matlet.2019.126616. 

 

 Ji X*, Yao X*, Gan Y, Mohanty A, Tadayon MA, Hendon CP, Lipson M. On-chip tunable photonic delay line. APL 

Photonics. 2019 Sep;4:090803. doi: 10.1063/1.5111164. 

 

 Tsai ASH, Wong CW, Lim L, Yeo I, Wong D, Wong E, Ang CL, Ong SG, Lee SY, Tan G. Pediatric Retinal Detachment in 

an Asian Population with High Prevalence of Myopia: Clinical Characteristics, Surgical Outcomes, and Prognostic 

Factors. Retina. 2019 Sep;39(9):1751-1760. doi: 10.1097/IAE.0000000000002238. 

 

 Xu X, Phua A, Collinson SL, Hilal S, Ikram MK, Wong TY, Cheng CY, Venketasubramanian N, Chen C. Additive effect of 

cerebral atrophy on cognition in dementia-free elderly with cerebrovascular disease. Stroke Vasc Neurol. 2019 

Sep;4:e000202. doi: 10.1136/svn-2018-000202. 

 

 Cheung CMG, Yanagi Y, Akiba M, Tan A, Mathur R, Chan CM, Yeo I, Wong TY. Improved Detection and Diagnosis of 

Polypoidal Choroidal Vasculopathy using a Combination of Optical Coherence Tomography and Optical Coherence 

Tomography Angiography. Retina. 2019 Sep;39(9):1655-1663. doi: 10.1097/IAE.0000000000002228. 

 

 Seow WY, Kandasamy K, Peh GSL, Mehta JS, Sun W. Ultrathin, Strong, and Cell-Adhesive Agarose-Based Membranes 

Engineered as Substrates for Corneal Endothelial Cells.  ACS Biomater Sci Eng. Sep 2019;5(8):4067-4076. doi: 

10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b00610. 

 

 Xiong Q*, Wang N*, Liu X*, Chen S, Braganza CS, Bouma BE, Liu L*, Villiger M*. Constrained polarization evolution 

simplifies depth-resolved retardation measurements with polarization-sensitive optical coherence tomography. 

Biomed Opt Express. 2019 Sep 17;10(10):5207-5222. doi: 10.1364/BOE.10.005207. eCollection 2019 Oct 1. 

 



52 
 

 Peh RPK, Tan HZ, Liew ZH, Low JR, Foo M, Lim CC. Images of the month 3: Bilateral group B Streptococcus 

endophthalmitis - more than meets the eye. Clin Med (Lond). 2019 Sep;19(5):416-417. doi: 10.7861/clinmed.2019-

0187. 

 

 Nagaraja H, Mehta JS, Zhou X, Yam JC, Lam DSC. Will SMILE Become the New Benchmark of Corneal Laser Refractive 

Surgery? Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2019 Sep-Oct;8(5):351-354. doi: 10.1097/01.APO.0000579956.14784.91. 

 

 Lu SC, Liu FY, Hsieh CJ, Su FY, Wong TY, Tai MC, Chen JT, Lin GM. Quantitative Physical Fitness Measures Inversely 

Associated With Myopia Severity in Military Males: The CHIEF Study. Am J Mens Health. 2019 Sep-

Oct;13(5):1557988319883766. doi: 10.1177/1557988319883766. 

 

 Sandeep Kranthi Kiran A, Sireesha M, Ramalingam R, Kizhakeyil A, Verma NK, Lakshminarayanan R, Sampath Kumar 

TS, Doble M, Ramakrishna S. Modulation of biological properties by grain refinement and surface modification on 

titanium surfaces for implant-related infections. J Mater Sci. 2019 Oct; 54(20):13265-13282. 

 

 Kranthi Kiran AS, Kizhakeyil A, Ramalingam R, Verma NK, Lakshminarayanan R, Kumar TSS, Doble M, Ramakrishna S. 

Drug loaded electrospun polymer/ceramic composite nanofibrous coatings on titanium for implant related 

infections. Ceram Int. 2019 Oct;45(15):18710-18720. 

 

 Dave N*, Chevour P*, Mahendradas P, Venkatesh A, Kawali A, Shetty R, Ghosh A, Sethu S. Increased Aqueous Humor 

CD4+/CD8+ Lymphocyte Ratio in Sarcoid Uveitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2019 Oct;27(7):1033-1040. doi: 

10.1080/09273948.2017.1421232. 

 

 Lukin I, Musquiz S, Erezuma I, Al-Tel TH, Golafshan N, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A, Orive G. Can 4D bioprinting revolutionize 

drug development? Expert Opin Drug Discov. 2019 Oct;14(10):953-956. doi: 10.1080/17460441.2019.1636781. 

 

 Young SM, Lim AYN, Lang SS, Lee KO, Sundar G. Efficacy and safety of pulsed intravenous methylprednisolone in 

early active thyroid eye disease. Orbit. 2019 Oct;38(5):362-369. doi: 10.1080/01676830.2018.1553189. 

 

 Young SM, Kim KH, Kim YD, Lang SS, Park JW, Woo KI, Lee JI. Orbital apex venous cavernous malformation with optic 

neuropathy: treatment with multisession gamma knife radiosurgery. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;103(10):1453-1459. 

doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312893. 

 

 Dai W, Tham YC, Chee ML, Majithia S, Tan NYQ, Wong KH, Neelam K, Cheung N, Sabanayagam C, Cheung CY, Wong 

TY, Cheng CY. Normative pattern and determinants of outer retinal thickness in an Asian population: the Singapore 

Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;103(10):1406-1412. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-

313159. 

 

 Tan NYQ, Sng CCA, Jonas JB, Wong TY, Jansonius NM, Ang M.  Glaucoma in myopia: diagnostic dilemmas. Br J 

Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;103(10):1347-1355. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-313530. 

 

 Wong CW, Wong TT. Posterior segment drug delivery for the treatment of exudative age-related macular 

degeneration and diabetic macular oedema. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;103(10):1356-1360. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-313462. 

 



53 
 

 Chan A, Yeo A, Shwe M, Tan CJ, Foo KM, Chu P, Khor CC, Ho HK. An Evaluation of DNA Methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) 

Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Chemotherapy-Associated Cognitive Impairment: A Prospective, Longitudinal 

Study. Sci Rep. 2019 Oct 10;9(1):14570. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51203-y. 

 

 Lee KM, Kim TW, Lee EJ, Girard MJA, Mari JM, Weinreb RN. Association of Corneal Hysteresis With Lamina Cribrosa 

Curvature in Primary Open Angle Glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Oct 1;60(13):4171-4177. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.19-27087. 

 

 Blumenthal EZ, Cordeiro MF, Schmetterer L, Levkovitch Verbin H, Harris A. ISOPT Clinical Hot Topic Panel Discussion 

on Glaucoma. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther. 2019 Oct;35(8):441-446. doi: 10.1089/jop.2019.0004. 

 

 Devalla SK, Subramanian G, Pham TH, Wang X, Perera S, Tun TA, Aung T, Schmetterer L, Thiery AH*, Girard MJA*. A 

Deep Learning Approach to Denoise Optical Coherence Tomography Images of the Optic Nerve Head. Sci Rep. 2019 

Oct 8;9(1):14454. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51062-7. 

 

 Wu D*, Dou J*, Chai X*, Bellis C, Wilm A, Shih CC, Soon WWJ, Bertin N, Lin CB, Khor CC, DeGiorgio M, Cheng S, Bao L, 

Karnani N, Hwang WYK, Davila S, Tan P, Shabbir A, Moh A, Tan EK, Foo JN, Goh LL, Leong KP, Foo RSY, Lam CSP, Richards 

AM, Cheng CY, Aung T, Wong TY, Ng HH; SG10K Consortium, Liu J*, Wang C*. Large-Scale Whole-Genome Sequencing 

of Three Diverse Asian Populations in Singapore. Cell. 2019 Oct 17;179(3):736-749.e15. doi: 

10.1016/j.cell.2019.09.019. 

 

 Ong HS, Farook M, Tan BBC, Williams GP, Santhiago MR, Mehta JS. Corneal Ectasia Risk And Percentage Tissue Altered 

In Myopic Patients Presenting For Refractive Surgery. Clin Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct 14;13:2003-2015. doi: 

10.2147/OPTH.S215144. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Clark DW, Okada Y, Moore KHS, Mason D, Pirastu N, Gandin I, Mattsson H, Barnes CLK, Lin K, Zhao JH, Deelen P, Rohde 

R, Schurmann C, Guo X, Giulianini F, Zhang W, Medina-Gomez C, Karlsson R, Bao Y, Bartz TM, Baumbach C, Biino G, 

Bixley MJ, Brumat M, Chai JF, Corre T, Cousminer DL, Dekker AM, Eccles DA, van Eijk KR, Fuchsberger C, Gao H, Germain 

M, Gordon SD, de Haan HG, Harris SE, Hofer E, Huerta-Chagoya A, Igartua C, Jansen IE, Jia Y, Kacprowski T, Karlsson T, 

Kleber ME, Li SA, Li-Gao R, Mahajan A, Matsuda K, Meidtner K, Meng W, Montasser ME, van der Most PJ, Munz M, 

Nutile T, Palviainen T, Prasad G, Prasad RB, Priyanka TDS, Rizzi F, Salvi E, Sapkota BR, Shriner D, Skotte L, Smart MC, 

Smith AV, van der Spek A, Spracklen CN, Strawbridge RJ, Tajuddin SM, Trompet S, Turman C, Verweij N, Viberti C, 

Wang L, Warren HR, Wootton RE, Yanek LR, Yao J, Yousri NA, Zhao W, Adeyemo AA, Afaq S, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Akiyama 

M, Albert ML, Allison MA, Alver M, Aung T, Azizi F, Bentley AR, Boeing H, Boerwinkle E, Borja JB, de Borst GJ, Bottinger 

EP, Broer L, Campbell H, Chanock S, Chee ML, Chen G, Chen YI, Chen Z, Chiu YF, Cocca M, Collins FS, Concas MP, Corley 

J, Cugliari G, van Dam RM, Damulina A, Daneshpour MS, Day FR, Delgado GE, Dhana K, Doney ASF, Dörr M, Doumatey 

AP, Dzimiri N, Ebenesersdóttir SS, Elliott J, Elliott P, Ewert R, Felix JF, Fischer K, Freedman BI, Girotto G, Goel A, Gögele 

M, Goodarzi MO, Graff M, Granot-Hershkovitz E, Grodstein F, Guarrera S, Gudbjartsson DF, Guity K, Gunnarsson B, 

Guo Y, Hagenaars SP, Haiman CA, Halevy A, Harris TB, Hedayati M, van Heel DA, Hirata M, Höfer I, Hsiung CA, Huang 

J, Hung YJ, Ikram MA, Jagadeesan A, Jousilahti P, Kamatani Y, Kanai M, Kerrison ND, Kessler T, Khaw KT, Khor CC, de 

Kleijn DPV, Koh WP, Kolcic I, Kraft P, Krämer BK, Kutalik Z, Kuusisto J, Langenberg C, Launer LJ, Lawlor DA, Lee IT, Lee 

WJ, Lerch MM, Li L, Liu J, Loh M, London SJ, Loomis S, Lu Y, Luan J, Mägi R, Manichaikul AW, Manunta P, Másson G, 

Matoba N, Mei XW, Meisinger C, Meitinger T,Mezzavilla M, Milani L, Millwood IY, Momozawa Y, Moore A, Morange 

PE, Moreno-Macías H, Mori TA, Morrison AC, Muka T, Murakami Y, Murray AD, de Mutsert R, Mychaleckyj JC, Nalls 

MA, Nauck M, Neville MJ, Nolte IM, Ong KK, Orozco L, Padmanabhan S, Pálsson G, Pankow JS, Pattaro C, Pattie A, 

Polasek O, Poulter N, Pramstaller PP, Quintana-Murci L, Räikkönen K, Ralhan S, Rao DC, van Rheenen W, Rich SS, Ridker 



54 
 

PM, Rietveld CA, Robino A, van Rooij FJA, Ruggiero D, Saba Y, Sabanayagam C, Sabater-Lleal M, Sala CF, Salomaa V, 

Sandow K, Schmidt H, Scott LJ, Scott WR, Sedaghati-Khayat B, Sennblad B, van Setten J, Sever PJ, Sheu WH, Shi Y, 

Shrestha S, Shukla SR, Sigurdsson JK, Sikka TT, Singh JR, Smith BH, Stančáková A, Stanton A, Starr JM, Stefansdottir L, 

Straker L, Sulem P, Sveinbjornsson G, Swertz MA, Taylor AM, Taylor KD, Terzikhan N, Tham YC, Thorleifsson G, 

Thorsteinsdottir U, Tillander A, Tracy RP, Tusié-Luna T,, Tzoulaki I, Vaccargiu S, Vangipurapu J, Veldink JH, Vitart V, 

Völker U, Vuoksimaa E, Wakil SM, Waldenberger M, Wander GS, Wang YX, Wareham NJ, Wild S, Yajnik CS, Yuan JM, 

Zeng L, Zhang L, Zhou J, Amin N, Asselbergs FW, Bakker SJL, Becker DM, Lehne B, Bennett DA, van den Berg LH, Berndt 

SI, Bharadwaj D, Bielak LF, Bochud M, Boehnke M, Bouchard C, Bradfield JP, Brody JA, Campbell A, Carmi S, Caulfield 

MJ, Cesarini D, Chambers JC, Chandak GR, Cheng CY, Ciullo M, Cornelis M, Cusi D, Smith GD, Deary IJ, Dorajoo R, van 

Duijn CM, Ellinghaus D, Erdmann J, Eriksson JG, Evangelou E, Evans MK, Faul JD, Feenstra B, Feitosa M, Foisy S, Franke 

A, Friedlander Y, Gasparini P, Gieger C, Gonzalez C, Goyette P, Grant SFA, Griffiths LR, Groop L, Gudnason V, Gyllensten 

U, Hakonarson H, Hamsten A, van der Harst P, Heng CK, Hicks AA, Hochner H, Huikuri H, Hunt SC, Jaddoe VWV, De 

Jager PL, Johannesson M, Johansson Å, Jonas JB,Jukema JW, Junttila J, Kaprio J, Kardia SLR, Karpe F, Kumari M, Laakso 

M, van der Laan SW, Lahti J, Laudes M, Lea RA, Lieb W, Lumley T, Martin NG, März W, Matullo G, McCarthy MI, 

Medland SE, Merriman TR, Metspalu A, Meyer BF, Mohlke KL, Montgomery GW, Mook-Kanamori D, Munroe PB, North 

KE, Nyholt DR, O'connell JR, Ober C, Oldehinkel AJ, Palmas W, Palmer C, Pasterkamp GG, Patin E, Pennell CE, Perusse 

L, Peyser PA, Pirastu M, Polderman TJC, Porteous DJ, Posthuma D, Psaty BM, Rioux JD, Rivadeneira F, Rotimi C, Rotter 

JI, Rudan I, Den Ruijter HM, Sanghera DK, Sattar N, Schmidt R, Schulze MB, Schunkert H, Scott RA, Shuldiner AR, Sim 

X, Small N, Smith JA,Sotoodehnia N, Tai ES, Teumer A, Timpson NJ,Toniolo D, Tregouet DA, Tuomi T, Vollenweider P, 

Wang CA, Weir DR, Whitfield JB, Wijmenga C, Wong TY, Wright J, Yang J, Yu L, Zemel BS, Zonderman AB, Perola M, 

Magnusson PKE, Uitterlinden AG, Kooner JS, Chasman DI, Loos RJF, Franceschini N, Franke L, Haley CS, Hayward C, 

Walters RG, Perry JRB, Esko T, Helgason A, Stefansson K, Joshi PK, Kubo M, Wilson JF. Associations of autozygosity 

with a broad range of human phenotypes. Nat Commun. 2019 Oct 31;10(1):4957. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12283-

6. 

 

 Wong CW, Yanagi Y, Tsai ASH, Shihabuddeen WA, Cheung N, Lee SY, Jonas JB, Cheung CMG. Correlation of axial length 

and myopic macular degeneration to levels of molecular factors in the aqueous. Sci Rep. 2019 Oct 31;9(1):15708. 

doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-52156-y. 

 

 Wong CW, Cheung N, Ho C, Barathi V, Storm G, Wong TT. Characterisation of the inflammatory cytokine and growth 

factor profile in a rabbit model of proliferative vitreoretinopathy. Sci Rep. 2019 Oct 28;9(1):15419. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-019-51633-8. 

 

 Stanzel B, Ader M, Liu Z, Amaral J, Aguirre LIR, Rickmann A, Barathi VA, Tan GSW, Degreif A, Al-Nawaiseh S, Szurman 

P. Surgical Approaches for Cell Therapeutics Delivery to the Retinal Pigment Epithelium and Retina. Adv Exp Med 

Biol. 2019 Oct;1186:141-170. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-28471-8_6. 

 

 Bandeira F, Yam GH, Liu YC, Devarajan K, Mehta JS. Three-Dimensional Neurite Characterization of Small Incision 

Lenticule Extraction Derived Lenticules. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Oct 1;60(13):4408-4415. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.19-27566. 

 

 Tong L, Teo CHY, Lee RKJ. Spatial Distribution of Noninvasive Break Up Times and Clinical Relevance in Healthy 

Participants and Mild Dry Eye.  Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2019 Oct 17;8(5):30. doi: 10.1167/tvst.8.5.30. eCollection 2019 

Sep. 

 



55 
 

 Ezhilarasu H, Ramalingam R, Dhand C, Lakshminarayanan R, Sadiq A, Gandhimathi C, Ramakrishna S, Bay BH, 

Venugopal JR, Srinivasan DK. Biocompatible Aloe vera and Tetracycline Hydrochloride Loaded Hybrid Nanofibrous 

Scaffolds for Skin Tissue Engineering. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Oct 18;20(20). pii: E5174. doi: 10.3390/ijms20205174. 

 

 Daien V, Eldem BM, Talks JS, Korobelnik JF, Mitchell P, Finger RP, Sakamoto T, Wong TY, Evuarherhe O, Carter G, 

Carrasco J. Real-world data in retinal diseases treated with anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF) 

therapy - a systematic approach to identify and characterize data sources. BMC Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct 16;19(1):206. 

doi: 10.1186/s12886-019-1208-9. 

 

 Liu M, Wake M, Wong TY, He M, Xiao Y, Burgner D*, Lycett K*. Associations of retinal microvascular caliber with 

intermediate phenotypes of large arterial function and structure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. 

Microcirculation. 2019 Oct;26(7):e12557. doi: 10.1111/micc.12557. 

 

 Marwari S, Poulsen A, Shih N, Lakshminarayanan R, Kini RM, Johannes CW, Dymock BW, Dawe GS. Intranasal 

administration of a stapled relaxin-3 mimetic has anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like activity in rats. Br J Pharmacol. 

2019 Oct;176(20):3899-3923. doi: 10.1111/bph.14774. 

 

 Bradfield JP*, Vogelezang S*, Felix JF, Chesi A, Helgeland O, Horikoshi M, Karhunen V, Lowry E, Cousminer DL, 

Ahluwalia TS, Thiering E, Boh ET, Zafarmand MH, Vilor-Tejedor N, Wang CA, Joro R, Chen Z, Gauderman WJ, Pitkänen 

N, Parra EJ, Fernandez-Rhodes L, Alyass A, Monnereau C, Curtin JA, Have CT, McCormack SE, Hollensted M, Frithioff-

Bojsoe C, Valladares-Salgado A, Peralta-Romero J, Teo YY, Standl M, Leinonen JT, Holm JC, Peters T, Vioque J, Vrijheid 

M, Simpson A, Custovic A, Vaudel M, Canouil M, Lindi V, Atalay M, Kahonen M, Raitakari OT, van Schaik BDC, Berkowitz 

RI, Cole SA, Voruganti VS, Wang Y, Highland HM, Comuzzie AG, Butte NF, Justice AE, Gahagan S, Blanco E, Lehtimaki 

T, Lakka TA, Hebebrand J, Bonnefond A, Grarup N, Froguel P, Lyytikainen LP, Cruz M, Kobes S, Hanson RL, Zemel BS, 

Hinney A, Teo KK, Meyre D, North KE, Gilliland FD, Bisgaard H, Bustamante M, Bonnelykke K, Pennell CE, Rivadeneira 

F, Uitterlinden AG, Baier LJ, Vrijkotte TGM, Heinrich J, Sorensen TIA, Saw SM, Pedersen O, Hansen T, Eriksson J, Widen 

E, McCarthy MI, Njolstad PR, Power C, Hypponen E, Sebert S, Brown CD, Jarvelin MR, Timpson NJ, Johansson S, 

Hakonarson H, Jaddoe VWV*, Grant SFA; Early Growth Genetics Consortium. A Trans-ancestral Meta-Analysis of 

Genome-Wide Association Studies Reveals Loci Associated with Childhood Obesity. Hum Mol Genet. 2019 

Oct;28(19):3327-3338. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddz161. 

 

 Fenner BJ*, Yusoff NZBM*, Fuest M, Zhou L, Bandeira F, Cajucom-Uy HY, Tan HK, Mehta JS, Yam GHF. A cellular and 

proteomic approach to assess proteins extracted from cryopreserved human amnion in the cultivation of corneal 

stromal keratocytes for stromal cell therapy. Eye Vis (Lond). 2019 Oct 12;6:30. doi: 10.1186/s40662-019-0155-0. 

eCollection 2019. 

 

 Yao X*, Devarajan K*, Werkmeister RM, Dos Santos VA, Ang M, Kuo A, Wong DWK, Chua J, Tan B, Barathi VA, 

Schmetterer L.  In vivo corneal endothelium imaging using ultrahigh resolution OCT. Biomed Opt Express. 2019 Oct 

11;10(11):5675-5686. doi: 10.1364/BOE.10.005675. eCollection 2019 Nov 1. 

 

 Yam GH, Seah X, Yusoff NZBM, Setiawan M, Wahlig S, Htoon HM, Peh GSL, Kocaba V, Mehta JS.  Characterization of 

Human Transition Zone Reveals a Putative Progenitor-Enriched Niche of Corneal Endothelium. Cells. 2019 Oct 

12;8(10). pii: E1244. doi: 10.3390/cells8101244. 

 



56 
 

 Tjio, G,Li S,Xu X, Ting DSW, Liu, Y,Goh RSM.  Multi-discriminator Generative Adversarial Networks for Improved Thin 

Retinal Vessel Segmentation. Computer Science. 2019 Oct; 11855:148-155. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-32956-3_18. 

 

 Li S, Liu, Y.Sui, X, Chen C,Tjio G,Ting DSW, Goh RSM.  Multi-instance multi-scale CNN for medical image classification. 

Computer Science. 2019 Oct, 11767 : 531-539. 

 

 Wong TY, Tham YC, Sabanayagam C, Cheng CY.  Patterns and Risk Factor Profiles of Visual Loss in a Multiethnic Asian 

Population: The Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;206:48-73. doi: 

10.1016/j.ajo.2019.05.006. Epub 2019 May 13. 

 

 Kwok SS, Shih KC, Bu Y, Lo AC, Chan TC, Lai JS, Jhanji V, Tong L. Systematic Review on Therapeutic Strategies to 

Minimize Corneal Stromal Scarring After Injury. Eye Contact Lens. 2019 Nov;45(6):347-355. doi: 

10.1097/ICL.0000000000000584. 

 

 Zhang X, Lim SC, Tavintharan S, Yeoh LY, Sum CF, Ang K, Yeo D, Low S, Kumari N. Association of central arterial stiffness 

with the presence and severity of diabetic retinopathy in Asians with type 2 diabetes. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2019 

Nov;16(6):498-505. doi: 10.1177/1479164119845904. 

 

 Kodjikian L, Bellocq D, Bandello F, Loewenstein A, Chakravarthy U, Koh A, Augustin A, de Smet MD, Chhablani J, Tufail 

A, García-Layana A, Sudhalkar A, Mathis T. First-line treatment algorithm and guidelines in center-involving diabetic 

macular edema. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2019 Nov;29(6):573-584. doi: 10.1177/1120672119857511. 

 

 Genetics of Glaucoma in People of African Descent (GGLAD) Consortium, Hauser MA*, Allingham RR*, Aung T*, Van 

Der Heide CJ*, Taylor KD*, Rotter JI*, Wang SJ*, Bonnemaijer PWM*, Williams SE*, Abdullahi SM, Abu-Amero KK, 

Anderson MG, Akafo S, Alhassan MB, Asimadu I, Ayyagari R, Bakayoko S, Nyamsi PB, Bowden DW, Bromley WC, Budenz 

DL, Carmichael TR, Challa P, Chen YI, Chuka-Okosa CM, Cooke Bailey JN, Costa VP, Cruz DA, DuBiner H, Ervin JF, 

Feldman RM, Flamme-Wiese M, Gaasterland DE, Garnai SJ, Girkin CA, Guirou N, Guo X, Haines JL, Hammond CJ, 

Herndon L, Hoffmann TJ, Hulette CM, Hydara A, Igo RP Jr, Jorgenson E, Kabwe J, Kilangalanga NJ, Kizor-Akaraiwe N, 

Kuchtey RW, Lamari H, Li Z, Liebmann JM, Liu Y, Loos RJF, Melo MB, Moroi SE, Msosa JM, Mullins RF, Nadkarni G, Napo 

A, Ng MCY, Nunes HF, Obeng-Nyarkoh E, Okeke A, Okeke S, Olaniyi O, Olawoye O, Oliveira MB, Pasquale LR, Perez-

Grossmann RA, Pericak-Vance MA, Qin X, Ramsay M, Resnikoff S, Richards JE, Schimiti RB, Sim KS, Sponsel WE, 

Svidnicki PV, Thiadens AAHJ, Uche NJ, van Duijn CM, de Vasconcellos JPC, Wiggs JL, Zangwill LM, Risch N*, Milea D*, 

Ashaye A*, Klaver CCW*, Weinreb RN*, Ashley Koch AE*, Fingert JH*, Khor CC*. Association of Genetic Variants With 

Primary Open-Angle Glaucoma Among Individuals With African Ancestry. JAMA. 2019 Nov 5;322(17):1682-1691. doi: 

10.1001/jama.2019.16161. 

 

 Gupta P, Gan ATL, Man REK, Fenwick EK, Sabanayagam C, Mitchell P, Cheung CY, Cheung N, Wong TY, Cheng CY, 

Lamoureux EL. Association between diabetic retinopathy and incident cognitive impairment. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 

Nov;103(11):1605-1609. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-312807. Epub 2019 Jan 30. 

 

 Fabregat-Cabello N, Darimont P, Huyghebaert L, Reynier P, Annweiler C, Milea D, Le Goff C, Cavalier E.  Liquid 

chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for monitoring Vitamin D hydroxymetabolites in human aqueous 

humor. Anal Methods, 2019 Nov;11(41):5282-5288. doi: 10.1039/c9ay01896d. 

 



57 
 

 Atalay E, Najjar RP, Tun TA, Ozalp O, Bilgec MD, Yıldırım N. Corneal elevation changes after forced eyelid closure in 

healthy participants and in patients with keratoconus. Clin Exp Optom. 2019 Nov;102(6):590-595. doi: 

10.1111/cxo.12891. 

 

 Cheong KX, Tan CS. Effect of Fasting on Choroidal Thickness and Its Diurnal Variation. Curr Eye Res. 2019 

Nov;44(11):1278. doi: 10.1080/02713683.2019.1634738. 

 

 Hosoda Y, Yamashiro K, Miyake M, Ooto S, Oishi A, Miyata M, Uji A, Khor CC, Wong TY, Tsujikawa A. Predictive Genes 

for the Prognosis of Central Serous Chorioretinopathy. Ophthalmol Retina. 2019 Nov;3(11):985-992. doi: 

10.1016/j.oret.2019.05.025. 

 

 Xue K*, Zhao X*, Zhang Z, Qiu B, Tan QSW, Ong KH, Liu Z, Parikh BH, Barathi VA, Yu W, Wang X, Lingam G, Hunziker 

W, Su X, Loh XJ. Sustained delivery of anti-VEGFs from thermogel depots inhibits angiogenesis without the need for 

multiple injections. Biomater Sci. 2019 Nov 1;7(11):4603-4614. doi: 10.1039/c9bm01049a. 

 

 Lim EWL, Lim L. Review of Laser Vision Correction (LASIK, PRK and SMILE) with Simultaneous Accelerated Corneal 

Crosslinking - Long-term Results. Curr Eye Res. 2019 Nov;44(11):1171-1180. doi: 10.1080/02713683.2019.1656749. 

 

 Ting DSJ, Ang M, Mehta JS, Ting DSW. Artificial intelligence-assisted telemedicine platform for cataract screening 

and management: a potential model of care for global eye health. Br J Ophthalmol. 2019 Nov;103(11):1537-1538 

doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-315025. 

 

 Satizabal CL, Adams HHH, Hibar DP, White CC, Knol MJ, Stein JL, Scholz M, Sargurupremraj M, Jahanshad N, 

Roshchupkin GV, Smith AV, Bis JC, Jian X, Luciano M, Hofer E, Teumer A, van der Lee SJ, Yang J, Yanek LR, Lee TV, Li S, 

Hu Y, Koh JY, Eicher JD, Desrivieres S, Arias-Vasquez A, Chauhan G, Athanasiu L, Rentería ME, Kim S, Hoehn D, 

Armstrong NJ, Chen Q, Holmes AJ, den Braber A, Kloszewska I, Andersson M, Espeseth T, Grimm O, Abramovic L, 

Alhusaini S, Milaneschi Y, Papmeyer M, Axelsson T, Ehrlich S, Roiz-Santianez R, Kraemer B, Haberg AK, Jones HJ, Pike 

GB, Stein DJ, Stevens A, Bralten J, Vernooij MW, Harris TB, Filippi I, Witte AV, Guadalupe T, Wittfeld K, Mosley TH, 

Becker JT, Doan NT, Hagenaars SP, Saba Y, Cuellar-Partida G, Amin N, Hilal S, Nho K, Mirza-Schreiber N, Arfanakis K, 

Becker DM, Ames D, Goldman AL, Lee PH, Boomsma DI, Lovestone S, Giddaluru S, Le Hellard S, Mattheisen M, Bohlken 

MM, Kasperaviciute D, Schmaal L, Lawrie SM, Agartz I, Walton E, Tordesillas-Gutierrez D, Davies GE, Shin J, Ipser JC, 

Vinke LN, Hoogman M, Jia T, Burkhardt R, Klein M, Crivello F, Janowitz D, Carmichael O, Haukvik UK, Aribisala BS, 

Schmidt H, Strike LT, Cheng CY, Risacher SL, Putz B, Fleischman DA, Assareh AA, Mattay VS, Buckner RL, Mecocci P, 

Dale AM, Cichon S, Boks MP, Matarin M, Penninx BWJH, Calhoun VD, Chakravarty MM, Marquand AF, Macare C, 

Kharabian Masouleh S, Oosterlaan J, Amouyel P, Hegenscheid K, Rotter JI, Schork AJ, Liewald DCM, de Zubicaray GI, 

Wong TY, Shen L, Samann PG, Brodaty H, Roffman JL, de Geus EJC, Tsolaki M, Erk S, van Eijk KR, Cavalleri GL, van der 

Wee NJA, McIntosh AM, Gollub RL, Bulayeva KB, Bernard M, Richards JS, Himali JJ, Loeffler M, Rommelse N, Hoffmann 

W, Westlye LT, Valdés Hernandez MC, Hansell NK, van Erp TGM, Wolf C, Kwok JBJ, Vellas B, Heinz A, Olde Loohuis LM, 

Delanty N, Ho BC, Ching CRK, Shumskaya E, Singh B, Hofman A, van der Meer D, Homuth G, Psaty BM, Bastin ME, 

Montgomery GW, Foroud TM, Reppermund S, Hottenga JJ, Simmons A, Meyer-Lindenberg A, Cahn W, Whelan CD, 

van Donkelaar MMJ, Yang Q, Hosten N, Green RC, Thalamuthu A, Mohnke S, Hulshoff Pol HE, Lin H, Jack CR Jr, Schofield 

PR, Muhleisen TW, Maillard P, Potkin SG, Wen W, Fletcher E, Toga AW, Gruber O, Huentelman M, Davey Smith G, 

Launer LJ, Nyberg L, Jonsson EG, Crespo-Facorro B, Koen N, Greve DN, Uitterlinden AG, Weinberger DR, Steen VM, 

Fedko IO, Groenewold NA, Niessen WJ, Toro R, Tzourio C, Longstreth WT Jr, Ikram MK, Smoller JW, van Tol MJ, 

Sussmann JE, Paus T, Lemaître H, Schroeter ML, Mazoyer B, Andreassen OA, Holsboer F, Depondt C, Veltman DJ, 

Turner JA, Pausova Z, Schumann G, van Rooij D, Djurovic S, Deary IJ, McMahon KL, Müller-Myhsok B, Brouwer RM, 



58 
 

Soininen H, Pandolfo M, Wassink TH, Cheung JW, Wolfers T, Martinot JL, Zwiers MP, Nauck M, Melle I, Martin NG, 

Kanai R, Westman E, Kahn RS, Sisodiya SM, White T, Saremi A, van Bokhoven H, Brunner HG, Volzke H, Wright MJ, van 

't Ent D, Nöthen MM, Ophoff RA, Buitelaar JK, Fernández G, Sachdev PS, Rietschel M, van Haren NEM, Fisher SE, Beiser 

AS, Francks C, Saykin AJ, Mather KA, Romanczuk-Seiferth N, Hartman CA, DeStefano AL, Heslenfeld DJ, Weiner MW, 

Walter H, Hoekstra PJ, Nyquist PA, Franke B, Bennett DA, Grabe HJ, Johnson AD, Chen C, van Duijn CM, Lopez OL, 

Fornage M, Wardlaw JM, Schmidt R, DeCarli C, De Jager PL, Villringer A, Debette S, Gudnason V, Medland SE, Shulman 

JM, Thompson PM, Seshadri S, Ikram MA. Genetic architecture of subcortical brain structures in 38,851 individuals. 

Nat Genet. 2019 Nov;51(11):1624-1636. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0511-y. 

 

 Kumar NR, Khamar P, Shetty R, Sharma A, Shetty N, Pahuja N, Abilash VG, Jhanji V, Ghosh A, Mohan RR, Vangala RK, 

Ghosh A. Identification of novel predictive factors for post surgical corneal haze. Sci Rep. 2019 Nov 18;9(1):16980. 

doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53123-3. 

 

 Espona-Noguera A, Ciriza J, Canibano-Hernandez A, Orive G, Hernandez RMM, Saenz Del Burgo L, Pedraz JL. Review 

of Advanced Hydrogel-Based Cell Encapsulation Systems for Insulin Delivery in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. 

Pharmaceutics. 2019 Nov 12;11(11). pii: E597. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics11110597. 

 

 Lim EJ, Aris IM, Choo J, Wong TY, Li LJ. Association between Coronary Artery Measurements and Retinal 

Microvasculature in Children with New Onset of Kawasaki Disease. Sci Rep. 2019 Nov 13;9(1):16714. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-019-53220-3. 

 

 Bu Y, Shih KC, Kwok SS, Chan YK, Lo AC, Chan TCY, Jhanji V, Tong L. Experimental modeling of cornea wound healing 

in diabetes: clinical applications and beyond. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2019 Nov 27;7(1):e000779. doi: 

10.1136/bmjdrc-2019-000779. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Bonnemaijer PWM, Leeuwen EMV, Iglesias AI, Gharahkhani P, Vitart V, Khawaja AP, Simcoe M, Höhn R, Cree AJ, Igo 

RP; International Glaucoma Genetics Consortium; NEIGHBORHOOD consortium; UK Biobank Eye and Vision 

Consortium, Gerhold-Ay A, Nickels S, Wilson JF, Hayward C, Boutin TS, Polašek O, Aung T, Khor CC, Amin N, Lotery 

AJ, Wiggs JL, Cheng CY, Hysi PG, Hammond CJ, Thiadens AAHJ, MacGregor S, Klaver CCW, Duijn CMV. Multi-trait 

genome-wide association study identifies new loci associated with optic disc parameters. Commun Biol. 2019 Nov 

27;2:435. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0634-9. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Woo JH, Ang M, Htoon HM, Tan D. Descemet Membrane Endothelial Keratoplasty Versus Descemet Stripping 

Automated Endothelial Keratoplasty and Penetrating Keratoplasty. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Nov;207:288-303. doi: 

10.1016/j.ajo.2019.06.012. Epub 2019 Jun 19. 

 

 Tan L, Hwang W, Looi A. Proptosis in a Patient With Known Graft Versus Host Disease. Ophthalmic Plast Reconstr 

Surg. 2019 Nov/Dec;35(6):e142-e145. doi: 10.1097/IOP.0000000000001469. 

 

 You QS, Chan JCH, Ng ALK, Choy BKN, Shih KC, Cheung JJC, Wong JKW, Shum JWH, Ni MY, Lai JSM, Leung GM, Cheung 

CMG, Wong TY, Wong IYH. Macular Vessel Density Measured With Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography and 

Its Associations in a Large Population-Based Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Nov 1;60(14):4830-4837. doi: 

10.1167/iovs.19-28137. 

 

 Riau AK, Ong HS, Yam GHF, Mehta JS. Sustained Delivery System for Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes. Front Pharmacol. 

2019 Nov 14;10:1368. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.01368. eCollection 2019. 



59 
 

 

 Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. The War on Diabetic Retinopathy: Where Are We Now? Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 

2019 Nov-Dec;8(6):448-456. doi: 10.1097/APO.0000000000000267. 

 

 Devarajan K, Ong HS, Lwin NC, Chua J, Schmetterer L, Mehta JS, Ang M. Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography 

Imaging to monitor Anti-VEGF treatment of Corneal Vascularization in a Rabbit Model. Sci Rep. 2019 Nov 

26;9(1):17576. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-54171-5. 

 

 Arnalich-Montiel F, Moratilla A, Fuentes-Julián S, Aparicio V, Cadenas Martin M, Peh G, Mehta JS, Adnan K, Porrua L, 

Pérez-Sarriegui A, De Miguel MP. Treatment of corneal endothelial damage in a rabbit model with a bioengineered 

graft using human decellularized corneal lamina and cultured human corneal endothelium. PLoS One. 2019 Nov 

21;14(11):e0225480. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225480. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Liu YC, Devarajan K, Tan TE, Ang M, Mehta JS. Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography for Evaluation of 

Reperfusion After Pterygium Surgery. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019 Nov;207:151-158. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2019.04.003. Epub 

2019 Apr 6. 

 

 Tey KY, Teo K, Tan ACS, Devarajan K, Tan B, Tan J, Schmetterer L, Ang M. Optical coherence tomography angiography 

in diabetic retinopathy: a review of current applications.  Eye Vis (Lond). 2019 Nov 18;6:37. doi: 10.1186/s40662-

019-0160-3. eCollection 2019. 

 

 Lam PY, Shih KC, Fong PY, Chan TCY, Ng AL, Jhanji V, Tong L.  A Review on Evidence-Based Treatments for Meibomian 

Gland Dysfunction. Eye Contact Lens. 2020 Jan;46(1):3-16. doi: 10.1097/ICL.0000000000000680. 

 

 Tan TE, Devarajan K, Seah XY, Lin SJ, Peh GSL, Cajucom-Uy HY, Ang MHN, Tan DTH. Lamellar Dissection Technique for 

Descemet Membrane Endothelial Keratoplasty Graft Preparation.  Cornea. 2020 Jan;39(1):23-29. doi: 

10.1097/ICO.0000000000002090. 

 

 Gao Y, Teo YCK, Beuerman RW, Wong TY, Zhou L, Cheung CMG. A serum metabolomics study of patients with nAMD 

in response to anti-VEGF therapy.  Sci Rep. 2020 Jan 28;10(1):1341. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-58346-3. 

 

 Lai JS, Veetil VO, Lanca C, Lee BL, Godfrey KM, Gluckman PD, Shek LP, Yap F, Tan KH, Chong YS, Ong CN, Ngo CS, Saw 

SM*, Chong MFF*. Maternal Lutein and Zeaxanthin Concentrations in Relation to Offspring Visual Acuity at 3 Years 

of Age: The GUSTO Study.  Nutrients. 2020 Jan 21;12(2). pii: E274. doi: 10.3390/nu12020274. 

 

 Hamilton RD*, Clemens A, Minnella AM*, Lai TYY*, Dai H*, Sakamoto T*, Gemmy Cheung CM*, Ngah NF*, Dunger-

Baldauf C*, Holz FG*; LUMINOUS study group. Real-world effectiveness and safety of ranibizumab for the treatment 

of myopic choroidal neovascularization: Results from the LUMINOUS study. PLoS One. 2020 Jan 21;15(1):e0227557. 

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227557. eCollection 2020. 

 

 Tan B, Chua J, Lin E, Cheng J, Gan A, Yao X, Wong DWK, Sabanayagam C, Wong D, Chan CM, Wong TY, Schmetterer L, 

Tan GS. Quantitative Microvascular Analysis With Wide-Field Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography in Eyes 

With Diabetic Retinopathy. JAMA Netw Open. 2020 Jan 3;3(1):e1919469. doi: 

10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.19469. 

 



60 
 

 Grzybowski A, Kanclerz P, Tsubota K, Lanca C, Saw SM. A review on the epidemiology of myopia in school children 

worldwide. BMC Ophthalmol. 2020 Jan 14;20(1):27. doi: 10.1186/s12886-019-1220-0. 

 

 Li Z, Guo C, Nie D, Lin D, Zhu Y, Chen C, Wu X, Xu F, Jin C, Zhang X, Xiao H, Zhang K, Zhao L, Yan P, Lai W, Li J, Feng W, 

Li Y, Wei Ting DS, Lin H. Deep learning for detecting retinal detachment and discerning macular status using ultra-

widefield fundus images. Commun Biol. 2020 Jan 8;3(1):15. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0730-x. 

 

 Bandeira F*, Goh TW*, Setiawan M*, Yam GH, Mehta JS. Cellular therapy of corneal epithelial defect by adipose 

mesenchymal stem cell-derived epithelial progenitors. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2020 Jan 3;11(1):14. doi: 10.1186/s13287-

019-1533-1. 

 

 Ichhpujani P, Thakur S, Spaeth GL. Contrast Sensitivity and Glaucoma. J Glaucoma. 2020 Jan;29(1):71-75. doi: 

10.1097/IJG.0000000000001379. 

 

 Akiba C, Gyanwali B, Villaraza S, Nakajima M, Miyajima M, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Venketasubramanian N, Hilal S, Chen 

C. The prevalence and clinical associations of disproportionately enlarged subarachnoid space hydrocephalus 

(DESH), an imaging feature of idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus in community and memory clinic based 

Singaporean cohorts. J Neurol Sci. 2020 Jan 15;408:116510. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2019.116510. Epub 2019 Oct 25 

 

 Porporato N, Baskaran M, Husain R, Aung T.  Recent advances in anterior chamber angle imaging. Eye (Lond). 2020 

Jan;34(1):51-59. doi: 10.1038/s41433-019-0655-0. Epub 2019 Oct 30. 

 

 Kallab M, Szegedi S, Hommer N, Stegmann H, Kaya S, Werkmeister RM, Schmidl D, Schmetterer L, Garhöfer G. Topical 

Low Dose Preservative-Free Hydrocortisone Reduces Signs and Symptoms in Patients with Chronic Dry Eye: A 

Randomized Clinical Trial. Adv Ther. 2020 Jan;37(1):329-341. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-01137-8. Epub 2019 Nov 18. 

 

 Mursch-Edlmayr AS, Luft N, Podkowinski D, Ring M, Schmetterer L, Bolz M. Effects of three intravitreal injections of 

aflibercept on the ocular circulation in eyes with age-related maculopathy. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Jan;104(1):53-57. 

doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-313919. Epub 2019 Apr 12. 

 

 Orive G, Taebnia N, Dolatshahi-Pirouz A. A New Era for Cyborg Science Is Emerging: The Promise of Cyborganic 

Beings. Adv Healthc Mater. 2020 Jan;9(1):e1901023. doi: 10.1002/adhm.201901023. Epub 2019 Nov 28.  

 

 Chew M, Tan NYQ, Lamoureux E, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. The associations of objectively measured sleep 

duration and sleep disturbances with diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020 Jan;159:107967. doi: 

10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107967. Epub 2019 Dec 2. 

 

 Chong EW, Bandeira F, Finn P, Mehta JS, Chan E. Evaluation of Total Donor Endothelial Viability After Endothelium-

Inward Versus Endothelium-Outward Loading and Insertion in Descemet Membrane Endothelial Keratoplasty. 

Cornea. 2020 Jan;39(1):104-109. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000002014. 

 

 Ting DSW, Lin H, Ruamviboonsuk P, Wong TY, Sim DA. Artificial intelligence, the internet of things, and virtual clinics: 

ophthalmology at the digital translation forefront. The Lancet Digital Health.2020 Jan.2(1):e8-e9, doi:10.1016/S2589-

7500(19)30217-1.  

 



61 
 

 Tsubota K, Yokoi N, Watanabe H, Dogru M, Kojima T, Yamada M, Kinoshita S, Kim HM, Tchah HW, Hyon JY, Yoon 

KC, Seo KY, Sun X, Chen W, Liang L, Li M, Tong L, Hu FR, Puangsricharern V, Lim-Bon-Siong R, Yong TK, Liu Z, Shimazaki 

J; Members of The Asia Dry Eye Society. A New Perspective on Dry Eye Classification: Proposal by the Asia Dry Eye 

Society. Eye Contact Lens. 2020 Jan;46 Suppl 1:S2-S13. doi: 10.1097/ICL.0000000000000643. 

 

 Nongpiur ME, Tun TA, Aung T. Anterior Segment Optical Coherence Tomography: Is There a Clinical Role in the 

Management of Primary Angle Closure Disease? J Glaucoma. 2020 Jan;29(1):60-66. doi: 

10.1097/IJG.0000000000001355. 

 

 Tan RKY, Perera SA, Tun TA, Boote C, Girard MJA. Performance of a temperature-controlled shape-memory pupil 

expander for cataract surgery. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2020 Jan;46(1):116-124. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2019.08.042. 

 

 Lim RR, Wieser ME, Ganga RR, Barathi VA, Lakshminarayanan R, Mohan RR, Hainsworth DP, Chaurasia SS. NOD-like 

Receptors in the Eye: Uncovering Its Role in Diabetic Retinopathy. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Jan 30;21(3). pii: E899. doi: 

10.3390/ijms21030899. 

 

 Kouassi Nzoughet J, Guehlouz K, Leruez S, Gohier P, Bocca C, Muller J, Blanchet O, Bonneau D, Simard G, Milea D, 

Procaccio V, Lenaers G, Chao de la Barca JM, Reynier P. A Data Mining Metabolomics Exploration of Glaucoma. 

Metabolites. 2020 Jan 28;10(2). pii: E49. doi: 10.3390/metabo10020049. 

 

 Keel S, McGuinness MB, Foreman J, Scheetz J, Taylor HR, Dirani M. Prevalence, associations and characteristics of 

severe uncorrected refractive error in the Australian National Eye Health Survey. Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2020 

Jan;48(1):14-23. doi: 10.1111/ceo.13647. Epub 2019 Oct 16. 

 

 Ong HS, Minassian D, Rauz S, Mehta JS, Dart JK. Validation of a clinical assessment tool for cicatrising conjunctivitis. 

Ocul Surf. 2020 Jan;18(1):121-129. doi: 10.1016/j.jtos.2019.10.010. Epub 2019 Nov 3. 

 

 Malhotra D, Jung M, Fecher-Trost C, Lovatt M, Peh GSL, Noskov S, Mehta JS, Zimmermann R, Casey JR. Defective cell 

adhesion function of solute transporter, SLC4A11, in endothelial corneal dystrophies. Hum Mol Genet. 2020 Jan 

1;29(1):97-116. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddz259. 

 

 Tham YC, Cheng CY, Wong TY. Detection of anaemia from retinal images. Nat Biomed Eng. 2020 Jan;4(1):2-3. doi: 

10.1038/s41551-019-0504-2. 

 

 Boote C, Sigal IA, Grytz R, Hua Y, Nguyen TD, Girard MJA. Scleral structure and biomechanics. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2020 

Jan;74:100773. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2019.100773. Epub 2019 Aug 11. 

 

 Tiong TYV, Sundar G, Young SM, Makmur A, Yong HRC Wong YLJ, Lang SS, Tan AP. A Novel Method of CT 

Exophthalmometry in Patients With Thyroid Eye Disease. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2020 Jan-Feb;9(1):39-43. 

doi: 10.1097/01.APO.0000617908.29733.84. 

 

 Choi HR, Rim TH, Lee JH, Lee SW, Baek J, Kim K, Youm Y, Kim HC. Prevalence of and factors related with abnormal 

fundoscopic findings among the elderly population in a rural community in South Korea. Semin Ophthalmol. 2020 

Jan 2;35(1):41-49. doi: 10.1080/08820538.2020.1722182. Epub 2020 Feb 6. 

 



62 
 

 Zheng F, Yu M, Leung CK. Diagnostic criteria for detection of retinal nerve fibre layer thickness and neuroretinal rim 

width abnormalities in glaucoma. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Feb;104(2):270-275. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-

313581. Epub 2019 May 30. 

 

 Chua J, Schwarzhans F, Nguyen DQ, Tham YC, Sia JT, Lim C, Mathijia S, Cheung C, Tin A, Fischer G, Cheng CY, Vass C, 

Schmetterer L. Compensation of retinal nerve fibre layer thickness as assessed using optical coherence tomography 

based on anatomical confounders. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Feb;104(2):282-290. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-

314086. Epub 2019 May 22. 

 

 Milea D, Singhal S, Najjar RP. Artificial intelligence for detection of optic disc abnormalities. Curr Opin Neurol. 2020 

Feb;33(1):106-110. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0000000000000773. 

 

 Yuen J, Lee SY, Courtney E, Lim J, Soh H, Li ST, Chen Y, McAllister M, Fenwick EK, Ngeow J. Evaluating empowerment 

in genetic counseling using patient-reported outcomes. Clin Genet. 2020 Feb;97(2):246-256. doi: 10.1111/cge.13646. 

Epub 2019 Oct 23. 

 

 Fenwick EK, Bansback N, Gan ATL, Ratcliffe J, Burgess L, Wong TY, Lamoureux EL. Validation of a novel diabetic 

retinopathy utility index using discrete choice experiments. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Feb;104(2):188-193. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-313899. Epub 2019 May 16. 

 

 Meyer ML, Klein BE, Klein R, Palta P, Sharrett AR, Heiss G, Nambi V, Wong TY, Tanaka H. Central arterial stiffness and 

retinal vessel calibers: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study-Neurocognitive Study. J Hypertens. 2020 

Feb;38(2):266-273. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0000000000002252. 

 

 Woo JH, Tan YL, Htoon HM, Tan DTH, Mehta JS. Outcomes of Repeat Anterior Lamellar Keratoplasty. Cornea. 2020 

Feb;39(2):200-206. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000002167. 

 

 Teo KYC, Mohla A, Cheung CMG. Comparison of vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitors on macular oedema 

secondary central retinal vein occlusion. Eye (Lond). 2020 Feb;34(2):221-222. doi: 10.1038/s41433-019-0707-5. Epub 

2019 Nov 26. 

 

 Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. Strategies to Tackle the Global Burden of Diabetic Retinopathy: From Epidemiology to 

Artificial Intelligence. Ophthalmologica. 2020 Feb;243(1):9-20. doi: 10.1159/000502387. Epub 2019 Aug 13. 

 

 Agrawal R, Tun SBB*, Balne PK*, Zhu HY, Khandelwal N, Barathi VA. Fluorescein Labeled Leukocytes for in vivo 

Imaging of Retinal Vascular Inflammation and Infiltrating Leukocytes in Laser-Induced Choroidal Neovascularization 

Model. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2020 Feb;28(1):7-13. doi: 10.1080/09273948.2018.1429637. Epub 2018 Feb 22. 

 

 Liu YC, Ji AJS, Tan TE, Fuest M, Mehta JS. Femtosecond Laser-assisted Preparation of Conjunctival Autograft for 

Pterygium Surgery. Sci Rep. 2020 Feb 14;10(1):2674. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59586-z. 

 

 Shiina K, Mori H, Okabe Y, Lee HK. Machine-Learning Studies on Spin Models. Sci Rep. 2020 Feb 7;10(1):2177. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-020-58263-5. 

 



63 
 

 Chua J, Kadziauskienė A, Wong D, Ašoklis R, Lesinskas E, Quang ND, Chong R, Tan B, Girard MJA, Mari JM, Crowston 

JG, Aung T, Schmetterer L. One year structural and functional glaucoma progression after trabeculectomy. Sci Rep. 

2020 Feb 18;10(1):2808. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59792-9. 

 

 Wong LCK, Wong MYZ, Tan CS, Vrooman H, Venketasubramanian N, Cheng CY, Chen C, Hilal S. Interethnic differences 

in neuroimaging markers and cognition in Asians, a population-based study. Sci Rep. 2020 Feb 14;10(1):2655. doi: 

10.1038/s41598-020-59618-8. 

 

 Wahlig S, Peh GSL, Adnan K, Ang HP, Lwin CN, Morales-Wong F, Ong HS, Lovatt M, Mehta JS. Optimisation of Storage 

and Transportation Conditions of Cultured Corneal Endothelial Cells for Cell Replacement Therapy. Sci Rep. 2020 

Feb 3;10(1):1681. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-58700-5. 

 

 Michelet F, Balasankar A, Teo N, Stanton LW, Singhal S. Rapid generation of purified human RPE from pluripotent 

stem cells using 2D cultures and lipoprotein uptake-based sorting. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2020 Feb 3;11(1):47. doi: 

10.1186/s13287-020-1568-3. 

 

 Chao de la Barca JM, Rondet-Courbis B, Ferré M, Muller J, Buisset A, Leruez S, Plubeau G, Macé T, Moureauzeau L, 

Chupin S, Tessier L, Blanchet O, Lenaers G, Procaccio V, Mirebeau-Prunier D, Simard G, Gohier P, Miléa D, Reynier P. 

A Plasma Metabolomic Profiling of Exudative Age-Related Macular Degeneration Showing Carnosine and 

Mitochondrial Deficiencies. J Clin Med. 2020 Feb 27;9(3). pii: E631. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030631. 

 

 Lin GW*, Xu C*, Chen K*, Huang HQ*, Chen J*, Song B*, Chan JKC*, Li W*, Liu W*, Shih LY, Chuang WY, Kim WS, Tan 

W, Peng RJ, Laurensia Y, Cheah DMZ, Huang D, Cheng CL, Su YJ, Tan SY, Ng SB, Tang TPL, Han K, Wang VY, Jia WH, Pei 

Z, Li YJ, Gao S, Shi Y, Hu Z, Zhang F, Zhang B, Zeng YX, Shen H, He L, Ong CK, Lim ST, Chanock S, Kwong YL, Lin D, 

Rothman N, Khor CC, Lan Q, Bei JX; International NKTCL Working Group. Genetic risk of extranodal natural killer T-

cell lymphoma: a genome-wide association study in multiple populations. Lancet Oncol. 2020 Feb;21(2):306-316. 

doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30799-5. Epub 2019 Dec 23. 

 

 Ma M, Li B, Zhang M, Zhou L, Yang F, Ma F, Shao H, Li Q, Li X, Zhang X. Therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell-

derived exosomes on retinal detachment. Exp Eye Res. 2020 Feb;191:107899. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2019.107899. Epub 

2019 Dec 19. 

 

 Xue K*, Liu Z*, Jiang L*, Kai D, Li Z, Su X, Loh XJ. A new highly transparent injectable PHA-based thermogelling vitreous 

substitute.  Biomater Sci. 2020 Feb 4;8(3):926-936. doi: 10.1039/c9bm01603a. 

 

 Lovatt M, Adnan K, Kocaba V, Dirisamer M, Peh GSL, Mehta JS. Peroxiredoxin-1 regulates lipid peroxidation in corneal 

endothelial cells.  Redox Biol. 2020 Feb;30:101417. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101417. Epub 2019 Dec 30. 

 

 Zhou G, Deng X, Tian J, Fazil MHUT, Lakshminarayanan R, Srinivasan R. SnAP reagents for the synthesis of 

selenomorpholines and 1,4-selenazepanes and their biological evaluation. Chem Commun (Camb). 2020 Feb 

11;56(12):1780-1783. doi: 10.1039/c9cc09337k. Epub 2020 Jan 15. 

 

 Yang C, Kwak L, Ballew SH, Jaar BG, Deal JA, Folsom AR, Heiss G, Sharrett AR, Selvin E, Sabanayagam C, Coresh J, 

Matsushita K. Retinal microvascular findings and risk of incident peripheral artery disease: An analysis from the 

Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Atherosclerosis. 2020 Feb;294:62-71. doi: 

10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2019.10.012. Epub 2019 Oct 11. 



64 
 

 

 Stegmann H, Werkmeister RM, Pfister M, Garhöfer G, Schmetterer L, Dos Santos VA. Deep learning segmentation for 

optical coherence tomography measurements of the lower tear meniscus.  Biomed Opt Express. 2020 Feb 

20;11(3):1539-1554. doi: 10.1364/BOE.386228. eCollection 2020 Mar 1. 

 

 Cheong KX, Yong RYY, Tan MMH, Tey FLK, Ang BCH. Association of VIPR2 and ZMAT4 with high myopia. Ophthalmic 

Genet. 2020 Feb;41(1):41-48. doi: 10.1080/13816810.2020.1737951. Epub 2020 Mar 13. 

 

 Craig JE, Han X, Qassim A, Hassall M, Cooke Bailey JN, Kinzy TG, Khawaja AP, An J, Marshall H, Gharahkhani P, Igo RP 

Jr, Graham SL, Healey PR, Ong JS, Zhou T, Siggs O, Law MH, Souzeau E, Ridge B, Hysi PG, Burdon KP, Mills RA, Landers 

J, Ruddle JB, Agar A, Galanopoulos A, White AJR, Willoughby CE, Andrew NH, Best S, Vincent AL, Goldberg I, Radford-

Smith G, Martin NG, Montgomery GW, Vitart V, Hoehn R, Wojciechowski R, Jonas JB, Aung T, Pasquale LR, Cree AJ, 

Sivaprasad S, Vallabh NA; NEIGHBORHOOD consortium; UK Biobank Eye and Vision Consortium, Viswanathan AC, 

Pasutto F, Haines JL, Klaver CCW, van Duijn CM, Casson RJ, Foster PJ, Khaw PT, Hammond CJ, Mackey DA, Mitchell P, 

Lotery AJ, Wiggs JL, Hewitt AW, MacGregor S. Multitrait analysis of glaucoma identifies new risk loci and enables 

polygenic prediction of disease susceptibility and progression. Nat Genet. 2020 Feb;52(2):160-166. doi: 

10.1038/s41588-019-0556-y. Epub 2020 Jan 20. 

 

 Yanagihara RT, Lee CS, Ting DSW, Lee AY. Methodological challenges of deep learning in optical coherence 

tomographyfor retinal diseases: A review. Translational Vision Science and Technology. 2020 Feb. 9(2):11 

doi:10.1167/tvst.9.2.11. 

 

 Tun SBB, Chua M, Hasan R, Köhler M, Zheng X, Ali Y, Abdulreda MH, Juntti-Berggren L, Barathi VA, Berggren PO. Islet 

Transplantation to the Anterior Chamber of the Eye-A Future Treatment Option for Insulin-Deficient Type-2 

Diabetics? A Case Report from a Nonhuman Type-2 Diabetic Primate. Cell Transplant. 2020 Feb;29:1-9. doi: 

10.1177/0963689720913256. 

 

 Tan CH, Hilal S, Xu X, Vrooman H, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Venketasubramanian N, Chen C. MRI Markers of Mixed 

Pathology and Cognitive Impairment in Multiethnic Asians. J Alzheimers Dis. 2020 Feb;73(4):1501-1509. doi: 

10.3233/JAD-190866. 

 

 Li JO, Lam DSC, Chen Y, Ting DSW. Novel Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): The importance of recognising 

possible early ocular manifestation and using protective eyewear. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):297-298. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2020-315994. 

 

 Venkatraman A, Murugan E, Lin SJ, Peh GSL, Rajamani L, Mehta JS. Effect of osmolytes on in-vitro aggregation 

properties of peptides derived from TGFBIp. Sci Rep. 2020 Mar 4;10(1):4011. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-60944-0. 

 

 Liu L, Quang ND, Banu R, Kumar H, Tham YC, Cheng CY, Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. Hypertension, blood pressure 

control and diabetic retinopathy in a large population-based study. PLoS One. 2020 Mar 5;15(3):e0229665. doi: 

10.1371/journal.pone.0229665. eCollection 2020. 

 

 Schuetzenberger K, Pfister M, Messner A, Garhöfer G, Hohenadl C, Pfeiffenberger U, Schmetterer L, Werkmeister RM. 

Cutaneous optical coherence tomography for longitudinal volumetric assessment of intradermal volumes in a 

mouse model. Sci Rep. 2020 Mar 6;10(1):4245. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61276-9. 

 



65 
 

 Arai Y, Takahashi H, Inoda S, Tan X, Sakamoto S, Inoue Y, Fujino Y, Kawashima H, Yanagi Y. Aqueous humour proteins 

and treatment outcomes of anti-VEGF therapy in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. PLoS One. 2020 

Mar 10;15(3):e0229342. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229342. eCollection 2020. 

 

 Han T, Shang J, Zhou X, Xu Y, Ang M, Zhou X. Refractive outcomes comparing small-incision lenticule extraction and 

femtosecond laser-assisted laser in situ keratomileusis for high myopia. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2020 Mar;46(3):419-

427. doi: 10.1097/j.jcrs.0000000000000075. 

 

 Liu M, Lycett K, Moreno-Betancur M, Wong TY, He M, Saffery R, Juonala M, Kerr JA, Wake M, Burgner DP. 

Inflammation mediates the relationship between obesity and retinal vascular calibre in 11-12 year-olds children 

and mid-life adults. Sci Rep. 2020 Mar 19;10(1):5006. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61801-w. 

 

 Singh RB, Ichhpujani P, Thakur S, Jindal S. Promising therapeutic drug delivery systems for glaucoma: a 

comprehensive review. Ther Adv Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar 13;12:2515841420905740. doi: 

10.1177/2515841420905740. eCollection 2020 Jan-Dec. 

 

 Fan Q, Pozarickij A, Tan NYQ, Guo X, Verhoeven VJM, Vitart V, Guggenheim JA, Miyake M, Tideman JWL, Khawaja AP, 

Zhang L, MacGregor S, Höhn R, Chen P, Biino G, Wedenoja J, Saffari SE, Tedja MS, Xie J, Lanca C, Wang YX, Sahebjada 

S, Mazur J, Mirshahi A, Martin NG, Yazar S, Pennell CE, Yap M, Haarman AEG, Enthoven CA, Polling J; Consortium for 

Refractive Error and Myopia (CREAM); UK Biobank Eye and Vision Consortium, Hewitt AW, Jaddoe VWV, van Duijn 

CM, Hayward C, Polasek O, Tai ES, Yoshikatsu H, Hysi PG, Young TL, Tsujikawa A, Wang JJ, Mitchell P, Pfeiffer N, 

Pärssinen O, Foster PJ, Fossarello M, Yip SP, Williams C, Hammond CJ, Jonas JB, He M, Mackey DA, Wong TY, Klaver 

CCW, Saw SM, Baird PN, Cheng CY. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of corneal curvature identifies novel loci 

and shared genetic influences across axial length and refractive error. Commun Biol. 2020 Mar 19;3(1):133. doi: 

10.1038/s42003-020-0802-y. 

 

 Leong A, Lim VJY, Wang C, Chai JF, Dorajoo R, Heng CK, van Dam RM, Koh WP, Yuan JM, Jonas JB, Wang YX, Wei WB, 

Liu J, Reilly DF ,Wong TY, Cheng CY, Sim X. Association of G6PD variants with hemoglobin A1c and impact on diabetes 

diagnosis in East Asian individuals. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020 Mar;8(1). pii: e001091. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-

2019-001091. 

 

 Ting DSW*, Foo VHX*, Tan TE, Sie NM, Wong CW, Tsai ASH, Tan GSW, Lim LS, Yeo IYS, Wong DWK, Ong SG, Wong 

EYM, Ang CL, Lee SY. 25-years Trends and Risk factors related to Surgical Outcomes of Giant Retinal Tear-

Rhegmatogenous Retinal Detachments. Sci Rep. 2020 Mar 25;10(1):5474. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61592-0. 

 

 Lee SS, Lingham G, Yazar S, Sanfilippo PG, Charng J, Chen FK, Hewitt AW, Ng F, Hammond C, Straker LM, Eastwood PR, 

MacGregor S, Rose KA, Lucas RM, Guggenheim JA, Saw SM, Coroneo MT, He M, Mackey DA. Rationale and protocol 

for the 7- and 8-year longitudinal assessments of eye health in a cohort of young adults in the Raine Study. BMJ 

Open. 2020 Mar 25;10(3):e033440. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033440. 

 

 Yip MYT, Lim G, Lim ZW, Nguyen QD, Chong CCY, Yu M, Bellemo V, Xie Y, Lee XQ, Hamzah H, Ho J, Tan TE, Sabanayagam 

C, Grzybowski A, Tan GSW, Hsu W, Lee ML, Wong TY, Ting DSW. Technical and imaging factors influencing 

performance of deep learning systems for diabetic retinopathy. NPJ Digit Med. 2020 Mar 23;3:40. doi: 

10.1038/s41746-020-0247-1. eCollection 2020. 

 



66 
 

 Daya S, Chee SP, Ti SE, Packard R, Mordaunt DH. Comparison of anterior capsulotomy techniques: continuous 

curvilinear capsulorhexis, femtosecond laser-assisted capsulotomy and selective laser capsulotomy. Br J 

Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):437-442. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-313421. Epub 2019 Apr 4. 

 

 Kim JA, Kim TW, Lee EJ, Girard MJA, Mari JM. Relationship between lamina cribrosa curvature and the 

microvasculature in treatment-naïve eyes. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):398-403. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-

2019-313996. Epub 2019 May 16. 

 

 Dai W, Tham YC, Chee ML, Majithia S, Poh S, Tan AG, Tao Y, Wang JJ, Cheng CY. Systemic medications and cortical 

cataract: the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):330-335. doi: 

10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-314256. Epub 2019 Jul 4. 

 

 Soh YQ, Kocaba V, Pinto M, Mehta JS. Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy and corneal endothelial diseases: East 

meets West.  Eye (Lond). 2020 Mar;34(3):427-441. doi: 10.1038/s41433-019-0497-9. Epub 2019 Jul 2. 

 

 Lanca C, Saw SM. The association between digital screen time and myopia: A systematic review. Ophthalmic Physiol 

Opt. 2020 Mar;40(2):216-229. doi: 10.1111/opo.12657. Epub 2020 Jan 13. 

 

 Tan NYQ, Friedman DS, Stalmans I, Ahmed IIK, Sng CCA. Glaucoma screening: where are we and where do we need 

to go? Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;31(2):91-100. doi: 10.1097/ICU.0000000000000649. 

 

 Iyer J, Vianna JR, Chauhan BC, Quigley HA. Toward a new definition of glaucomatous optic neuropathy for clinical 

research. Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;31(2):85-90. doi: 10.1097/ICU.0000000000000644. 

 

 Grzybowski A, Brona P, Lim G, Ruamviboonsuk P, Tan GSW, Abramoff M, Ting DSW. Artificial intelligence for diabetic 

retinopathy screening: a review. Eye (Lond). 2020 Mar;34(3):451-460. doi: 10.1038/s41433-019-0566-0. Epub 2019 

Sep 5. 

 

 Lim ZV, Akram F, Ngo CP, Winarto AA, Lee WQ, Liang K, Oon HH, Thng STG, Lee HK. Automated grading of acne vulgaris 

by deep learning with convolutional neural networks. Skin Res Technol. 2020 Mar;26(2):187-192. doi: 

10.1111/srt.12794. Epub 2019 Sep 29. 

 

 Fenwick EK, Loe BS, Khadka J, Man REK, Rees G, Lamoureux EL. Optimizing measurement of vision-related quality of 

life: a computerized adaptive test for the impact of vision impairment questionnaire (IVI-CAT). Qual Life Res. 2020 

Mar;29(3):765-774. doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-02354-y. Epub 2019 Nov 9. 

 

 Devalla SK, Liang Z, Pham TH, Boote C, Strouthidis NG, Thiery AH, Girard MJA. Glaucoma management in the era of 

artificial intelligence. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):301-311. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-315016. Epub 

2019 Oct 22. 

 

 Ting DS, Gunasekeran DV, Wickham L, Wong TY. Next generation telemedicine platforms to screen and triage. Br J 

Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;104(3):299-300. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-315066. Epub 2019 Dec 3. 

 

 Liu C, Nongpiur ME, Khor CC, Vithana EN, Aung T. Primary angle closure glaucoma genomic associations and disease 

mechanism.  Curr Opin Ophthalmol. 2020 Mar;31(2):101-106. doi: 10.1097/ICU.0000000000000645. 

 



67 
 

 Chen B, Bernard JY, Padmapriya N, Ning Y, Cai S, Lança C, Tan KH, Yap F, Chong YS, Shek L, Godfrey KM, Saw SM, Chan 

SY, Eriksson JG, Tan CS, Müller-Riemenschneider F. Associations between early-life screen viewing and 24 hour 

movement behaviours: findings from a longitudinal birth cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2020 

Mar;4(3):201-209. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30424-9. Epub 2020 Jan 28. 

 

 Khamar P, Nishtala K, Shetty R, Panigrahi T, Shetty K, Pahuja N, Deshpande V, Ghosh A. Early biological responses in 

ocular tissue after SMILE and LASIK surgery. Exp Eye Res. 2020 Mar;192:107936. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2020.107936. 

Epub 2020 Jan 28. 

 

 Li H, Khor CC, Fan J, Lv J, Yu C, Guo Y, Bian Z, Yang L, Millwood IY, Walters RG, Chen Y, Yuan JM, Yang Y, Hu C, Chen J, 

Chen Z, Koh WP, Huang T, Li L. Genetic risk, adherence to a healthy lifestyle, and type 2 diabetes risk among 550,000 

Chinese adults: results from 2 independent Asian cohorts. Am J Clin Nutr. 2020 Mar 1;111(3):698-707. doi: 

10.1093/ajcn/nqz310. 

 

 Liu YC ,Hall B, Lwin NC, Teo EPW, Yam GHF, Hipsley AM, Mehta JS. Tissue responses and wound healing following 

laser scleral microporation for presbyopia therapy. Translational Vision Science and Technology. 2020 Mar 9(4):6. 

doi:10.1167/tvst.9.4.6 

 

 Lai KW, Lim DKA, Lim BXH, Yuen YS, Lim CHL. Ticked off: A case of a tick involving the lower eyelid. Canadian Journal 

of Emergency Medicine. 2020 Mar, 22(2):257-260. doi: 10.1017/cem.2019.466. 

 

 Yoo TK, Ryu IH, Choi H, Kim JK, Lee IS, Kim JS,Lee G, Rim TH. Explainable machine learning approach as a tool to 

understand factors used to select the refractive surgery technique on the expert level. Translational Vision Science 

and Technology. 2020 Mar.9(2):8. doi: 10.1167/tvst.9.2.8. 

 

 Wong WM, Chee C, Bhargava M, Chai C, Lin H, Zhao P, Ariadarma Mangunkusumo E, Naing T, Yuen YS, Wong TY, Su X, 

Lingam G. Systemic Factors Associated with Treatment Response in Diabetic Macular Edema. J Ophthalmol. 2020 

Mar 19;2020:1875860. doi: 10.1155/2020/1875860. eCollection 2020. 

 

 Riau AK, Liu YC, Yam GHF, Mehta JS. Stromal keratophakia: Corneal inlay implantation. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2020 

Mar;75:100780. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2019.100780. 

 

 Lertxundi U, Hernández R, Medrano J, Orive G. Drug pollution and pharmacotherapy in psychiatry: a "platypus" in 

the room. Eur Psychiatry. 2020 Mar 23;63(1):e33. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2020.32. 

 

  



68 
 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

Directors’ statement 
 

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the member together with the audited financial statements of 
Singapore Eye Research Institute (the "Company") for the financial year ended 31 March 2020. 
 
Opinion of the directors 
 
In the opinion of the directors, 
 
(i) the financial statements of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

the Company as at 31 March 2020 and the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Company 
for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Charities 
Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore; and 

 
(ii) at the date of this statement, having regards to the financial support from the immediate holding company, there 

are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 

Directors 

 

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 

 

Professor Wong Tien Yin  

Ms Ooi Chee Kar  

Professor Ang Chong Lye  

Professor Wang Linfa  

Doctor Geh Min  

Doctor Seet Hun Yew Benjamin (Appointed on 5 August 2020) 

Professor James D Best  

Professor Thomas M Coffman  

A/Prof Vernon Lee Jian Ming  

Professor Chong Yap Seng  

Professor Tan Sze Wee  
 

 

Directors’ Interests 

 
The Company has no share capital and debentures and its members’ liability is limited by guarantee.  

 

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 

objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the 

acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 

 

 

Options 

 

The Company does not have any share capital and accordingly has not issued any share options. 
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Auditor 
 
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor. 
 
 
On behalf of the board of directors, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
─────────────────── 
Professor Wong Tien Yin 
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
─────────────────── 
Ms Ooi Chee Kar 
Director 
 
 
 
Singapore 

31 Aug 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 
Independent auditor's report to the member of Singapore Eye Research Institute 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Eye Research Institute (the "Company"), which comprise the 

balance sheet as at 31 March 2020, statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows of the Company for 

the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the “Charities Act 

and “Regulations”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRS) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Company as at 31 March 2020 and of the financial performance and cash flows of the Company for the 

year ended on that date. 

 
Basis for opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 

(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with 

the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Other information 

 
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises directors' statement set out on pages 

1 and 2, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 

nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 
Independent auditor's report to the member of Singapore Eye Research Institute 
 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements  

 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

the provisions of the Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 

accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 

unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to 

permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.  

 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 

do so. 

 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 
Independent auditor's report to the member of Singapore Eye Research Institute 
 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d) 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 

cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
Other matters 

 
The financial statements of Singapore Eye Research Institute for the year ended 31 March 2019 were audited by another 

auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 2 September 2019. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the Charities Act and Regulations. 

 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year: 

 
(a) the Company has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under Regulation 11 of 

the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and 

 
(b) the Company has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public 

Character) Regulations. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young LLP 

Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
Balance sheet 
As at 31 March 2020 

 
 Note 2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Assets     

Property, plant and equipment 4  9,529,016 5,805,066 

Intangible assets 5  121,534 67,273 
        
Non-current assets  9,650,550 5,872,339 
    
    

Trade and other receivables 6 25,569,722 20,080,126 

Prepayments    218,218  301,687 

Cash and cash equivalents 8  11,210,093  9,644,088 
        
Current assets  36,998,033  30,025,901 
        
Total assets  46,648,583  35,898,240 
    
    

Accumulated fund 9 (946,278) (650,359) 
    
    

Liabilities    

Deferred income 10 3,790,986 3,693,492 

Other payables 12 788,193 – 
        
Non-current liabilities  4,579,179 3,693,492 
    
    

Trade payables 11  9,606,766 8,517,186 

Other payables 12  30,051,329   21,998,924 

Deferred income 10 2,406,430 1,616,943 

Employee benefits 13  951,157  722,054 
        
Current liabilities  43,015,682  32,855,107 
        
Total liabilities  47,594,861  36,548,599 
        
Total accumulated fund and liabilities  46,648,583 35,898,240 
    
    

 
 

 

 

 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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Statement of comprehensive income  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 

 Note 2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Operating expenditure grants 15   31,943,448 28,519,272 

Amortisation of deferred income 10  1,588,528  1,535,058 

Government subvention 18  543,456  543,463 

Other income 16  4,864,386  3,090,285 
        
  38,939,818 33,688,078 

Staff costs   (18,099,506) (16,594,416) 

Supplies and consumables   (3,420,682) (3,492,867) 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4  (2,469,974) (1,481,665) 

Amortisation of intangible assets 5  (63,118) (125,034) 

Rental and utilities   (2,089,759) (2,915,745) 

Purchased and contracted services  (9,656,140) (6,802,770) 

Repairs and maintenance   (708,970) (527,127) 

Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other receivables   25,036  26,894 

Other operating expenses   (2,642,878) (1,780,265) 
        
Results from operating activities  (186,173) (4,917) 

    

Net finance (costs)/income 17 (109,746) 8,098 
        
(Deficit)/surplus before tax  (295,919) 3,181 

Tax expense 19 – – 
        
(Deficit)/surplus for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year 20 (295,919) 3,181 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in funds  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 

    
Accumulated 

funds 

    $ 

     

Balance at 1 April 2018    (546,878) 

Adjustments on initial application of FRS 
109 (net of tax)    (106,662) 

          
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018    (653,540) 
     
Net surplus, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year    3,181 
          
Balance at 31 March 2019    (650,359) 
     
     

Balance at 1 April 2019    (650,359) 
     
Net deficit, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year    (295,919) 
          
Balance at 31 March 2020    (946,278) 
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Statement of changes in funds  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 

 Note 2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

(Deficit)/surplus before tax  (295,919) 3,181 

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 2,469,974 1,481,665 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 78,237 – 

Interest expense  110,709 – 

Amortisation of intangible assets 5  63,118  125,034 

Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other receivables   (25,036) (26,894) 

Amortisation of deferred income 10  (1,588,528) (1,535,058) 
        
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  812,555 47,928 
    
Changes in working capital:     

Trade and other receivables    (4,628,192) (4,182,351) 

Prepayments   83,469  (245,312) 

Trade and other payables  8,239,462 4,417,273 

Employee benefits   229,103  (13,366) 
        
Net cash from operating activities  4,736,397 24,172 
    
    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (3,723,940) (1,252,788) 

Purchase of intangible assets   (117,379) (29,889) 

Grants for capital expenditure  1,639,141 785,483 
        
Net cash used in investing activities  (2,202,178) (497,194) 
    
    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Interest paid  (110,709) – 

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (857,505) – 
        
Net cash used in financing activities  (968,214) – 
        
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   1,566,005  (473,022) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   9,644,088  10,117,110 
        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 8 11,210,093 9,644,088 
    

 
During the year, the Company acquired property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with an aggregate cost of 
$3,841,319 (2019: $1,282,677), of which $1,639,141 (2019: $785,483) was acquired using grants received. 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
 

1. Corporate information 
 
Singapore Eye Research Institute (‘the Company’) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. The address of the 

Company’s registered office is at 31 Third Hospital Avenue, #03-03 Bowyer Block, Singapore 168753. 

 
The principal activities of the Company are to carry out eye-related medical research projects. 

 
The immediate, intermediate holding companies and ultimate controlling party during the financial year are Singapore 

National Eye Centre Pte Ltd, Singapore Health Services Pte Ltd and MOH Holdings Pte Ltd, and Minister for Finance 

respectively. These companies were incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. 

 
The Company, limited by guarantee, has been registered as a Charity, under the Charities Act, Cap. 37 with effect from 27 

November 2002. 

 

2. Basis of preparation 

 
2.1 Going Concern  

 
As at 31 March 2020, the Company had deficiencies in accumulated fund and net working capital of $946,278 (2019: 

$650,359) and $6,017,649 (2019: $2,829,206) respectively. Notwithstanding this, the directors of the Company consider 

that it is appropriate for the Company to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis as the immediate 

holding company has agreed to provide financial support as is necessary for the next twelve months to enable the 

Company to continue its operations and to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. 

 
2.2 Statement of compliance  

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). 

 
This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which FRS 116 Leases has been applied. Changes to 

significant accounting policies are described in Note 2.6. 

 
2.3 Basis of measurement  

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes below. 

 
2.4 Functional and presentation currency  
 
These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars ($), which is the Company’s functional currency. 
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2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
2.5 Use of estimates and judgements  

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount 

recognised in the financial statements and assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 

resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included below: 

 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, are stated at cost and depreciated/amortised on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives represent the estimate of the periods that management 

expects to derive economic benefits from these assets. In estimating these useful lives and in determining whether 

subsequent revisions to useful lives are necessary, management considers the likelihood of technical obsolescence arising 

from changes in technology and intended use.  

 
Valuation of trade receivables – measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance 

 
The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. Loss rates are based on actual 

credit loss experience over the past one to five years. These rates are adjusted by scalar factors to reflect differences 

between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, current conditions and 

the Company’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. These scalar factors are calculated 

using statistical models that determine numeric co-relation of loss rates with relevant economic variables. 

 
Measurement of fair values 

 
Information about the measurement of fair values and the assumptions made in measuring fair values is described in Note 

21. 

 
2.6 Adoption of new standards 
 
The Company applied FRS 116 Leases for the first time. The adoption of FRS 116 did not have any effect on the financial 

performance or position of the Company as at 1 April 2019.  

 
Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in the year ended 31 March 2020, but do not have 

an impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Company has not early adopted any standards, interpretations 

or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

 
3.1 Foreign currency 

 
Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of the Company and recorded on initial 

recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the 

reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.  

 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the 

reporting period are recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
3.2 Financial instruments  

 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement  

 
Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities 

are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially 

measured at the transaction price. 

 
Financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial 

liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or 

loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

 
Non-derivative financial assets 

 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost. 

 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business 

model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the 

first reporting period following the change in the business model. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.2 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 

 
Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 

FVTPL:  

 
• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is 

reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 

surplus or deficit. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in surplus or deficit. 

 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 

 
Such financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
(iii) Derecognition 

 
Financial assets 

 
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 

expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor 

retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.  

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. 

The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 

liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at 

fair value.  

 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.2 Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 
(iv) Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and only 

when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them 

on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

 
The Company do not have any financial assets and financial liabilities that: 

 
• are offset in the balance sheet; or 

• are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement, irrespective of whether they are offset in the balance 

sheet. 

 
(v) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and deposits with financial institutions that are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short-

term commitments. 

 
3.3 Property, plant and equipment  

 
Recognition and measurement 

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. 

 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 

includes:  

 

 the cost of materials and direct labour;  

 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended uses;  

 when the Company has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and  

 capitalised borrowing costs, if any. 

 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

 
Construction-in-progress comprises the capitalised costs of on-going capital projects. 

 
Low value assets costing less than $1,000 individually are written off in the period of outlay. 

 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 

items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in surplus or deficit. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.3 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 

 
Subsequent costs 

 
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-
to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of an asset, less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets 

are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is 

depreciated separately. 

 
Depreciation is recognised as an expense in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 

asset. 

 
Construction-in-progress is not depreciated. 

 
Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in 

respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. 

 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

 
Building improvements 10 years 
Medical and laboratory equipment 8 years 
Computers                                                          3 years 
Office equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fittings 8 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 

appropriate. 

 
3.4 Leases 

 
Policy applicable beginning 1 April 2019 

 
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 
Company as a lessee 
 
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 

representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.4 Leases (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable beginning 1 April 2019 (cont’d)  

 
Company as a lessee (cont’d) 

 
a. Right-of-use assets  

 
The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 

asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 

lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 

date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 

the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

 
Building and office space     3 years  

 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to accounting policies in Note 3.6 (ii). The Company’s 

right-of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment (Note 4). 

 
b. Lease liabilities  

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 

fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 

amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of 

a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the 

lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not 

depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the 

period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.  

 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 

the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 

a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change 

in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase 

the underlying asset. 

 
The Company’s lease liabilities are included in other payables (Note 12). 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.4 Leases (cont’d) 

 
Policy applicable beginning 1 April 2019 (cont’d)  

 
Company as a lessee (cont’d) 

 
c. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment 

(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 

purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment 

that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 

recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 

asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms and is included in income in surplus or deficit due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 

over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as income in the period in 

which they are earned. 

 
Policy applicable before 1 April 2019 

 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 

lease. 

 
3.5 Intangible assets 

 
Computer software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is accounted for as an intangible asset and is 

stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 
No amortisation is provided on software development-in-progress. 

 
Research 

 
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 

understanding, is recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred. 

 
Subsequent expenditure 

 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset 

to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised 

in surplus or deficit as incurred. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.5 Intangible assets (cont’d) 
 
Amortisation 
 
Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of asset, less its residual value. 
 
Amortisation of computer software is recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life 

of 3-5 years, from the date that they are available for use. 

 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 

appropriate. 

 
3.6 Impairment 
 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets  

 
The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

 
Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases:  

 
• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the 

reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or 

• Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. 

 
Measurement of ECLs 

 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 

shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash 

flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

 
Credit-impaired financial assets  

 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. 
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:  
 
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  

• a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 1 to 3 years, taking into consideration historical 

payment track records, current macroeconomics situation as well as the general industry trend;  

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider 

otherwise;  

• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or  

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.6 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 

 
However, financial assets that are considered as ‘credit-impaired’ would still be subject to enforcement activities in 
order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  
 
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the balance sheet 

 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these 
assets. 
 
Write-off 

 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no 

realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not 

have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the 

write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to 

comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

 
Simplified approach 

 
The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The simplified approach 

requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 
General approach 

 
The Company applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments. Under the general 

approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition. 

 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 

when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 

without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the 

Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.  

 
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments 

improve such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is 

measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.6 Impairment (cont’d) 
 
(i) Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 
 

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

 
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Group to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or  

• the financial asset is more than 1 to 3 years past due, taking into consideration historical payment track records, 

current macroeconomics situation as well as the general industry trend.  

 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company 

is exposed to credit risk. 

 
(ii) Non-financial assets 
 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related 

cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest 

group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 

other assets or CGU. 

 
The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. 

Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the 

testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated. 

 
Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated 

first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the 

carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 

 
Impairment loss recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 

decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.7 Employee benefits 
 
Defined contribution plans 

 
A defined contribution plan is a benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will 

have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 

plans are recognised as an expense in income and expenditure during which services are rendered by employees. 

 
Short-term employee benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 

is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 

plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 

by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

3.8 Provisions 
 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 

be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised 

as finance cost. 

 
3.9 Income recognition 
 
Grant income 

 
Grant income designated for research purposes is recognised in surplus or deficit when the relevant qualifying costs are 

incurred. The deferral of certain grant income is described in note 3.10. 

 
Grants which are designated for property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets purchases whose individual value 

of more than $1,000 and $10,000 respectively are taken to deferred income in the period of receipt. The deferred income 

is amortised over the useful life of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets by crediting to the surplus or 

deficit an amount so as to match the related depreciation and amortisation expense.  

 
Programme fees 

 
Programme fees relate to fees or income which the Company receives when it carries out activities through direct service 

provision to undertake the work that contributes to its objectives. Programme fees are recognised in surplus or deficit 

when the relevant milestone is achieved. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
3.10 Government grants 
 
Government grants related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are taken to deferred income or to the 

surplus or deficit for assets which are written off in the year of purchase. Such government grant recognised in deferred 

income is recognised in the surplus or deficit over the periods necessary to match the depreciation/amortisation and write 

off of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets purchased with the related grants. Upon the disposal of 

the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, the balance of the related deferred income is recognised in the 

surplus or deficit to reflect the net book value of the assets disposed. 

 
Government subvention 

 
Government subvention is accounted for on an accrual basis in the surplus or deficit when there is reasonable assurance 

that the Company has complied with all the terms and conditions attached to the subvention and that there is reasonable 

certainty that the subvention will be received. Government subvention is a subsidy from the Ministry of Health for 

expenses incurred in relation to the Temporary occupation licence. 

 
3.11 Finance income and finance costs 
 
The Company’s finance income and finance costs include foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial 

liabilities. 

 
Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either finance 

income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 

 
3.12 Tax 
 
The Company has been registered as a Charity, under Charities Act, Cap. 37 with effect from 27 November 2002. No 

provision for taxation has been made in the financial statements as the Company is a registered charity with income tax 

exemption. 

 
3.13 New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
The Company has not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not yet effective: 

 

Description 

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after 
  
Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 8: Definition of Material 1 January 2020 
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in FRS 

Standards  
1 January 2020 

 
The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial statements in 

the year of initial application. 
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4. Property, plant and equipment 

 
Building 

improvements 

Medical and 
laboratory  
equipment Computers 

Office 
equipment 

Furniture 
and fittings 

Motor 
vehicle 

Right-of-use 
assets  

(Note 14) 
Construction-

in-progress Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

          

Cost          
At 1 April 2018 1,047,102 17,011,708 1,486,056 120,521 387,037 401,661 – 16,373 20,470,458 

Additions – 630,835 172,111 1,711 26,003 – – 422,128 1,252,788 

Disposals – (720,414) (6,732) – – (196,880) – – (924,026) 
          
          
At 31 March 2019 1,047,102 16,922,129 1,651,435 122,232 413,040 204,781 – 438,501 20,799,220 

Additions – 1,226,419  652,547  33,667  – – 2,548,221 1,811,307 6,272,161 

Disposals (1,047,102) (2,318,375) (346,004) – – – – – (3,711,481) 
                    
At 31 March 2020 – 15,830,173  1,957,978  155,899  413,040  204,781  2,548,221  2,249,808 23,359,900 
          
          
Accumulated 
depreciation       

 

  
At 1 April 2018 1,040,566 11,326,454 1,326,731 118,270 239,972 40,166 – – 14,092,159 

Depreciation charge for 
the year 3,479 1,289,691 109,066 1,088 37,385 40,956 – – 1,481,665 

Disposals – (553,250) (6,732) – – (19,688) – – (579,670) 
          
          
At 31 March 2019 1,044,045 12,062,895 1,429,065 119,358 277,357 61,434 – – 14,994,154 

Depreciation charge for 
the year 

 
2,223  

 
1,298,223  

 
192,723  

 
7,351  

 
29,126  

 
40,956  899,372 – 

 
2,469,974  

Disposals (1,046,268) (2,240,972) (346,004) – – – – – (3,633,244) 
          
          
At 31 March 2020 – 11,120,146  1,275,784  126,709  306,483  102,390  899,372  – 13,830,884  
          
          
Carrying amounts          
At 31 March 2019 3,057 4,859,234 222,370 2,874 135,683 143,347 – 438,501 5,805,066 
          
          
At 31 March 2020 –  4,710,027  682,194  29,190  106,557  102,391  1,648,849    2,249,808 9,529,016  
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5. Intangible assets 

 Computer 
software 

 $ 
Cost  
At 1 April 2018 1,733,535 
Additions 29,889 
    
At 31 March 2019 1,763,424 
Additions 117,379 

    
At 31 March 2020 1,880,803 
  
  
Accumulated amortisation  
At 1 April 2018 1,571,117 
Amortisation charge for the year 125,034 
    
At 31 March 2019 1,696,151 
Amortisation charge for the year 63,118 
    
At 31 March 2020 1,759,269 
  
  
Carrying amounts  
At 31 March 2019 67,273 
    
At 31 March 2020 121,534 
  

 

6. Trade and other receivables 
 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Deposits and other receivables 7 21,289,478 15,884,243 
Trade amounts due from:    
- Immediate holding company   3,445,417  3,622,153 
- Intermediate holding company   730,249  527,873 
- Related corporations  104,578 45,857 
        
  25,569,722 20,080,126 
    

 
Outstanding balances with related parties are unsecured. There is no allowance for doubtful debts arising from these 

outstanding balances. 

 
Information about the Company’s exposures to credit risks and impairment losses for trade and other receivables are 

included in note 21. 
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7. Deposits and other receivables 
 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Deposits   74,904  1,193 
Receivables from funding bodies   20,001,002  15,024,917 
Grant receivables from third parties   846,614  911,674 
Sundry receivables   421,690  26,227 
        
  21,344,210 15,964,011 
Less: Impairment loss   (54,732) (79,768) 
        
 6 21,289,478 15,884,243 
    

 
Receivables from funding bodies are non-interest bearing and have no credit terms. 
 

8. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Cash at bank and in hand  11,210,093 9,644,088 
    

 
9. Accumulated fund 
 
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital. In the event of a winding up of the Company, the liability 
of each member of the Company is limited to such amount as may be required, but not exceeding the sum of one hundred 
dollars ($100). The accumulated fund represents the cumulative surplus or deficit of the Company. 
 
The Company’s reserve policy is to maintain funds at a minimum sufficient to cover budgeted operating and capital cost 
for the current fiscal year. In the event of an operating deficit or a shortfall of current assets over current liabilities, the 
Company will obtain appropriate financial support from its immediate holding company to pay liabilities, as and when 
they fall due. 
 
Capital management 
 
Capital comprises the accumulated fund of the Company. The Company’s operation is funded primarily from grants from 
various funding bodies and loans from immediate holding company. There was no change in the Company’s approach to 
capital management during the year. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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10. Deferred income 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Capital expenditure grants  5,361,048 5,310,435 

Other grants  836,368 – 
    
    
  6,197,416 5,310,435 
    
    
Non-current  3,790,986 3,693,492 

Current  2,406,430 1,616,943 
        
  6,197,416 5,310,435 
    
    

 
Capital expenditure grants 
 
Capital expenditure grants comprised grants received for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and 

intangible assets (“IA”). Income received is deferred and amortised over the periods necessary to match the depreciation 

of the PPE and amortisation of the IA purchased with the related grants. 

 
Movement in deferred income relating to capital expenditure grants is as follows: 

 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

At cost  19,046,536 21,085,439 
        
Less: Accumulated amortisation:    

 At 1 April   15,775,004  14,815,637 

 Amortisation charge for the year   1,588,528  1,535,058 

 Disposal of assets funded by grants    (3,678,044) (575,691) 
        
 At 31 March  13,685,488 15,775,004 
        
  5,361,048 5,310,435 
    
    

Non-current  3,790,986 3,693,492 

Current  1,570,062 1,616,943 
        
  5,361,048 5,310,435 
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11. Trade payables 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Trade payables  508,336 2,060,549 

Trade amounts due to:    

- Immediate holding company   3,176,094  1,353,748 

- Intermediate holding company   5,702,667  4,720,733 

- Related corporations   219,669  382,156 
        
  9,606,766 8,517,186 
    

 
The Company’s exposure to liquidity risks related to trade payables is disclosed in Note 21. 

 

12. Other payables 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Accrued operating expenses   4,162,209 3,058,449 

Loans from immediate holding company   6,000,000  6,000,000 

Research grants received in advance from government 
   

7,119,227  2,897,777 

Research grants received in advance from third parties  7,052,261  5,472,040 

Research grants received in advance from related corporation  4,814,169  4,569,718 

Lease liabilities 14 1,690,716 – 

Refundable deposits  940 940 
        
  30,839,522 21,998,924 
    

 
Non-current   788,193 – 

Current  30,051,329 21,998,924 
        
  30,839,522 21,998,924 
    

 
Loans from immediate holding company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 
 
The Company’s exposure to liquidity risks related to other payables is disclosed in Note 21. 

 
13. Employee benefits 
 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

   

Liability for short-term accumulated compensated absences 951,157 722,054 
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14. Leases 
 
Company as a lessee 
 
The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.  
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets (included under property, plant and equipment) recognised 

and the movements during the period: 

 
 Building and 

office space 
 $ 
  
At 31 March 2019 – 
Adjustments on initial application of FRS 116  – 
  
  At 1 April 2019 – 
Additions 2,548,221 
Depreciation expense (899,372) 
    
At 31 March 2020 1,648,849 
  
  

 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under trade and other payables) and the movements 

during the period: 

 
  $ 

   
At 31 March 2019  – 
Adjustments on initial application of FRS 116   – 
      At 1 April 2019  – 
Additions  2,548,221 
Accretion of interest  110,709 
Payments  (968,214) 
      
At 31 March 2020  1,690,716 
      
Non-current   788,193 
Current   902,523 
        1,690,716 
   
    

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 21. 
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14. Leases (cont’d) 

 
Company as a lessee (cont’d) 
 
The following are the amounts recognised in surplus or deficit: 
 

  $ 

   
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  899,372 
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  110,709 
Expenses relating to short-term leases (included in 

Rental & utilities)  1,523,582 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets (included 

in Rental & utilities)  14,624 
      
Total amount recognised in surplus or deficit  2,548,287 
      

 
The Company had total cash outflows for leases of $2,506,420 in 2020. The Company also had non-cash additions to right-

of-use assets and lease liabilities of $2,548,221 in the year ended 31 March 2020. There are no lease contracts committed 

but not yet commenced as at 31 March 2020. 

 

15. Operating expenditure grants 
 
These grants are received mainly from National Medical Research Council, Biomedical Research Council, SingHealth 

Foundation, Singapore Health Services Pte Ltd, Singapore National Eye Centre Pte Ltd and SNEC Health Research 

Endowment Fund for research projects. 

 

16. Other income 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Clinical trial and research income  4,226,717 2,730,826 

Other miscellaneous income   637,669  359,459 
    
    
  4,864,386 3,090,285 
    

 
17. Net finance (costs)/income 
 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 14)  (110,709) – 
Net foreign exchange gain  963 8,098 
        
Net finance (costs)/income  (109,746) 8,098 
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18. Government Subvention 
 
Government subvention is recognised in the surplus or deficit when conditions attached to its recognition are met by 

the Company. The Government is currently reviewing and finalising the subvention paid and payable to the Company in 

respect of the current year, no adjustment has been made in the financial statements for this component in the current 

financial year. 

 
19. Tax expense 
 
The Company is a non-profit organisation registered with the Commissioner of Charities under the Singapore Charities 

Act. With effect from Year of Assessment 2008, all registered and exempt charities will enjoy automatic income tax 

exemption. Thus, no provision for taxation was made in the financial statements. 

 

20. (Deficit)/surplus for the year 
 
The following items have been included in arriving at (deficit)/surplus for the year: 
 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Short-term and low-value/operating lease expense  1,538,206 2,375,745 
Contributions to defined contribution plan included 

in staff costs  
  

1,672,002  1,633,709 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  78,237 – 
    

 

21. Financial Instruments  
 
Overview 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 
 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.   

 
Risk management framework 
 
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Company. The Company has a system of controls in place to 

create an acceptable balance between cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management 

continually monitors the Company’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and 

control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 

and the Company’s activities. 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations as and when they fall due. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets in the balance sheet represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk, 
before taking into account any collateral held. The Company does not hold any collateral in respect of its financial assets. 
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 
The Company has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

 
The allowance account in respect of trade and other receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Company 

is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point, the financial asset is considered irrecoverable 

and the amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount of the impaired financial 

asset. 

 
Cash is placed with financial institutions which are regulated.  

 
The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its receivables from funding bodies and corporations. These 

parties are established and reputable institutions which management regarded the associated credit risk to be minimum. 

The Company’s historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded allowances for 

impairment losses. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk beyond the amounts provided 

for collection losses is inherent in the Company’s trade and other receivables. 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables of the Company at the reporting date (by type of 

debtor) is: 

 
  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Funding bodies   20,001,002  15,024,917 

Corporations  5,568,720 5,055,209 
        
  25,569,722 20,080,126 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Credit risk (cont’d) 
 
Impairment losses 

 
The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was: 

 
  2020 2020 

  
Not credit-
impaired 

Credit-
impaired 

  $ $ 

    

Not past due  22,992,028 – 

Past due 1 – 30 days  278,441 – 

Past due 31 – 150 days  905,577 – 

Past due over 150 days  1,418,720 29,688 
    
    

Total gross carrying amount  25,594,766 29,688 

Impairment loss allowance  (25,044) (29,688) 
    
    
  25,569,722 – 
    
        
  2019 2019 

  
Not credit-
impaired 

Credit-
impaired 

  $ $ 

    

Not past due  19,845,978 – 

Past due 1 – 30 days  88,301 – 

Past due 31 – 150 days  144,286 – 

Past due over 150 days  80,689 640 
    
    
Total gross carrying amount  20,159,254 640 

Impairment loss allowance  (79,128) (640) 
        
  20,080,126 – 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

Impairment losses (cont’d) 

 
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and other receivables from funding bodies and 

corporations (excluding related parties). 

 
Other receivables from funding bodies of $20,001,002 and $15,024,917 as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 

respectively are neither past due nor impaired. 

 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other receivables from 

corporations (excluding related parties) as at 31 March: 

 

 

 

Weighted 
average loss 

rate 

 
 

Gross 
Impairment 

losses 
2020  % $ $ 

     
Not past due  0.3 1,022,306 2,685 

Past due 1 – 30 days  13.2 149,465 19,718 
Past due 31 – 150 days  – – – 
Past due over 150 days  16.5 195,988 32,329 

          
   1,367,759 54,732 
     

 
 

 

Weighted 
average loss 

rate 

 
 

Gross 
Impairment 

losses 
2019  % $ $ 

     
Not past due  6.5 625,178 40,775 

Past due 1 – 30 days  9.9 88,301 8,748 
Past due 31 – 150 days  6.7 144,286 9,638 
Past due over 150 days  25.3 81,329 20,607 

          
   939,094 79,768 
     

 
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. These rates are adjusted by scalar factors 

to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, 

current conditions and the Company’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. These scalar 

factors are calculated using statistical models that determine numeric co-relation of loss rates with relevant economic 

variables. 

 
Amounts due from related parties 
 
Impairment on these balances has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis which reflects the low credit risk 

of the exposures. The amount of the allowance on these balances is insignificant. 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Credit risk (cont’d) 
 
Movements in allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables 
 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was as follows: 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

At 1 April   79,768 106,662 

Reversal of impairment loss  (25,036) (26,894) 
        
At 31 March   54,732 79,768 
    
    

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $11,210,093 at 31 March 2020 (2019: $9,644,088). The cash and cash 

equivalents are held with regulated financial institutions.  

 
Allowance for impairment losses on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis 

and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low 

credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of the allowance on cash and cash 

equivalents was negligible. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is 

to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due under normal and 

stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. 

 
The Company’s operation is funded primarily from grants from National Medical Research Council and loans from 

immediate holding company. As such, the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimised. 

 
The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by 

management to finance the Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 

 
The immediate holding company has agreed to provide financial support as is necessary for the next twelve months to 

enable the Company to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due (see Note 2.1). 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 

the impact of netting agreements: 

 

 Note 
Carrying 
amount 

Total 
contractual  
cash flows 

Within 
1 year 

Within  
5 years 

  $ $ $  

2020      

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities     

 

Trade payables 11 9,606,766 (9,606,766)  (9,606,766)  – 

Other payables* 12 10,163,149  (10,163,149) (10,163,149) – 

Lease liabilities 14 1,690,716 (1,775,039) (968,203) (806,836) 
            
  21,460,631 (21,544,954) (20,738,118)  (806,836) 
      
      

2019      

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities     

 

Trade payables 11 8,517,186 (8,517,186) (8,517,186) – 

Other payables* 12 9,059,389 (9,059,389) (9,059,389) – 
            
  17,576,575 (17,576,575) (17,576,575) – 
      

 
* Excludes research grants received in advance from government, third parties and related corporation and lease liabilities 

 

The maturity analysis shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities on the basis of their earliest 

possible contractual maturity. 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Measurement of fair values 
 
The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. 

 
If third party information, such as broker quotes, property valuations or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, 

then the Company assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that 

such valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations 

should be classified. 

 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair 

values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 

as follows: 

 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then 

the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level 

input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest). 

 
The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during 

which the change has occurred. 
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21. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Accounting classifications and fair values 
 
The carrying amounts of recognised financial assets and liabilities, as shown below, with a maturity of less than one year 

(including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables and other payables) approximate their 

fair values because of the short period to maturity. Accordingly, no fair value is separately presented. 

 

 Note 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost  

Total  
carrying 
amount 

  $ $ $ 
31 March 2020     
Financial assets not measured at fair 

value     
Cash and cash equivalents 8 11,210,093 – 11,210,093 
Trade and other receivables 6 25,569,722 – 25,569,722 
          
  36,779,815 – 36,779,815 
     
Financial liabilities not measured at 

fair value     
Trade payables 11 – (9,606,766) (9,606,766) 
Other payables* 12 – (10,163,149) (10,163,149) 
          
  – (19,769,915)   (19,769,915) 
     

 

 

 Note 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost  

Total  
carrying 
amount 

  $ $ $ 
31 March 2019     
Financial assets not measured at fair 

value     
Cash and cash equivalents 8 9,644,088 – 9,644,088 
Trade and other receivables 6 20,080,126 – 20,080,126 
          
  29,724,214 – 29,724,214 
     
Financial liabilities not measured at 

fair value     
Trade payables 11 – (8,517,186) (8,517,186) 
Other payables* 12 – (9,059,389) (9,059,389) 
          
  – (17,576,575)  (17,576,575)  
     

  
* Excludes research grants received in advance from government, third parties and related corporation and lease liabilities 
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22. Commitments 
 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Capital commitments:    
- contracted but not provided for  1,416,320 147,239 
    

 

At 31 March 2019, the Company has commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases (including those under Temporary Occupation License) as follows: 

 
  2019 
  $ 
   
Within 1 year  54,066 
After 1 year but within 5 years  – 
      
  54,066 
   

 

The operating lease commitments mainly relate to the lease of space and office equipment. The leases run for a period of 

one to four years with an option to renew the lease after that date. 
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23. Related parties 
 
Collectively, but not individually significant transactions 
 
The Company charges its immediate holding company for manpower services provided and purchases services from its 

intermediate holding company, immediate holding company and related corporations. 

 
Other related party transactions 
 
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions with related parties are as follows: 

 
  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Other income received/receivable    

Intermediate holding company   (603,776) (518,369) 

Immediate holding company   (2,408,666) (2,345,838) 

Related corporation   (4,777) (1,913,561) 

    

Sale of other services    

Intermediate holding company  – (46,729) 

Immediate holding company  (2,500) (109,083) 

Related corporation  – – 

    

Purchase of manpower services    

Intermediate holding company   2,521,395  838,932 

Immediate holding company   615,139  653,535 

Related corporation   474,125  210,521 

    

    

Purchase of other services    

Intermediate holding company   1,199,959  978,020 

Immediate holding company   1,120,675  507,917 

Related corporations   501,178  371,056 

    

Purchase of supplies and consumables    

Intermediate holding company   486,120  560,239 

Immediate holding company   19,066  5,886 

Related corporations  – 1,103 

    

Other expenses paid/payable     

Intermediate holding company   2,944,057  2,731,256 

Immediate holding company   220,197  244,104 

Related corporations   98,609  96,721 

    

 

The Company occupies space at the premises of its intermediate and immediate holding companies. The current year 

rental of $72,366 (2019: $144,113) is waived by the immediate holding company. 
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23. Related parties (cont’d) 
 
Key management personnel remuneration 
 
Key management personnel of the Company are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The senior management are considered as key management 

personnel of the Company. 

 
Key management personnel remuneration recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is as follows: 

 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Key management personnel    
- short-term employee benefits   1,233,174 1,379,001 
- contribution to defined contribution plan  47,843 59,965 
        
  1,281,017 1,438,966 
    

 
In compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public Character - Guideline 8.3, 

the annual remuneration of the Company’s three highest paid staff who each received remuneration exceeding $100,000, 

in the following bands in the year are as follows: 

 
  2020 2019 

Number of personnel in bands:    

    

- $200,001 to $300,000  1 – 

- $300,001 to $400,000  1 3 

- $400,001 to $500,000  1 – 

 
24. Events occurring after the reporting period 
 
The Multi-Ministry Taskforce implemented an elevated set of safe distancing measures as a circuit breaker from 7 April 

2020 to 1 June 2020, to pre-empt the trend of increasing local transmission of COVID-19. This has impacted the 

Company’s operations in respect of resource allocation across the Company to support the emergency/ad-hoc facilities 

set-up for COVID-19. As the COVID-19 situation is still evolving, the Company shall continuously monitor its resource 

allocation. The Company will also assess the impact of COVID-19 in conjunction with Government reliefs and through 

discussions with MOH on its government grants. Consequently, the full impact of COVID-19 cannot be ascertained at the 

date of this report. 

 
25. Comparative figures 
 
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 were audited by another firm of Chartered Public 

Accountants. 

 
26. Events occurring after the reporting period 
 
The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 

resolution of the directors on 31 Aug 2020. 
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APPENDIX 

In compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public Character, the annual 

remuneration of the Company’s three highest paid staff who each received remuneration exceeding $100,000, in the 

following bands in the year are as follows:  

 
None of these three highest paid staff serves as a governing board member of the charity. 
 
There is no paid staff, being a close member of the family belonging to the Executive Head or a governing board member 

of the charity, who has received remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial year. 

 
  2020 2019 

Number of personnel in bands:    

    

- $200,001 to $300,000  1 – 

- $300,001 to $400,000  1 3 

- $400,001 to $500,000  1 – 

 
SERI Board Meeting 

The SERI Board Meeting were held twice every financial year. 

Details of the meetings:  

1st SERI Board Meeting on 4 March 2020, 6pm at 
 AC 6-3 Meeting Room at Academia 

 2nd SERI Board Meeting on 31 August 2020, 6pm via 
Zoom 

 Present  Absent with Apologies   Present  Absent with Apologies 

Prof Wong Tien Yin   Prof Wong Tien Yin  

Prof Ang Chong Lye   Prof Ang Chong Lye  

Prof Chong Yap Seng   Prof Chong Yap Seng  

Prof Wang Linfa   Prof Wang Linfa  

Dr Geh Min   Dr Geh Min  

A/Prof Vernon Lee   A/Prof Vernon Lee  

Ms Ooi Chee Kar   Ms Ooi Chee Kar  

Prof Lim Tock Han   Prof James Best  

Prof James Best   Prof Thomas Coffman  

Prof Thomas Coffman   Prof Tan Sze Wee  

Prof Tan Sze Wee   Dr Benjamin Seet  

 


